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Chairman’s Statement

BN

The financial year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Year"”)
under review was full of uncertainty and turbulence,
ignited by the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
outbreak and severed by geopolitical upheavals between
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC” or “China"”)
and the United States of America (the "US”). Business
activities and many aspects of life are affected by
lockdowns and social distancing, travel restrictions and
other measures to contain the pandemic. The rising US-
China confrontation has casted obstacles to the continue
free flows of capital, technology, and business.

With operations in multiple locations and global business
connections, Chinlink International Holdings Limited
(the “Company” or “Chinlink”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively refined to as the “Group”) have been hit
in various degrees across various business segments.
Our investment property business in Xi‘an was the
first to suffer. Daminggong Construction Materials and
Furniture Shopping Centre (Dongsanhuan Branch)* (the
“Commercial Complex”) reported losses in incomes
due to rental concessions to compensate for the
tenants’ decline of business during the early lockdown
period because of the COVID-19 outbreak. The pre-sale
campaign of the phase two development (the “Phase Two
Development”) of the Commercial Complex was delayed
as construction works were suspended in early 2020 to
comply with social distancing requirement. Incomes from
the new office and commercial building, the Chinlink
International Centre (the “CIC”), was much less than
expected, because new tenants could not move in on
schedule under the lockdown period.

Some of the innovation projects with the Group’s
overseas partners were on hold partly because of the
travel restrictions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, but
it has more to do with the sensitivity around technology
exchange and cross border investment between China
and the US. Our plan to set up an artificial intelligence
(“Al") innovation centre in Xi‘an with our strategic partner
from the OneValley (previously known as GSVlabs) from
the Silicon Valley in US was postponed because of the
sensitivity around Al technology.

* For identification purpose only
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Fortunately, the Group’s China onshore financial services
were not adversely affected. At the same time, the
performance of financial advisory and asset management
managed by MCM Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively “MCM Group”) reached new high, attributed
to the persistent hard works of the MCM Group's
colleagues and the Hong Kong's booming capital market.
We are especially grateful to the management team of
the MCM Group who had demonstrated their professional
acumen in grabbing the opportunity created by the
large funding needs of the fast-growing technology
companies in China and Asia, and the immense amount
of offshore capital searching for investment deals in this
growing market. With the established financial, legal, and
accounting infrastructures, and its financing flexibility and
availability of offshore capital, Hong Kong remains as an
undisputed Asian financial hub. The escalating US-China
confrontation instead further cements Hong Kong as
the first fund raising destination for Chinese enterprises.
Being a licensed operation in Hong Kong, MCM Group
stands to benefit.

It is clear to us that the Group should continue to pursue
the innovative ecosystem powered by capital, technology,
and entrepreneurship, among which capital is the key
driver. Our focus moving forward will be more emphasis
on expanding the scope of the financial services, both in
terms of product offerings and market coverage.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

BN

As said, we were very successful in the Year in the
advisory of private placements and merger and acquisition
transactions, targeting later growth stage private
technology and new economy enterprises in Asia and
China in particular. We will direct more resources on asset
management and wealth management to strengthen the
recurrent income bases. Many private equity fund projects
are on the pipeline through partnership with international
reputable fund managers and industry specialists. A few of
them should be launched in the coming months.

Over the years the Group has built up a sizable portfolio
of investment properties in Xi‘an and Hanzhong of Shaanxi
Province. We have enjoyed substantial capital gains
from the investment properties which also contributed
significantly to the Group’s net asset value. However, the
financial costs related to these properties are relatively
high whereas the current market situation does not allow
us to refinance the related debts at lower rates. We will
continue to explore other financing or disposal alternatives
to release liquidity to the Group. The development of the
Phase Two Development is on full stream and will be on
the pre-sale market by third quarter of 2021. This will be
a cash cow for the Group in the coming few years and
will improve the Group’s debt position. We are planning
to work with the Hanzhong Municipal Government to
restructure the logistics park project located at Hantai
District, Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC
("Chinlink ¢ Worldport”) with the aim to monetise part
of our investment. No agreement has been entered at this

stage.
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Again, we emphasis the Group’s business positioning is
to build an innovation and financial ecosystem, through
integrating global innovation and capital resources. As
such, we are pursuing an asset light business approach,
with a view to liquidate the asset heavy property portfolio

as opportunity arises.

At the time of writing, the world is still to various degrees
under the threat of the COVID-19 pandemic. Although
Hong Kong and China have recorded only very few new
cases, we must stay vigilant. We understand all our staffs
and their families have experienced lots of anxiety and
stress for almost two years. But we have confidence that
things will soon be over and before that, please stay
healthy and positive!

Li Weibin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Financial Highlights
4 25 fivi 2
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Financial Summary

4 5 1

For the year ended 31 March 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HESA=1-BLEE Sl Z5I%% 2y |2 3-)\& “E-tE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEn Thn TEn TiEn
(note 2)
(fz£2)
Continuing operations: FETERE!
Revenue KA 223,678 425,498 1,717,718 1,257,726 518,834
Gross profit £ 155,940 144,700 183,661 147,203 93,636
(Loss) profit before taxation R (518) &7 (146,712) (79,262) 61,630 (5.461) 53,303
Income tax (charge) credit FifH (%) % (15,467) (39,774) (52,285) (23,665) (28,479)
(Loss) profit for the year BEE (B8) &7 (162,179) (119,036) 9,345 (29,126) 24,824
Discontinued operation: BALIEEEH
(Loss) profit for the year, KEE (F8) &F
net of income tax HRFARH - (11,830 7811 - -
(Loss) profit for the year from continuing and KEERERBALLELEEZ
discontinued operations REE (1) &F (162,179) (130,866) 17,156 (29,126) 24,824
(Loss) profit before FetEREGRZ
non-controlling interests (18) H (162,179) (130,866) 17,156 (29,126) 24,824
Non-controlling interests R 16,674 (806) (1,731) 48,751 23487
(Loss) profit attributable to KATEEA
owners of the Company Feth (5518) 7 (178,853) (130,060) 18,887 (1787 1337
Dividends paid BikfIRE - - - - -
(note 1) (note 2)
(K1) (z£2)
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share ~ REHHLEEK 2 EREL
from continuing operations REE (58 BA HK(57.86) cent Bl HK(0.76) cent Bl HK1.03cent Bl HK(11.44) cont Bl HK0.42 cent
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share ~ FEBRILEEEE 2 ERES
from discontinued operation R (55) BA - HKB73)cent AL HKO35 cent EL - -
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share ~ FEFELERERLLEER
from continuing and discontinued ZERELSREE (558 BA
operation HK(57.86) cent 3l HK(44.49) cent Bl HK138cent Bl HK(11.4d)cent B4 HK0.42 cent Al

Note 1:The comparative loss per share has been restated as if Bzt - BRIEREBEESEY MU A FEEBMNA
the effect of share consolidation and right issue adjusted BENSEEROEHRERERILRE
retrospectively during the current year have been affected R B
at the beginning of the comparative year.

Mtezz BE_Z-—NF=ZA=+—HLYEEE
ZHEBEGREEY BURBEE_T
EFEZRB=+—HUEYBREFE (E£) B2
RIEREBZXBFENBE_T—NE=R
=+ —HIEMBFEERBREIEEZE-

Note 2:The comparative statement of profit or loss for the
financial year ended 31 March 2019 has been restated as
if the operations discontinued during the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 (the "“Previous Year”) had been
discontinued at the beginning of the financial year ended
31 March 2019.
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Financial Summary

4 5 1 2

At 31 March 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RZA=+-H Z5z- e 3 “5-nE “E-\E “5-tE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

T TEn i TiEn Tin

Non-current assets FrBEE 4,674,276 4,172,644 4,295,830 4,080,508 2,875,043
Current assets THEE 609,951 518,479 922,224 1,071,446 704,081
Bank balances and cash FiTEERAE 29,165 25,382 83,138 193,082 95,988
Current liabilities ek 1,843,594 1,868,679 1,891,028 1,183,206 1,103,149
Net current (liabilities) assets e (AR BESE (1,233,643) (1,350,200) (968,804) (111,760) (399,068)
Non-current liabilities FrBAR 1,266,939 1,061,048 1,241,310 2,117,319 911,028
Net assets EEFE 2,173,694 1761,39% 2,085,716 1851429 1,564,947
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year under review, the COVID-19 pandemic
continued to cause severe disruption on business and
social activities around the globe driving the world
economy into a severe recession. According to the
International Monetary Fund’s latest World Economic
Outlook, April 2021, the pandemic recession is the
deepest since the end of World War Il, with a 3.5%
output contraction in 2020, which represents a 7.0% loss
relative to the International Monetary Fund’s 3.4% growth
forecast back in October 2019. On the other hand, the
swift and strict lockdown of China on a national scale at
the beginning of the COVID-19 outbreak resulted in China
as the only major economy to register growth in 2020. But
the Hong Kong economy is not immune to the COVID-19
induced disruptions. The aftermath of the social unrest in
2019, coupled with the stringent travel restrictions and
social distancing measures to contain the outbreak of
COVID-19, heavily affected the local consumer and retail
businesses. Irrespective of the complex environment, Hong
Kong still enjoys its advantage as a regional financial
centre for international capital searching for opportunities
to invest in this region, particularly in China. In 2020,
Hong Kong retained as one of the best-performing

markets for capital raising globally.

The Group’s principal revenue sources are from financial
advisory services conducted both in Hong Kong and Xi'an,
and investment properties located in Xi‘an during the Year.
Operating through different subsidiaries, each of them was
affected by the pandemic and its economic consequences

to various extents.

5 BHLJ o i B o B
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o PR o i e o B

Total revenue from continuing operations of HK$223.7
million represented a drop of 47.4% compared with the
Previous Year. The decline in total revenue was mainly
due to the suspension of the international trading
business. The Group did not register any income from the
international trading business in the Year. The international
trading of critical electronics components business was
the largest revenue generator of the Group in the past
years. Yet because of the unsettled trade and technology
tensions between the US and China, and during the global
COVID-19 crisis in particular, the market becomes highly
volatile and unstable, the Group hence decided to suspend

the international trading business for the time being.

The performance of the Group’s licensed alternative
finance businesses in China, which currently comprise
financial guarantee and factoring, remained stable.
Due to our consistent and stringent credit policy, the
Group had not experienced any significant change in the
overall portfolio quality despite the challenging business
environment. The portfolios of these financial services and
the results of these two businesses maintained at a modest
level. On 17 December 2019, the Group disposed 37.5%
of the equity interest (the “Disposal”) of Chinlink Finance
Lease Company Limited* (“Finance Lease Company”).
As a result, the Group now only holds 25.0% equity
interest of the Finance Lease Company. Therefore, the
result of the Finance Lease Company for the Year was

recorded as share of profit of an associate.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Regardless of the challenging global economic and
geopolitical environment, Hong Kong still upholds
its financial centre status of the region and China, in
particular. International capital influx continues to pursuit
investment opportunities, especially in the technology and
innovation areas. The continuous robust growth of the
financial advisory services business operated under MCM
Group is a good illustration. It recorded a 351.6% growth
in the total revenue compared with Previous Year and
had made a significant revenue contribution to the Group
in the Year. MCM Group’s businesses include financial
advisory and asset management licensed under types 1,
2, 4 and 9, and regulated by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong.

The COVID-19 pandemic imposed some negative impacts
on the Group, in particular, property investment business
during the Year. However, as most of the existing tenancies
of the Commercial Complex were due to renew at the
beginning of the Year, highly attractive terms were
provided to retain the tenants during the Year. As a result,
the income from the Commercial Complex dropped quite
substantially, still the occupancy rate showed an increase
to 96.0% during the Year. The COVID-19 pandemic had
also deferred the tenants’ move-in time of the CIC. CIC
started to record rental and management fee income
from April 2020 onwards, which compensated part of the
revenue drop of the Commercial Complex. Overall, the
property investment business segment recorded a slight
decrease of 2.3% in revenue this Year.

5 BHLJ o i B o B
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o PR o i e o B

Segmental Performance
Property Investment Business

The property investment business recorded a total of
HK$97.1 million revenue in the Year which showed a
drop of 2.3% compared with the Previous Year. The
revenue of the property investment business comprised
HK$9.2 million from CIC and HK$87.9 million from the
Commercial Complex. The Commercial Complex recorded
a significant drop of 11.5% in revenue compared with
Previous Year due to the disturbance of COVID-19
pandemic. The Commercial Complex had implemented a
series of incentives, including short term rental allowance
and a rent-free programme for tenancy renewal to retain
the tenants. As a result, the average occupancy rate
recorded 96.0% during the Year compared with 92.6% in
the Previous Year, which showed that the relief measures
were effective in tenants retention. CIC, a new revenue
source of the Group, commenced contribution from the
first quarter of the Year, and about 90.0% of its lettable
area was entered into tenancy agreements as of 31
March 2021. As the tenants gradually moved in, CIC will
generate more stable income for the segment in the times

ahead.

DERIR

REFE NPEREBEEZRB R & H
97,100,000 70 REF TE2.3% 2K
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#99,200,00078 7t K 7 2= K18 HY87,900,000
BT -ZHMTBMABENFE mEAEDN
WRBEFEARBTIEI1.5% HEKRNEES
M— R 5B > B15FE 85 AHE S 2
KerhEfRR M Rt 2 e BHEE o ALk
REEFHHBEERES6.0% > MEFLAH
92.6% BTMEBLEFRBHEBENIREMEE
ZEGFSERPLESFEE—=ERA
AREEEMMNBRARR HEZT - —
F=ZA=1+—H>B5490.0% 2] HHEE
BRI ERZE - BEERERWAR ZE
REEEPLERREAZOBELETLE
EBIUA ©

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ 4 B B FERE A B A 5] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Advisory Services Business

For the Year, MCM Group recorded HK$87.1 million in
commission and management fees income across its core
activities of financial advisory and asset management,
representing an over 351.6% income growth against
the Previous Year's. On a net income basis, MCM Group
grew over 231.0% when compared to the Previous Year.
Through the last quarter of 2020 and into 2021, MCM
Group has continued to capitalise on its investments, the
performance in terms of revenues, profit and transaction
volumes are the best since inception; Palantir Technologies
Inc., a software company that specialises in big data
analytics, a client of which MCM Group did extensive work
and investments into, went public in the third quarter
of 2020 and generated a successful return of over 5
times to early-stage investors, making it as one of MCM
Group’s most successful pre-initial public offering (“IPO")
projects in years. Furthermore, MCM Group completed a
series of landmark advisory roles and placements, MCM
Group continues to see momentum building into the year
ahead, with over USD100 million in transaction volume
during the first quarter of 2021, even within quite volatile
equity markets and investor sentiment, and in line with
the previous quarters, leaving MCM Group with optimism

around the outlook for the 2021 full year results.
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In MCM Investment Partners Limited (“MCMIP"), the
asset management arm of MCM Group, its assets under
management averaged around USD60 million, with growth
in several of its existing co-investment private venture
funds. Being highlighted in 2020/2021 interim results,
the underlying investment of the funds had continued
the progress towards exits, with one of the funds under
advisory having a significant holding in Grab Holdings
Inc., the Singapore mobility/superapp unicorn that
announced its plans to list this summer through a special
purpose acquisition company (“SPAC") merger with
Altimeter Growth Corp., creating significant earnings in
performance fees related to the original investment. Some
of its latest stage investments are expected to benefit
from potential listings in the coming quarters. Its earlier
venture investments have weathered the challenges of
COVID-19 well, with excellent prospects for their growth
as the economy recovers. MCMIP has also launched a fund
focused on the metals and mining sector in partnership
with Emerging Markets Capital (“EMC"), a Hong Kong-
based private investment boutique with unparalleled
experience in this dynamic sector. The MCM Metal
Ventures Fund had already made its first investments, one
expected already to IPO in the Toronto Stock Exchange by
this summer and a significant rise in value as compared
to the initial investment cost. A second closing for this
fund is expected in the next quarter. As mentioned in the
2020/2021 interim results, MCMIP is finalising details to
sign a co-investment management agreement to launch
a joint fund focused on private equity investments in
the Greater Bay Area. MCMIP hopes this model of fund
partnerships can be replicated with other partners in the

region and internationally.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Guarantee Services Business

For the Year, the Group generated HK$17.9 million in
revenue from the financial guarantee services. It showed
a slight drop of 10.6% compared with the Previous Year.
The total outstanding guarantee amount decreased to
RMB313.6 million as of 31 March 2021 (Previous Year:
RMB443.3 million), primarily because of the unstable
credit environment during the Year. Consistent with our
high standard risk management practice, there was no

material bad debt loss during the Year.

International Trading Business

The Group’s international trading business principally
deals with electronic components for use in smartphone
and data storage. Owing to the continuous trade and
technology disputes between China and the US, and the
ongoing global economic disturbances caused by the
COVID-19, demand for such components has substantially
shrunken. The Group has adopted a cautious approach for
trading this product category by temporarily suspending
this business segment. Hence the Group recorded no

income from international trading during the Year.

Logistics and Other Services Businesses

Logistics and other services businesses comprised provision
of logistics services and administrative services. During the
Year, this segment recorded services income of HK$1.2
million (Previous Year: HK$12,000).

Discontinued Operation — Finance Lease Services Business

After the Disposal, the result of the Finance Lease
Company for the Year was recorded as share of profit of
an associate.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Profitability Analysis

For the Year, the Group's revenue from continuing
operations was HK$223.7 million, reflecting a significant
decrease of 47.4 % from HK$425.5 million in the Previous
Year. Revenue contribution by segments comprised of:
property investment of HK$97.1 million (2020: HK$99.4
million), financial advisory services of HK$87.1 million
(2020: HK$19.3 million), financial guarantee services of
HK$17.9 million (2020: HK$20.0 million), logistics and
other services of HK$1.2 million (2020: HK$12,000) and
other revenue of HK$20.5 million (2020: HK$19.4 million).
No revenue was recorded from international trading
business for the Year (2020: HK$267.5 million).

Gross profit for the Year increased gently to HK$155.9
million, up 7.7 % from HK$144.7 million in the Previous
Year. Gross profit margin increased significantly to 69.7%

from 34.0% in the Previous Year.

The decrease in revenue from continuing operations
was mainly due to significant drop in revenue from
international trading business but partially offset by the
significant increase in revenue from financial advisory
business. Since the gross profit margin of financial advisory
business is much higher than that of international trading
business, the decrease in gross profit from international
trading business and property investment business was
fully compensated by the increase in gross profit from
financial advisory business. As a result, both the overall

gross profit and overall gross profit margin increased.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income, gains and losses recorded a loss of HK$17.5
million (2020: a gain of HK$14.0 million) for the Year,
mainly attributable to exchange loss arising from the
appreciation of Renminbi ("RMB") against Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") during the Year but partially offset by (i)
interest income from bank deposits; and (ii) government
subsidy under Employment Support Scheme etc. During
Previous Year, the gain comprised of (i) gain on non-
substantial modification of financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost; (ii) interest income from bank deposits;
(iii) gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; and (iv) foreign exchange gain from
depreciation of United States dollars (“USD") against
HK$ which resulted in decrease in financial liabilities
denominated in USD, but partially offset by the exchange
loss arising from the depreciation of RMB against HK$.

During the Year, the Group disposed certain subsidiaries
engaging in property holding and interior decoration in
Hong Kong with significant accumulated losses and net
liabilities. Gain from disposal of subsidiaries of HK$15.9
million was recorded (Previous Year: Nil) for the Year as the
consideration was higher than the net assets/liabilities of
these subsidiaries.

Gain on fair value change of investment properties
amounted to HK$51.4 million (2020: HK$146.6 million)
for the Year. It was mainly attributable to a fair value
change of the Commercial Complex, the CIC and the
Chinlink e Worldport. Such gain decreased significantly
because real estate market in China was adversely affected
by the COVID-19 pandemic. The overall momentum of the
real estate prices in Xi'an City and Hanzhong City in the
PRC weakened as compared to the past few years.
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o PR o i e o B

During the Year, share of profit of an associate amounted
to HK$9.7 million (2020: HK$0.9 million) contributed
by Finance Lease Company which the Group owns 25%
equity interests after the Disposal completed in Previous
Year. In Previous Year, the financial results of the Finance
Lease Company before the completion of Disposal were
recorded as loss from discontinued operations (including
loss on Disposal) amounting to HK$11.8 million.

Administrative expenses from continuing operations,
mainly comprised staff costs, travelling expenses,
depreciation, legal and professional fee amounted to
HK$103.0 million for the Year, representing a decrease
of HK$21.1 million as compared with HK$124.1 million
of the Previous Year. The decrease was mainly due to
reduction of staff costs as a result of the disposal of
certain subsidiaries and significant decrease in legal and
professional fee as in the Previous Year certain non-
recurring complex financing activities of the Group were
done.

Finance costs from continuing operations amounted to
HK$250.0 million for the Year, representing an increase of
HK$13.7 million as compared with HK$236.3 million in the
Previous Year. Finance costs for the Year mainly incurred
from (i) a two-year credit facility of USD48.7 million
obtained in the Previous Year; (ii) the 13.0% coupon
bonds with principal amount of USD30.0 million issued in
the Previous Year; (iii) the 6.5% Coupon Bonds (as defined
below); (iv) imputed interest arose from non-interest
bearing loan borrowed from related companies and an
independent third party; (v) bank loan from ChangAn Bank
with principal of RMB400 million obtained in the Previous
Year; and (vi) interest related to the fixed return on capital
injection (which was made in August 2018) by a non-
controlling shareholder of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In respect of goodwill arising from the acquisition of MCM
Group, as significant improvement in financial results was
recorded by MCM Group during the Year and its prospects
as mentioned under the section headed "“Prospects” in
this annual report, no further impairment on goodwill
was made (2020: HK$15.3 million was made). Due to the
uncertain investment outlook of the global capital market,
impacted by US-China trade tensions and the adverse
impact of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group will closely
monitor the development and prospect of this business

segment.

For the Year, the Group recorded a loss of HK$162.2
million (2020: HK$130.9 million) mainly due to (i) a
significant decrease in gain on fair value change of
investment properties; (ii) the temporary suspension of
international trading business; (iii) exchange loss arising
from the appreciation of RMB against HK$; and (iv) an
increase in finance costs, but partially compensated by
(i) the contribution from financial advisory business; (ii)
decrease in administrative expenses; and (iii) gain on
disposal of subsidiaries.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the bank balances and cash and
pledged bank deposits amounted to HK$236.8 million in
total, representing a decrease of HK$37.5 million from
HK$274.3 million in the Previous Year. The decrease was
mainly due to the fund being utilised for expansion of
financing business and repayment of bank and other

borrowings during the Year.
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As at 31 March 2021, the bank and other borrowings of
the Group which were mainly denominated in HK$, RMB
and USD amounted to HK$1,549.3 million (31 March
2020: HK$1,460.7 million), representing an increase of
HK$88.6 million from that of 31 March 2020, of which
HK$942.5 million and HK$606.8 million were repayable

within one year and two to five years respectively.

Details of the significant financing activities completed
during the Year (some of which had imposed specific
performance obligations on the controlling shareholder
of the Company which were subject to announcement
disclosure under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules and
requirements of disclosure in annual reports under Rule

13.21 of the Listing Rules) were as follows:

9.0% Coupon Bonds

9.0% coupon bonds (“9.0% Coupon Bonds”) issued
on 25 July 2017 with aggregate principal amount of
HK$100.0 million, unsecured, repayable on 25 July 2020
(as amended by the deed of amendment dated 25 July
2019) and interest bearing at 9.0% per annum, was
fully repaid during the Year. Pursuant to the terms of the
instrument of the 9.0% Coupon Bonds, Mr. Li Weibin
(“Mr. Li") (the ultimate controlling shareholder and an
executive Director of the Company) and his associates shall
not cease to own, directly or indirectly, at least 51% of the
beneficial interest in the Company carrying at least 51%
of the voting right, failing which the 9.0% Coupon Bonds

shall be immediately redeemable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

6.5% Coupon Bonds

6.5% coupon bonds (the “First 6.5% Coupon Bonds")
with aggregate principal amount of HK$200.0 million
were issued in four tranches on 7 August 2019, 8 August
2019, 19 August 2019 and 6 September 2019. The First
6.5% Coupon Bonds are secured by the equity interests
of certain subsidiaries, repayable on the day falling on
the first anniversary of the issue dates, interest bearing
at 6.5% per annum and guaranteed by Mr. Li. During
the year, the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds were matured, of
which HK$41.5 million were redeemed by the Company
and the remaining principal of HK$158.5 million which
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2021 were extended
for one year pursuant to the deed of amendment dated 6
August 2020.

On 23 July 2020, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent to issue another 6.5%
coupon bonds ((the “Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds”),
with the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds, collectively the
“6.5% Coupon Bonds”) with principal amount of up to
HK$100.0 million, under best effort basis. The Second
6.5% Coupon Bonds are secured by the equity interest
of a subsidiary, repayable on the day falling on the first
anniversary of the issue date, interest bearing at 6.5%
per annum and guaranteed by Mr. Li. As at 31 March
2021, the Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds with principal
of HK$66.5 million were issued on 23 July 2020 and
the proceeds were used for refinancing the existing
borrowings. Details of the Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
23 July 2020, 4 August 2020, 25 September 2020, 24
November 2020 and 1 March 2021. It is a condition of the
6.5% Coupon Bonds that Mr. Li and his associates shall
not cease to own, directly or indirectly, at least 51% of the
beneficial interest in the Company carrying at least 51%
of the voting right, failing which the 6.5% Coupon Bonds

shall be immediately redeemable.
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Save as disclosed above, the Company has not entered
into any significant loan agreement that imposed specific
performance obligations on the controlling shareholder
of the Company which were subject to announcement
disclosure under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules and
requirements of disclosure in annual reports under Rule
13.21 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recorded net current
liabilities of HK$1,233.6 million (31 March 2020:
HK$1,350.2 million) and the current ratio of the
Group calculated as the Group’s current assets over its
current liabilities was 0.33 (31 March 2020: 0.28). The
improvement in current ratio was mainly due to the
increase in loan receivables which was attributable to the

allocation of resources to financing service business.

Change in Capital Structure

During the Year, the Company conducted a Capital
Reorganisation (as defined below), which included (i) Share
Consolidation (as defined below); (ii) Capital Reduction (as
defined below); (iii) Diminution and Increase (as defined
below). After the Capital Reorganisation, the Company

raised fund by way of Rights Issue (as defined below).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital Reorganisation

On 14 December 2020, the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the "Directors”) of the Company proposed
to implement the share consolidation (“Share
Consolidation”) whereby every 5 issued and unissued
existing shares (with nominal value of HK$0.3125
each) of the Company would be consolidated into 1
consolidated share (with nominal value of HK$1.5625
each) (“Consolidated Share”). Immediately after the
Share Consolidation became effective, the issued share
capital of the Company was reduced by cancelling the
paid-up share capital of the Company to the extent of
HK$1.5525 on each of the then issued Consolidated Share
such that the nominal value of each issued Consolidate
Share was reduced from HK$1.5626 to HK$0.01 (“Capital
Reduction”). The credit arose from the Capital Reduction
of HK$453,829,809 was transferred to the contributed

surplus account.

Upon the Capital Reduction taking effect, all the
authorised but unissued share capital (with nominal value
of HK$1.5625 each) of the Company be cancelled and
forthwith upon such cancellation, the authorised share
capital of the Company be increased to HK$625,000,000
by the creation of such number of additional shares (with
nominal value of HK$0.01 each) as shall be sufficient to
increase the authorised share capital of the Company
to HK$625,000,000 divided into 62,500,000,000 shares
(with nominal value of HK$0.01 each) (“Diminution and

Increase”).

Share Consolidation, Capital Reduction and Diminution
and Increase (collectively, “Capital Reorganisation”)
were approved by the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) at the special general meeting held on
17 February 2021 and became effective on 19 February
2021. Details of the Capital Reorganisation are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 14 December
2020, 8 January 2021 and 17 February 2021 and in the
Company’s circular dated 25 January 2021.
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Rights Issue

On 14 December 2020, the Company announced its
proposal to raise funds by way of rights issue (the “Rights
Issue”) of three rights shares for every one share held by
the qualifying shareholders at the subscription price of
HK$0.38 per rights share (the “Rights Share”). The Rights
Issue was subject to the Capital Reorganisation becoming
effective.

Pursuant to the underwriting agreement dated 14
December 2020 (as supplemented by a supplemental
underwriting agreement dated 8 January 2021),
entered into among Emperor Securities Limited (the
“Underwriter”), the Company, Mr. Li, the chairman and
executive director of the Company and Wealth Keeper
International Limited (“Wealth Keeper”) (a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability, the entire issued share capital of which is wholly
and beneficially owned by Mr. Li), Mr. Li and Wealth
Keeper have irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken
in the underwriting agreement in favour of the Company
and the Underwriter to (i) subscribe for or procure the
subscription for the 40,008,360 Rights Shares to which
Mr. Li is entitled, and 494,857,920 Rights Shares to
which Wealth Keeper is entitled pursuant to the Rights
Issue respectively; and (ii) not to subscribe for any excess
Right Shares under excess applications. Mr. Li has further
undertaken to the Company and the Underwriter that he
will not exercise any of the vested share options which he
is entitled on or before 23 February 2021, which was the
latest time for exercising the vested share options in order
to be qualified for the Rights Issue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The subscription price represents: (i) a discount of
approximately 13.64% to the theoretical closing price of
HK$0.44 per adjusted share (after taking into account the
effect of the Capital Reorganisation) (“Adjusted Share”)
based on the closing price of HK$0.088 per share (before
Capital Reorganisation becomes effective) (“Existing
Share”) as quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 14 December 2020;
(i) a discount of approximately 15.74% to the theoretical
closing price of HK$0.451 per Adjusted Share based on
the average closing price of HK$0.0902 per Existing Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five consecutive
trading days up to and including 14 December 2020;
(iii) a discount of approximately 16.21% to the average
theoretical closing price of approximately HK$0.4535 per
Adjusted Share based on the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.0907 per Existing Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the ten consecutive trading days
up to and including 14 December 2020; (iv) a discount of
approximately 4.58% to the theoretical ex-rights price of
approximately HK$0.3983 per Adjusted Share based on
the benchmark price of HK$0.0906 per Existing Share; (v)
a discount of approximately 93.79% to the net asset value
of the Company of approximately HK$6.11 per Adjusted
Share based on the unaudited net asset value attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1,787.5
million as at 30 September 2020 and 292,321,938
Adjusted Shares assuming the Capital Reorganisation
has become effective; (vi) a theoretical dilution effect (as
defined under Rule 7.27B of the Listing Rules) represented
by a discount of approximately 12.09% of the theoretical
ex-rights price of HK$0.3983 per Adjusted Share to the
benchmarked price of HK$0.0906 per Existing Share; and
(vii) a discount of approximately 1.30% to the closing
price of HK$0.385 per Adjusted Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 24 February 2021, being the latest
practicable date prior to printing the prospectus of the
Rights Issue.
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The Rights Issue was approved by the Shareholders at the
special general meeting held on 17 February 2021 and
completed on 25 March 2021. 876,965,814 new Rights
Shares with total nominal value of approximately HK$8.77
million were issued on the same day. The gross proceeds
and net proceeds from the Rights Issue amounted to
approximately HK$333.3 million and HK$327.6 million
respectively and were used for the repayment of
outstanding debts and borrowings of the Group. The net
price per rights share after deducting the related expenses
of the Rights Issue was approximately HK$0.374. Details
of the Rights Issue are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 14 December 2020, 8 January 2021,
17 February 2021 and 24 March 2021, the Company's
circular dated 25 January 2021 and the Company's
prospectus dated 3 March 2021.

Share Capital

As at 31 March 2020, the authorised share capital
of the Company was HK$625.0 million divided into
2,000,000,000 shares with nominal value of HK$0.3125
each. After the completion of Capital Reorganisation
and as at 31 March 2021, it became HK$625.0 million
divided into 62,500,000,000 shares with nominal value of
HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2020, the issued share capital of
the Company was HK$456.75 million divided into
1,461,609,692 shares with nominal value of HK$0.3125
each. After completion of Capital Reorganisation, it
became HK$2.92 million divided into 292,321,938 shares
with nominal value of HK$0.01 each. After the completion
of Rights Issue, 876,965,814 new Rights Shares with total
nominal value of approximately HK$8.77 million were
issued. As at 31 March 2021, the issued share capital
of the Company was HK$11.69 million divided into
1,169,287,752 shares with nominal value of HK$0.01
each.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2021 was 0.59
(31 March 2020: 0.62) which was calculated based on the
Group's total liabilities of HK$3,110.5 million (31 March
2020: HK$2,929.7 million) and the Group's total assets of
HK$5,284.2 million (31 March 2020: HK$4,691.1 million).
The improvement in the gearing ratio was mainly due
to decrease in debts and borrowings with the use of net
proceeds from the Rights Issue during the Year and the
appreciation of RMB against HK$ as the major assets, for
instance, the investment properties are denominated in
RMB.

Material lending transactions

As part of the normal course of business of the Group, the
Group provided certain financial services to its customers,
which included i) provision of various type of lending, for
instance, factoring loans; entrusted loans; and other loans

etc.; and ii) provision of financial guarantee service.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has total loan
receivables amounting to HK$291.8 million, all of which
are repayable within 1 year from 31 March 2021 with
interest rate ranging from 6.0% to 18.0% per annum.
HK$238.2 million of the loan receivables (“Secured
Loan Receivables”) are generally guaranteed by the
legal representatives, shareholders of the customers,
independent third party individuals and/or independent
third party corporations and certain portion were secured
by trade receivables, the forest felling right owned by
the customer or operating income of the customer and
remaining HK$53.6 million are unsecured (“Unsecured
Loan Receivables”).
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As at 31 March 2021, HK$22.8 million and HK$53.5
million of the Secured Loan Receivables and Unsecured
Loan Receivables respectively were overdue and HK$22.8
million was fully recovered as at the date of this annual
report. Based on the valuation performed by a qualified
valuer, expected credit loss of HK$5.7 million was provided
for the Year.

Under the provision of financial guarantee services, the
Group agreed to guarantee the settlement by its customers
of the obligation under the bank loan agreements
entered into by its customers (as the borrowers) and the
banks (as the lenders). As at 31 March 2021, the total
guarantee sum provided by the Group to the lending
banks amounted to HK$371.0 million. All of the loans
guaranteed by the Group are repayable within 1 year
from 31 March 2021. The guarantee fee and consultancy
fee (in aggregate) charged to its customers are generally
ranging from 2% to 7% of the loan principal per annum.
The guarantee arrangements are generally counter-
guaranteed by the legal representatives, shareholders of
the customers, independent third party individuals, and/
or independent third party corporations. Certain portions
are also secured by i) cash deposits; ii) trade receivables;
iii) real estate properties; iv) operating income; v) the
forest felling right; vi) plant and machinery owned by
the customer; and vii) equity interest of certain PRC
corporations. No underlying bank loan was overdue as at
31 March 2021. Based on the valuation performed by a
qualified valuer, expected credit loss of HK$4.1 million was
provided for the Year.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group's revenue, expenses, major assets and liabilities
were mainly denominated in HK$, RMB and USD. During
the Year, the exchange rate of RMB to HK$ appreciated
slightly. As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Directors considered
that the foreign currency risk of the Group was relatively

low.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Contingent Liabilities and Charge on Assets

Save as disclosed in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 312 of this annual report, the Group
did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had pledged (i) bank
deposits of HK$207.6 million to certain banks as securities
in return for the banks’ provision of loans to the Group's
financial guarantee services customers; (ii) leasehold land
and building with carrying value of HK$23.8 million to
secure obligations under banking facilities; and (iii) certain
investment properties with fair value of HK$3,260.3
million and equity interest of certain subsidiaries to secure
obligation under certain bank and other borrowings, the
6.5% Coupon Bonds and 13.0% Coupon Bonds.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had capital commitments
contracted but not provided for amounting to HK$456.2
million in respect of the development of Chinlink e
Worldport and CIC. Details of the commitments are set
out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 314 of this annual report. The Group will fund
the capital commitments through cash generated from
operations, bank and other borrowings and borrowings
from the controlling shareholder of the Company and
disposal of assets.

Events after the reporting period

After the outbreak of COVID-19 infection in early 2020,
a series of precautionary and control measures have
been and continued to be implemented across many
countries/regions. The Group will pay close attention to
the development of COVID-19 infection and evaluate its
impact on the financial position and operating results
of the Group. Pending development of such subsequent
non-adjusting event, the Group's financial and operating
performance may be affected, the extent to which cannot
be estimated as at the date of this annual report.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no significant subsequent
events after the year end date of 31 March 2021.

Final Dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2020: Nil).

Major Risks

The major risks that may affect the Group's business are

outlined below:

Economic Risk

The Group’s core businesses and properties are located
in Hong Kong and China. As such, the general policies
and politics, and fiscal and monetary policies of the
governments of Hong Kong and China may have a direct
or indirect economic impact on the Group. The Group
closely monitors the economic environment, evaluates the
situation and adjusts its strategy as needed to mitigate

these risks.

Credit Risk

The Group's exposure to credit risk results from trade
debtors and loan receivables arising from the sale of
goods, rendering of services to customers and providing
loans to customers, and the provision of guarantees to
lending banks in favour of customers obtaining loans
provided by the lending banks. The Group has a credit
policy in place and credit risk is monitored on an on-going
basis. Individual credit assessments are carried out to
determine the credit limits and terms which are reviewed

on a regular basis.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity risk by closely monitoring
its current and expected liquidity requirements, ensuring
that there is sufficient liquid cash, committed bank
facilities and/or loans from its controlling shareholder
to meet its funding needs. In addition, the Group

continuously monitors its compliance with loan covenants.

Compliance Risk

The Group recognises the risks of non-compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group conducts on-going
reviews of laws and regulations affecting its operations
and provides relevant training and guidance to staff.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 37 employees in
Hong Kong, 217 employees in China and 1 employee in
the United Kingdom (31 March 2020: 44 employees in
Hong Kong and 246 employees in China and 1 employee
in the United Kingdom). Employees are remunerated based
on their performance and relevant working experiences,
taking into account the prevailing market conditions.
Discretionary performance bonus may be awarded to
employees with reference to the financial performance of
the Group. Other employee benefits include contributions
to mandatory provident funds, medical insurance and
professional development and training.

The Group is dedicated to fostering close working
relationships with customers and suppliers. The
maintenance of good relationship with customers and
suppliers is fundamental to the Group’s operational
performance and ongoing financial success.
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Prospects

The global economic and social landscapes substantially
changed as the world entered the second year of
the COVID-19 pandemic. Countries are becoming
more inward-looking, self-protective and populistic.
Globalisation, long considered to be the best route
to economic prosperity, is beginning to fracture. The
geopolitical situation is becoming so prohibitive for
international business and cooperation. The intense rivalry
between China and the US shows no sign of abating,
despite a change of administration in the US. It seems like
the US is seeking to foster a cold war front with its alliance
to counter the growth of China’s economic and political
powers. With its internal issues exploded into social
unrest in 2019, Hong Kong has become a focal point of
geopolitical conflicts. There are concerns if Hong Kong can
continue to retain its core competence as an international
financial centre.

China has made amazing transformation in the past four
decades. It has become the second largest economy after
the US, and has marked the greatest wealth creation story
in human history by lifting more than 800 million people
from poverty in one to two generations. Moreover, China
is constantly adjusting its development strategy to cope
with the changing external environment. It will strive to
reduce its dependence on other countries in strategically
important areas like energy and technology, to shield itself
from external disruption. The new dual circulation strategy
recently adopted to emphasis domestic consumption is the
engine of growth under the 14th Five-Year Plan for 2021-
2025. China’s vast market, a growing middle class, is a
magnet for foreign capital and investment. The impressive
industrial capabilities and rapid development in science
and technology have made China an indispensable part of
the global supply chain. Hong Kong has long been hailed
as the gateway to China and a regional hub in Asia for its
successes in trading, transportation, logistics, financial and
professional services. It is a worldwide consensus that Asia
will lead the world economic growth in this century, Hong
Kong's importance will not be undermined even under
the current geopolitical situation, especially as a regional
intersection for global capital markets, and China, in
particular, helping the fast-growing technology companies
to raise fund from investors worldwide.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2020, the Stock Exchange was the preferred location
for Chinese companies’ IPO, partly driven by the US hostile
stance against China, ranking as the world’s second-
largest IPO market only behind Nasdag.

MCM Group, the investment banking arm of the Group,
reported an outstanding performance during the Year, to a
great extent attributed to the Hong Kong euphoric market.
The Group holds the view that Hong Kong will play a long-
term pivotal role as Asian economies, with China at the
forefront, continue with their outstanding development
paths. Taking these advantages, the Group will put
more focus on our financial services, with MCM Group
as a Hong Kong-based licensed operations in financial
advisory and asset management through its international
network, supplemented by the alternative financial services
in China backed by strong industry connections and
local government support. MCM Group will continue to
broaden its investor and distribution bases through strong
partnerships both in Asia and abroad with some of the
most recognised ventures, private equities and private
credit funds in Asia, North America and Latin America.

Asset management will be a crucial focus for the Group in
the coming years. With China’s emphasis on technology
self-reliance and sustainable development, many new
investment opportunities arise through our onshore
connections with local governments, research institutes
and start-up incubation. With MCM Group taking the
lead, the Group is working on a few industry-focused or
regional-based venture funds targeted to rollout in the
coming near term. Such business not only provides steady
fund management income but also upscales possibilities
for further funding raising and advisory services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o PR o i e o B

As financial services will be the key driver for the Group's
business growth, we intend to monetarise our investment
property portfolio as much as possible to provide liquidity
for debt reduction and capital to expand the financial

services.

Certain progress has been made to realise cash flow from
the investment properties. The construction of the Phase
Two Development experienced delay due to the COVID-19
pandemic. The original schedule for a pre-sale of the
service apartment was January 2021. However, because
of the pandemic disruption and a new governing policy
regarding property pre-sale, the new schedule for the
commencement of the pre-sale will be in the third quarter
of 2021. The Group expects there will be substantial
sales income from the pre-sale. The Group's new office
and commercial building, the CIC, is officially completed
with the issue of property titles at the end of May 2021.
Almost entire office and retail spaces have been let
and about 60.0% of the tenants have moved in, and a
new and steady cash inflow is secured. Our project in
Hanzhong City, Chinlink e Worldport, has not generated
any income up to this stage. We are working closely with
Hanzhong Municipal Government and planning to set up
a joint venture company in order to liquidate the land and
properties in the Hanzhong project.

By capturing the opportunities afforded by the rise of
China and other Asian economies and Hong Kong's
strategic role as a regional integrator of financial services,
the Group is threshold of converting to a light asset
business model by specialising in financial and innovation
services. The investment property portfolio will remain as a
cash generator and asset back up, with a longer term view

to liquidate as situation allows.
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Weibin (“Mr. Li”), aged 51, joined the Group as
an executive Director since 27 January 2012 and was re-
designated as Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company on 18 February 2012. He is also a director of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li holds
a Bachelor’s degree in Applied Electronics from Xi'an
Technological University and an Executive Master in
Business Administration from Xi‘an Jiaotong University.
Since early 2000, Mr. Li has been engaged in research,
production and sales of electronic components and
materials, computer software and hardware as well as
research and sales of computer related equipment. He
has also been engaged in property development, planning
and sales, management, and other property related
investments, cultural and entertainment businesses. His

businesses are present in Beijing, Xi'an and Hong Kong.

Mr. SIU Wai Yip (“Mr. Siu”), aged 65, joined the Group
as an executive Director since 27 January 2012. He is also
a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Siu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from The University
of Hong Kong. He has over 10 years’ of experience in
banking and financing and previously held executive
positions at various major international banks, with
specialization in trade financing and corporate banking.
Prior to joining the Group, he was appointed as an
executive director of Matsunichi Communication Holdings
Limited (now known as Goldin Properties Holdings Limited,
stock code: 283) from January 2005 to February 2006. He
was an executive director of Vincent Intertrans (Holdings)
Limited (now known as Shanghai Industrial Urban
Development Group Limited, stock code: 563) from July
1998 to May 1999. The shares of these two companies are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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Directors and Senior Management

HAERMBEHNER

Mr. LAU Chi Kit (“Mr. Lau”), aged 76, joined the Group
as an independent non-executive Director since 18
February 2012, and he was re-designated as an executive
Director on 18 September 2013. Mr. Lau retired from The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
("HSBC") in late December 2000 after more than 35
years' of service. Amongst the major positions at HSBC,
he served as Assistant General Manager and Head of
Personal Banking Hong Kong and Assistant General
Manager and Head of Strategic Implementation, Asia-
Pacific Region. Mr. Lau is a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers (the “Institute”). He served as the
Chairman of the Institute’s Executive Committee (from
January 1999 to December 2000) and is currently the
Honorary Advisor of the Institute’s Executive Committee.
He has served as a Member on a number of committees
appointed by the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, including the Advisory Council
on the Environment (from October 1998 to December
2001), the Advisory Committee on Human Resources
Development in the Financial Services Sector (from June
2000 to May 2001), the Corruption Prevention Advisory
Committee of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (from January 2000 to December 2003),
the Environment and Conservation Fund Committee
(from August 2000 to October 2006), the Innovation
and Technology Fund (Environment) Projects Vetting
Committee (from January 2000 to December 2004) and
the Law Reform Commission’s Privacy Sub-committee
(from February 1990 to March 2006). Mr. Lau also served
as a Chairman of Business Environment Council Limited
(from September 1998 to December 2001). Currently, he
is also an independent non-executive director of Royale
Furniture Holdings Limited (stock code: 1198), Leoch
International Technology Limited (stock code: 842) and
Hin Sang Group (International) Holding Co. Ltd. (stock
code: 6893), and was an independent non-executive
director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509) from April 2014 to June 2021, Hang Pin
Living Technology Company Limited (previously known as
Hua Long Jin Kong Company Limited and Highlight China
loT International Limited and Ford Glory Group Holding
Limited, stock code: 1682) from September 2010 to
September 2017 and Janco Holdings Limited (Stock code:
8035) from March 2017 to September 2019. Except for
Janco Holdings Limited with its shares listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, all the shares of
the companies mentioned above are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), aged 82,
joined the Group as an independent non-executive
Director since 17 December 2013. Dr. Ho is a former
member of the Legislative Council (1996-2012), a
former Hong Kong Deputy to the 10th & 11th National
People’s Congress and the past President of the Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers (1987-1988). He holds a
Doctorate in Civil Engineering from City University of
London, United Kingdom; an Honorary Doctorate of Laws
from The University of Manchester, United Kingdom; an
Honorary Doctorate of Business Administration from City
University of Hong Kong; a Bachelor of Science degree
in Engineering from The University of Hong Kong; and a
Postgraduate Diploma in Geotechnical Engineering from
The University of Manchester, United Kingdom. Currently,
Dr. Ho is the Chairman of the Advisory Committee for the
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and LingAo Nuclear
Plant Safety Consultative Committee (2005-present) and
Professional Advisor to The Ombudsman of Hong Kong
(Engineering and Surveying) (1995-2013, 2015-present).
He has served as a Board Member of the Airport Authority
Hong Kong (2008-2014), the former Chairman of the
Hong Kong Trade Development Council Infrastructure
Development Advisory Committee (2009-2013) and the
Founding Council Chairman of City University of Hong
Kong (1992-1994). He is also an independent non-
executive director of GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800), Deson Development International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 262), Fu Shek Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263), AP Rentals Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1496) and Superland Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 368). He was an independent
non-executive director of China State Construction
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3311) from
June 2005 to June 2019. He also acted as the chairman
and a non-executive director of Veson Holdings Limited
(formerly known as SCUD Group Limited) (stock code:
1399) from September 2018 to May 2020 and from
September 2018 to June 2020 respectively. The shares of
these seven companies mentioned above are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

HAERMBEHNER

Ms. LAl Ka Fung, May (“Ms. Lai”), aged 55, joined the
Group as an independent non-executive Director since
18 February 2012. Ms. Lai obtained a Master of Arts in
International Accounting from City University of Hong
Kong in 2001. She has been a Member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999
and is a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2003. She is the sole proprietor of May
K. F. Lai & Co., Certified Public Accountant and has been
engaged in the audit field for more than 20 years. She is
also an independent non-executive director of Emperor
Entertainment Hotel Limited (stock code: 296) and was
an independent non-executive director of Emperor Watch
& Jewellery Limited (stock code: 887) from June 2008 to
May 2017. The shares of these two companies mentioned
above are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. CHAN Sim Ling, Irene (“Ms. Chan”), aged 58,
joined the Group as an independent non-executive
Director since 18 February 2012. She graduated with a
Bachelor of Laws degree from The University of Hong
Kong in 1985. Ms. Chan is a retired solicitor with over
20 years’ of experience serving as an independent
non-executive director of listed companies. She is an
independent non-executive director of Emperor Culture
Group Limited (previously known as See Corporation
Limited, stock code: 491) and Emperor Watch & Jewellery
Limited (stock code: 887). She was also an independent
non-executive director of Emperor Entertainment Hotel
Limited (stock code: 296) from May 1998 to August 2013
and China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited
(formerly known as Evergrande Health Industry Group
Limited and New Media Group Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 708) from November 2013 to March 2015. The
shares of these four companies mentioned above are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. LAM Suk Ling, Shirley (“Ms. Lam"”), aged 54,
joined the Group since 27 January 2012 and is currently
in the role of Chief Financial Officer of the Group. She
was an executive Director and Company Secretary of the
Group from 18 February 2012 to 4 April 2019 and from
27 January 2012 to 4 April 2019 respectively. She holds a
Master in Business Administration from The University of
Adelaide, Australia and a Bachelor of Science degree from
Murdoch University, Western Australia. She is qualified
as a Certified Public Accountant of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Practising
Accountant of CPA Australia. Ms. Lam has over 20 years'
of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management, and also worked for various international
audit firms and listed companies. She is an independent
non-executive director of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1939) and was an executive director
of AMCO United Holding Limited (formerly known as
Jackin International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 630)
from February 2010 to December 2011. The shares of
these two companies mentioned above are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. LAU Wai Har (“Ms. Lau”), aged 52, has been the
legal counsel of the Group since 1 February 2018 and was
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company on
4 April 2019. She holds a Bachelor of Laws degree and
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of
Hong Kong and is a practising solicitor currently serving
as a consultant practicing commercial laws at a well-
known law firm in Hong Kong. Ms. Lau has over 25 years'
of experience in the legal industry and previously held
senior legal positions at major international and local
conglomerates, specializing in telecommunications, media
and technology. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lau was
the in-house lawyer for CSL (a former subsidiary of the
Australian Telstra Corporation), FOX (a subsidiary of US
News Corporation), Hong Kong Productivity Council and
Kader Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 180), a
company whose shares have been listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange ever since 1985.
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Directors and Senior Management

HAERMHBEHAR

Ms. LEE Wing Yan, Joanne (“Ms. Lee"”), aged 45, joined
the Group on 17 October 2011. She is currently the
Corporate Development and Communications Director and
is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, corporate
communications and investor relations. Ms. Lee holds
a Master in Business Administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. She also obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Studies from City University of Hong
Kong and graduated with first class honors. Ms. Lee has
over 10 years’ of marketing and business development
experience in consumer electronics and IT industries. Prior
to joining the Group, Ms. Lee served as a Visiting Fellow
at City University of Hong Kong, Department of Marketing
from July 2008 to October 2011. Her teaching areas
included Strategic Marketing, Relationship Marketing and
Services Marketing.

Mr. MAG Chiu Fai (“Mr. Mag”), aged 47, joined the
Group on 26 March 2012. He is the Financial Controller
and is responsible for the Group's financial management
and accounting matters. Mr. Mag holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and is qualified as a Certified Public Accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and is a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Mag has over 15 years’ experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. He also
worked for two international audit firms. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Mag was a Senior Accounting Manager of
Nan Hai Corporation Limited (stock code: 680), a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from November 2005 to July 2010.
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The Company is dedicated to maintaining good standard
of corporate governance as it believes that corporate
governance practices are fundamental to the smooth
and effective operation of a company and can enhance
shareholders’ value as well as safeguard shareholders’
interests.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all code provisions set out in the Corporate
"CG Code”) in Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing

Governance Code (the

Rules”) on the Stock Exchange for the Year, save as a
deviation disclosed herein.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of
the management of the business and affairs of the Group
with the objective of enhancing shareholders’ value. Major
responsibilities include approving the Company’s overall
business, financial and technical strategies, setting key
performance targets, approving budgets and overseeing
the performance of management.

The Board currently comprises six Directors including three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The number of independent non-executive
Directors represents over one-third of the Board as
required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The list of the
Directors and their biographical details are set out in the
"Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual

report.
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The Board meets regularly four times a year, i.e. at
approximately quarterly intervals. During the Year, the
Board convened a total of four regular meetings and the
attendance of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Attendance Record of the Meetings” of this
report.

For all such meetings, notice of each regular Board
meeting was given to all Directors at least 14 days before
the meeting and all Directors were given the opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion at the
Board meetings. The agenda and meeting materials were
normally sent to all Directors at least three days before the
regular Board meeting to ensure that they had sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company. In
addition to regular Board meetings, the Chairman of
the Board met with non-executive Directors without the
presence of executive Directors.

All Directors have direct access to the company secretary
of the Company who is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance and compliance issues, ensuring
that Board procedures are followed, as well as taking
the minutes of the Board and committee meetings. Such

minutes are open for inspection by the Directors.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business and family relationship among members
of the Board.

Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene,
the independent non-executive Directors, have letters of
appointment with the Company for a specified period of
one year. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, an independent
non-executive Director, has a letter of appointment with
the Company for a fixed term of service for three years.
All of them are subject to retirement and rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Company’'s bye-laws (the “Bye-Laws"”).
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Pursuant to bye-law 87 of the Bye-Laws, at each annual
general meeting of the Company, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. All
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws provides that (i) any director
appointed by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company, and (ii) any director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the following annual general meeting of the
Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election at that

meeting.

The emoluments payable to Directors are determined
by the Board with reference to the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee’s recommendation as well as
the Directors’ duties and responsibilities and the prevailing
market conditions.

The Company has received annual written confirmations
of independence from all independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board considers them to be independent in

accordance with the Listing Rules.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors and the relevant employees. Before the
publication of the Company’s results announcement,
notifications were sent to the Directors and the relevant
employees of the Company to remind them not to be
involved in dealing with the Company’s securities during
the blackout period. Having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code for
the Year.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Mr. Li Weibin is the Chairman and the Managing Director
of the Company.

For the Year, the Company deviated from the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li
Weibin is the Chairman and the Managing Director of the
Company (the Company regards the role of its Managing
Director to be the same as that of chief executive under
the CG Code). The Board considered that the non-
segregation would not result in considerable concentration
of power in one person but has the advantage of a strong
and consistent leadership which is conducive to making
and implementing decisions quickly and consistently.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to
the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company who perform their duties under the leadership
of the Managing Director. The Board has also delegated
specific roles and responsibilities to its committees,
having specific terms of references to define their powers,
authorities, and duties.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the

Company.

The Audit Committee comprises 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May, Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene. Ms.
Lai Ka Fung, May is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
She possesses appropriate professional qualifications in
finance and accounting and meets the requirements of
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. All of the
members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors and none of them are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the risk management and internal
control and financial reporting matters and made
recommendations to the Board. The Audit Committee
meets at least twice a year with management and external
auditor and reviews their reports.

Members of the Audit Committee and the attendance of
members during the Year are set out in the section headed
"Attendance Record of the Meetings” of this report.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings and
performed the following duties:

(@) reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020 and the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2020 with

recommendation to the Board for approval;

(b) reviewed reports on risk management and internal
control systems covering financial, corporate
governance, internal control and operational
functions; and

(0) considered the independent auditor’s independence
and fee in relation to the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020, the unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2020 and non-
audit related services.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the audit and non-audit fees payable/
paid to external auditors was made up of an audit fee of
approximately HK$1.85 million and a non-audit related
service fee of approximately HK$0.43 million. The latter

included taxation service and professional service.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The terms of
reference of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises
3 independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond, Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan
Sim Ling, Irene, and an executive Director, namely Mr. Siu
Wai Yip. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond is the chairman of
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity and
has established a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) considering a range of objective
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualification, experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service and any other factors the Board considers relevant
in alignment with the strategic objectives of the Company
and the environment in which it operates.

Realising the benefits of gender diversity, the Company
targets that the Board will always maintain a female
representation of at least 30% of its composition.

The ultimate decision on Board member appointments will
be based on merits and contributions that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board has maintained a balanced composition in terms
of gender, age, professional qualification, experience, skills
and knowledge. It has performed effectively by providing
sound judgment on strategic issues and effective oversight
of and guidance to management.

Having reviewed the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy and the structure, size and composition of the
Board, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
considered that the measurable objectives of the Board
Diversity Policy had been met.
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The Company has established the Directors’ nomination
policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out the
criteria and process on the selection, nomination and
appointment of Directors. According to the Nomination
Policy, the ultimate responsibility for appointment and re-
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board or
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
in general meeting as the case may be. The Board has
delegated the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
the responsibility to evaluate and assess the optimal
structure, size and composition of the Board, as well
as to assess, select and nominate a suitable candidate
for directorship. In assessing the suitability of the
proposed candidate(s), the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration the candidates’
personal ethics, reputation and integrity, industry or
professional knowledge and experience, skills, expertise,
educational qualifications, background and other relevant
personal attributes, his/her commitment to devoting
sufficient time, interest and attention to the Company's
business, potential and/or actual conflict of interest of the
candidate(s), fulfilment of the independence requirements
for independent non-executive Directors as set out in the
Listing Rules and the diversity objectives as described in
the Board Diversity Policy. If the process yields one or more
desirable candidates, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee will rank them by order of preference based
on the evaluation conducted. After reaching its decision,
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee nominates
the relevant candidate(s) to the Board for approval and
appointment. As said above, any Director appointed by
the Board shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company (in case of filling a casual
vacancy) or until the following annual general meeting
of the Company (in case of an addition to the Board)
and shall be eligible for re-election. The Board will make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Directors at the general meeting.
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Members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

and the attendance of members for the Year are set out in

the section headed “Attendance Record of the Meetings”

of this report.

During the Year, the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee held 1 meeting and performed the following

duties:

(a)

reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, including diversity (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualification, experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service) of the
Board and made recommendations to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

assessed the independence of all independent non-

executive Directors;

reviewed the remuneration packages or fees
(including salary adjustments) of the executive
Directors, the non-executive Director, the
independent non-executive Directors and the senior
management with recommendations to the Board
for approval; and

made recommendations to the Board on the re-

election of Directors.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and members

of senior management of the Company by band for the

Year are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements on page 227 of this annual report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF THE
MEETINGS

Individual attendance of each Director at the Board
meetings, the Audit Committee meetings, the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee meeting, the annual
general meeting (“AGM") and the special general meeting
(“SGM") of the Company held for the Year is as follows:

gEHFER R

MEFEE BUEFELARRNRTZESTE
R BERZECER RAAFINEZES
2 REBFAREG (RRBERE) kK
REHARE (REFUAE)) ZEHHES
MEHWT -

Attendance/Number of meetings

HE/ GERH
Nomination
and
Audit Remuneration
Board Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM SGM
B REREM
Name 2 ESgEE ZREEE ZEEEE RREEXE RREUXE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Li Weibin ZREEE 204 N/A TEA N/A TER 17 1/1
(Chairman and Managing Director) — (E/E # Z F42451%)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip BRLELt 44 N/A FEF 11 11 10
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 28 MmEE 4/4 N/A R EH N/A R H 11 N
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Ms. Fung Sau Mui BAEBLL 1 N/A R N/A R 0N N/A
(resigned on 21 October 2020) (FZEZFF
+AZ+—HEHT)
Independent Non-executive Directors B FEH{TEE
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fAERET 4/4 4/4 11 171 1/1
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May RRBEUL 44 4/4 11 11 10
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene BB Y+ 4/4 4/4 11 11 1/1

DIRECTORS' INDUCTION AND
CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

During the Year, the Company provided regular updates
on the business performance of the Group to the
Directors. The Directors are continually updated on the
latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable statutory requirements to ensure compliance
and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The Company has maintained a training record in order
to assist the Directors to record the training they have
undertaken and they are asked to submit a signed training
record to the Company on annual basis.

During the Year, each individual Director attended training
courses or workshops or was provided with reading
materials relevant to his/her professional and/or duties as
Director. A summary of the training they have received for
the Year is as follows:
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Type of trainings

Name Y4 EENEER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Weibin ZEWM L

(Chairman and Managing Director) (FEFREFIIALEE) B
Mr. Siu Wai Yip BEEELE B
Mr. Lau Chi Kit ZEHEE B
Non-executive Director FEHITEE
Ms. Fung Sau Mui yiby ke g

(resigned on 21 October 2020) (R —E-_ZFFA+HFH-+—HEFT) B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFPITESE
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond EFE = A B
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May RRELT B
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene PR B 1% 20+ B
A attending course/seminars and/or conferences and/or A SINEERBRM I 2RE AN E

forums provided/accredited by professional bodies

B: reading materials relevant to the directors’ duties and B:

responsibilities
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION
The Board is responsible for performing and has performed
the corporate governance duties during the Year which are
set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and

practices on corporate governance;

(b) to review and maintain effective risk management

and internal control systems;

(c) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior

management;

(d) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

(e) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(f) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

The Company has arranged insurance cover to indemnify
Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in
the execution and discharge of their duties or in relation
thereto.

EEAZKEFWETT—FY

(a) FIERBHERADEBEEREGZH
REEH S

(b) WEKEFAMNRBREERANEE
TR

(0 HHAREFEERSBREEEZIE
RSESEEE ;

d) BEKBEREADEBETEREKRE
EREZHREER

() HIE-BMAMERERNEERES
ZaRTARERFM WA ; K

) BT REHEEELTRZEBRE
MRREEERRENFHIIRE-

EFRERBEZEREREBRABE

FABEZHKRBRENBEESEREAR
BB EN AT RETREZHERK
SPELERRIEARZAAEMT - ER A
K HAXKRER-

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ 4 B B FERE A B A 5] | Annual Report 2021 53R



RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
good corporate governance practices and a sound systems
of risk management and internal control as well as for
the review of effectiveness of these systems. To achieve a
more effective control environment, the Company’s risk
management framework is designed to be an integral part
of the Company’s corporate governance framework as
well as strategic and business planning processes, and it
also embeds into each key activity and/or function.

Risk Management

The Company adopts a risk management approach that is
systematic and forward-looking to evaluate and manage
current and emerging risks related to the achievement of
the Company’s strategic and operational objectives.

The risk management framework provides key decision
makers and management team with better understanding
of risks faced by the Group so that potential issues are
flagged before they occur. The benefits of the framework

are:

o To improve business performance and reduce
operational surprises and associated costs or losses;

o To integrate risk management to corporate
governance practices;

o To provide assurance to the Board that significant
risks are being appropriately managed;

o To enhance capability to reach consensus regarding
potential risks and the appropriate responses;

o To define accountabilities and assign roles and
responsibilities; and

o To establish risk awareness across the organization

involving people at every level.
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Risk Management Process e =

The risk management process is a continuous process. BAREER—EEENBR T LT
After the initial assessment, risks are re-evaluated and B RT RN EAMBREG  UEP
updated on an on-going basis to reflect new information B AR R bR S5 R bR AR 2 18 B
and changes to circumstances so that all relevant risks, A ERIE > AEEGFEME TR R
including new ones, are appropriately identified and EHARE L TENEBERAPRHERES
addressed. The steps of an on-going monitoring process ENDER .

are illustrated in the diagram below:
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Establish Context

Risks are to be managed through active collaboration
from all levels within the Group, as such, this step involves
establishing the overall risk management governance
structure which defines the designation and enactment
of responsibility for the risk management process. Roles
and responsibilities are defined at the first time of the risk
management process being initiated, and will be revisited

as required.

Risk Identification

Identification of risks occurs on an on-going basis for
existing processes and on an ad hoc basis as required
when there is any change to existing businesses and
processes such as new services/products and projects, or
to the external environment such as changes in laws and
regulations.

Risk Assessment

The purpose of risk assessment is to determine the risks
which are material and will have an impact on the business
goals and objectives. The judgment on significance and
materiality involves the consideration of likelihood and
impact of the risk. In this stage, the risk rankings of all risk
events will be identified, and all significant risks should be

addressed in the next stage: Risk Response and Action.

Risk Response and Action

Risk response and action plans should be formulated for
each of the significant risk event identified during the risk
assessment stage.
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A risk treatment, being part of the response and action
plans, is to be selected for each significant risk event.

o Acceptance of Risk: No action is taken to reduce
the risk. The risk is accepted.

o Mitigation: The risk is accepted but risk mitigation
controls and action plans will be established to
minimise the negative impacts. The mitigation

should be new measures instead of existing

controls.

o Transfer: Transfer the risk by sharing it with third
parties.

o Avoidance: Adopt risk avoidance measures by

ceasing the activity associated with the risk event.

Reporting

Management will submit risk reports to the Board or its
designated Audit Committee regularly, at least on an
annual basis. Management who owns and manages risks
on a day-to-day basis will, on an annual basis, provide a
confirmation to the Board of Directors on the effectiveness

of the risk management and internal control systems.

On-going Monitoring

The Risk Management Working Group revisits the
Group’s risk exposure regularly and will provide advices
on additional risk mitigation plans accordingly. The
internal audit is an independent monitoring function
responsible for reviews of adequacy and effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems using a risk-
based assessment methodology. Audits will be performed

to evaluate the proper functioning of these systems.
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Risk Management Governance Structure

All personnel in the Group has the responsibility in
maintaining good risk management and internal control
systems. Collectively all personnel in the Group forms the
risk management governance structure which is illustrated

below:

Board of Directors/Audit Committee (Oversight)
BExg #7289 &)
|
Risk Management Working Group
(Advising and Reporting)
R EETIE/NE (BERER)
|

Risk Owners (Own and Manage Risks)
REEFEA (REREERR)

The specific roles and responsibilities of each party
involved are described in details below:

Board of Directors

o Determines the nature and extent of the risks
willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives;

o Through the Audit Committee, oversees the
design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems by the

management;

o Fosters the maintenance of an effective risk
culture and risk management and internal controls

throughout the Group; and

o Being reported on the Group's overall risk exposure,
including the status of any significant current and
emerging exposures and trends, relevant mitigation
strategies and the effectiveness of implementation
of risk management framework.
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Risk Management Working Group

Composes of Directors, c-suite, senior executives
and led by the Managing Director of the Group
(regarded as the same as chief executive), advises
the Board on risk appetite, risk principles and risk
management framework;

Identifies and evaluates significant strategic,
business and process-level risk exposures of the
Group;

Monitors risk responses and mitigation strategies
executed by risk owners and/or their delegates;

Maintains documentation of risks on the risk
register and prepare risk reports for submission to
the Board; and

Represents management to provide a confirmation
to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Risk Owners

Heads of departments and business units,
operational level units and managerial individuals
collectively assume the ownership of risks within
their functional areas and all responsibilities
associated with managing such risks;

Implement risk mitigation measures and internal
control that embed into day-to-day activities; and

Report to the Risk Management Working Group on
any changes or developments regarding risks.

Internal Audit

Independently monitors and reviews the adequacy
and effectiveness of functionality of the risk
management and internal control practices;

Facilitates the Risk Management Working Group
with the risk identification, assessment and
reporting processes; and

Utilises results of risk assessments to compile a risk-
based internal audit coverage plan.
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Internal Control System
Control Environment and Monitoring Activities

The Group’s internal control systems include an
organizational structure with clearly defined delegation of
authority and responsibility. Policies and procedures were
established to govern business operations and internal
controls to be implemented as management intends.
The Group's company secretary, internal and external
legal advisors and other management together oversee
adherence to relevant laws and regulations.

Budgeting and performance measuring criteria were
established by the management for its day-to-day
monitoring of business operations. Heads of departments
and business units regularly meet to review business
performance, the risks associated with their operational
activities and the relevant internal control measures to be
embedded in the processes to mitigate the risks the Group
is facing. The management also regularly prepares monthly
reports to the Board on the Group’s performance.

The Group conducts business based on the principles
of fairness, honesty and integrity and is committed to
the highest level of standards of ethical behavior and
accountability. Its code of conduct sets out the important
principles and expectations of appropriate business
conduct to ensure the compliance of the Group’s
employees with the code. The Group also actively prevents
and takes measures to guard against being used as a
medium for money laundering activities and terrorism
financing activities and any other activity that facilitate
money laundering or the funding of terrorist or criminal
activities by adopting its anti-money laundering and
counter-terrorism financing policy and procedure across
the Group. In addition, the Group's whistleblowing policy
enables a transparent working environment and provides
channels and guideline to all employees the procedures
to disclose any misconduct, malpractice or irregularity of
which they become aware. The Group did not receive any
report of whistleblowing incident during the Year.
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The Company's policy and procedures on disclosure
of inside information provides guidelines in relation to
handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Group to ensure inside information is disseminated to the
public in an equal, timely and effective manner. The policy
outlines the internal procedures for the identification
and reporting of actual or potential inside information,
the obligations of the Group and duties of officers in
accordance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the "SFO"), Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong.
Specifically, inside information is disseminated via the
electronic publication system operated by the Stock
Exchange before the information is released via other
channels, such as the press, wire services or posting
announcements on the Company’s website. As soon as
an employee of the Company becomes aware of actual
or potential inside information, or when any Director,
officer or employee of the Company becomes aware
of any disclosure of non-public inside information or
breach of this policy, he/she must promptly report to his/
her respective departmental in-charge, who will further
communicate with the Group’s company secretary. The
matter will be assessed and the appropriate course of
actions will be determined by the Board. Audit trail of
meetings and discussions concerning the assessment of
inside information will be maintained.

The inside information policy makes specific references to
the SFO, guidelines issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission and the Model Code issued by the Stock
Exchange. It also echoes the code of conduct for how
confidential information or inside information of the
Group should be handled.
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Review of Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal

Control Systems

During the Year, the Audit Committee, with the delegated
authority from the Board, has conducted annual review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group including the relevant
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management procedures. Such systems are designed to
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
failure to achieve business objectives and material

misstatement or loss.

Management has provided confirmation to the Board that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems

are effective.

Based on (i) meetings with executive Directors to discuss
risks and internal controls concerning the Group's
business operations and financial reporting process,
(ii) review of internal audit and external audit reports,
(iii) review of reports on the implementation of the
Group's risk management system, (iv) the monitoring of
significant issues and material internal control defects
through reviews conducted by the internal audit, and
(v) confirmation provided by the management on the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, the Audit Committee concluded that the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are effective. There were no significant control failings,
weaknesses or significant areas of concern identified

during the Year.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and was satisfied with
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the employees of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting

functions.
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Internal Audit Function

The internal audit function’s main responsibilities include
the followings:

(a) to independently review and evaluate the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of risk management
and internal control systems regarding the financial,
compliance and operational performance and
safeguarding of assets;

(b) to facilitate management in identification of risks,
and development of risk mitigation and monitoring
strategies as part of the risk management
framework;

(0) to monitor operational compliance with the Group's

established policies and procedures; and

(d) to provide advices to the management and conduct
special reviews in specific areas concerned by the
management in addition to the planned audit
activities.

The internal audit function carries out assessment based
on the internal audit annual plan approved by the
Audit Committee, and reports to the Audit Committee
periodically on status of implementation of agreed audit
plan and any significant risk exposures and governance

and control issues including fraud risks.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. Save as disclosed in note
1 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 120
to 125 of this annual report, the Board was not aware of
any other events or conditions that might cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern.
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The responsibilities of the auditor to the Shareholders are
set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” from pages
97 to 106 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has established a dividend policy
(“Dividend Policy”) in order to provide guidelines for the
Company to consider its dividend distribution decision.
Under the Dividend Policy, the Company may consider to
declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders provided
that the Group is profitable and without affecting the
normal operations of the Group. In deciding whether
to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, among others,
the following factors:

o The Group's operating results and financial
position;

o Key financial metrics such as liquidity;

o The Group's capital requirements and future

commitments;

o External factors including state of economy and
capital market conditions;

o Taxation considerations;

° Interim dividend paid, if any;

o Interests of the Shareholders;

o Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
J Other factors the Board deems relevant.
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Distribution of dividend shall remain to be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to any
restrictions under Hong Kong Laws, the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (the "Companies Act”) and the Bye-
Laws.

COMPANY SECRETARY

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Lau Wai
Har, the company secretary of the Company, has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the
Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board endeavours to communicate with Shareholders
through annual and other general meetings directly.

The Board is committed to providing clear and full
information of the Group to Shareholders through the
publication of announcements, circulars, interim and
annual reports. Updated information of the Group is also
available to Shareholders through the Company’s website.

Without contradicting with local government’s current
policies or regulations against COVID-19 pandemic
to safeguard community’s health, Shareholders are
encouraged to attend general meetings of the Company
at which Directors are available to answer Shareholders’

questions.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for convening a SGM by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene a SGM. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not
less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
may send a written request to the Board to request for the

convening of the SGM.
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The written requisition, duly signed by the Shareholders
concerned, must state the purposes of the meeting and
must be deposited at the Company's head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suites 5-6,
40/F., One Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central,
Hong Kong or at the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong.

The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned
would be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving
effect thereto in accordance with the requirements under
Section 74 of the Companies Act once a valid requisition is
received.

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at

general meetings

The following Shareholders are entitled to put forward a
proposal (which may properly be put to the meeting) for

consideration at a general meeting of the Company:

(a) any number of members representing not less than
one-twentieth of the total voting rights of the

Company on the date of the requisition; or

(b) not less than 100 members holding shares in the

Company.
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The requisition specifying the proposal, duly signed by the
Shareholders concerned, together with a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred
to in the proposal must be deposited at the Company's
head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suites 5-6, 40/F., One Exchange Square, 8 Connaught
Place, Central, Hong Kong or at the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in
accordance with the requirements under Sections 79 and
80 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda once valid
documents are received.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than
a retiring Director for election as a Director at a general
meeting, the Shareholder should follow the "“Procedures
for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company”, which can be found on the
website of the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing via the following channel:

The Company Secretary

Chinlink International Holdings Limited
Suites 5-6, 40/F., One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

E-mail: nicolelau@chinlinkint.com
Telephone: 2126 6333

Facsimile: 2126 6399

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the Company's
constitutional documents during the Year.

HINEEULBERARBEEASETEZHRE
ﬁTy&1mm%zﬁ%Lﬁﬁm$EZ§
HEXRARAZEREREREBTES
EME MU AT EPIRBLESRIRIS
[E15 1 EE40185-6F) WAAR 2 B BKRHD B
FERDESEZESRAR MiUtAES
ERABEISIFAEMAPL541E) c —BIFE

BUXH  RRABEBREERE—NLN\—%F
NEEFIIRSOEZRERNEE T &
EEMEBEZH MBERKREREESZ AL

EEZEMEMR-

WMREBPERRAT LIRERBREEE U
ZANT2IEESR AIRRABEAATHEILG
el TRERAALT2EARNBTESTHIE
FFliTs o

EIIRRAEFSHFLERAZER

KRERADERUEEDAEBUTREDSE
FERUEHREF

ZEPEEEZERBRAE
NEIME

BEARIR

[5R 44 & 35857

R 5 B 1 BEA0E5-6=

E TS ‘nicolelau@chinlinkint.com
BE5E 0 2126 6333

fEH 2126 6399

RERTFARERTDRRAG LAEFEF
HEH

REEME
REEER AR ZESEXHHEEASR
& o

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ 4 B B FERE A B A 5] | Annual Report 2021 53R



The Directors present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 52 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries during the Year are set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from pages 107 to 109 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend (2020: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis from pages 11 to 36 of this annual report.

ANALYSIS OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The sales to the top five customers for the Year amounted
to HK$65.0 million and accounted for less than 30.0%
of the Group's total revenue, representing a decrease
of 76.8% from HK$279.9 million for the year ended 31
March 2020.
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Of the top five customers in the Previous Year, three
were from continuing operations representing 62.9% of
the total revenue and two from discontinued operation
representing 43.8% of the revenue of that discontinued
operation. The largest customer in the Previous Year
accounted for approximately 41.7% of total revenue from
continuing operations for the year ended 31 March 2020
which was from international trading segment. Three out
of the top five customers in the Previous Year were located
in Hong Kong and two were located in the PRC.

The purchases from the top five suppliers for the Year
amounted to HK$28.9 million, representing a decrease
of 88.3% from HK$247.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2020.

The top five suppliers in the Year represented
approximately 42.7% of the total purchases as compared
to approximately 88.0% for the year ended 31 March
2020 (all of the top five suppliers in the Previous Year was
from continuing operations). The largest supplier in the
Year which was from financial advisory services segment
accounted for approximately 34.5% of the total purchases
in the Year as compared to the largest supplier in last
year of approximately 86.4% of total purchases for the
year ended 31 March 2020 which was from international
trading segment. Three out of the top five suppliers in the
Year are located in Hong Kong and the other two suppliers
are located in the PRC and Malaysia respectively (2020: all
the top five suppliers were located in Hong Kong).

None of the Directors and their close associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had any interest in the abovementioned major
customers and suppliers.
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Maintaining good relationships with customers and
suppliers is fundamental to the Group’s operations and
success. The Group is keen to foster a satisfactory and
balanced demand and supply and maintains close relations

with its customers and suppliers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company
are set out in the section headed “Major Risks” in the
Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 11 to
36 of this annual report and notes 4, 48 and 49 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

A separate environmental, social and governance report
complying with the disclosure requirements under
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules will be published by
the Company separately, in any event no later than three
months after the publication of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year, together with the reasons therefor are set
out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has no reserves available for distribution to
the Shareholders as at 31 March 2021.
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Under the Companies Act, the contributed surplus account
of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay

its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its

issued share capital and share premium account.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this

report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Weibin
Mr. Siu Wai Yip
Mr. Lau Chi Kit

Non-executive Director

Ms. Fung Sau Mui
(resigned on 21 October 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Siu
Wai Yip and Mr. Lau Chi Kit shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. Being eligible, the abovementioned Directors
shall offer themselves for re-election.
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The directors who have served on the boards of the

subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to the

date of this report were:

Mr. Li Weibin
FEMLE

Mr. Huang Xin Yue
=ITIRAEE

Ms. Guo Li Na
LWL

Mr. Wang Hong Li
FRIFTE

Mr. Dong Wen Bin
BEXWEE

Ms. Zhang Yu Mo
SREARZ L

Mr. Zhou Aimin
BERSLE

Ms. Gao Ya Qing
=R 2zt

Mr. Ding Jia Qi
THRHEKE

Mr. Siu Wai Yip
mEELRE

Ms. Wang Jing
EFrut

Mr. Tang Yi Feng
E—gEE

Ms. Wang Hong
FALE

Ms. Duan Shan Shan
ER MM & &

Mr. Rachid Bouzouba
Rachid Bouzouba?t 4

Mr. Tian Jin
HELE

Mr. Li Hao
EREHE

Ms. Vivian Pauline Liu

FEW L
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Ms. Lam Suk Ling, Shirley
MOmiR L+

Mr. Shen Hao
LA E

Mr. Chen Xin Zhong
BeR 3 18 o

Mr. Liu Shu Li
2 37t JB 4 4=

Mr. Adrian Valenzuela
Adrian Valenzuela%t &

Mr. Lau Mun Wah
RmELE

Mr. Yang Zhao
B E

Mr. Zhang Ting Ze
SREESTE

Mr. Hector Villaescusa
Hector Villaescusasc &
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the three executive Directors, Mr. Li Weibin, Mr.
Siu Wai Yip and Mr. Lau Chi Kit, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for no fixed term which may
be terminated by one month’s notice in writing by either

party.

Each of the two independent non-executive Directors,
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May and Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a fixed term of one year commencing on 18 February
2021.

The independent non-executive Director, Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing
on 17 December 2019.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
and their respective associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and

underlying shares of the Company
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percentage of

the total
Number of Number of number of
ordinary underlying issued shares of
Name of Directors Capacity shares shares Total the Company
BEARBET
BAhECY
BExgd 513 EERYE MR EE st BAB R
(Note 1)
(1)
Mr. Li Weibin (“Mr. Li") Beneficial owner 53,464,480 157,127 53,621,607
FEREEE (kL) BREEA (Note 2)
(Hizt2)
Interest of controlled 659,810,560 - 659,810,560
corporation (Note 3)
REH R RS (h&t3)
713,432,167 61.014%
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Approximate
percentage of

the total

Number of Number of number of

ordinary underlying issued shares of

Name of Directors Capacity shares shares Total the Company

BEARBET

RipE#HZ

EEpL g1 LEREE  HERRHEYE st BaEaL

(Note 1)

(1)

Mr. Siu Wai Yip Beneficial owner - 109,623 109,623 0.009%
HEREELE EGHEAA (Note 2)
(Hizt2)

Mr. Lau Chi Kit Beneficial owner 40,000 73,082 113,082 0.010%
ARERE BanEBA (Note 2)
(Maz2)

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond Beneficial owner - 73,082 73,082 0.006%
AEREL EakEEA (Note 4)
(Mist4)

Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May Beneficial owner - 36,541 36,541 0.003%
RRBUL EGHEBA (Note 2)
(Hizt2)

Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene Beneficial owner - 36,541 36,541 0.003%
gL L+ BanBEBA (Note 2)
(Maz2)
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Notes:

1. Based on 1,169,287,752 ordinary shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2021.

2. These underlying shares were share options at an exercise
price of HK$31.7390 per share granted on 24 April 2013
(subject to adjustment).

3. These shares were held by Wealth Keeper International
Limited (“Wealth Keeper”), the entire issued share
capital of which was wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Li. Accordingly, Mr. Li was deemed to be interested in
the entire 659,810,560 shares held by Wealth Keeper by
virtue of the SFO.

4. These underlying shares were share options at an exercise

price of HK$37.2227 per share granted on 17 December
2013 (subject to adjustment).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company or any of
their associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 21 September 2012, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme"”), which was approved by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on the same date.

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant share options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
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According to the Scheme, the Board may grant share
options to the eligible participants as defined in the
Scheme to subscribe for such number of shares as the
Board may determine. Share options granted should
be accepted within 28 days from the date of the letter
of grant. Upon acceptance of the share options, the
grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. Subject to the terms of the
Scheme and all applicable laws, the Board has the power
to determine the period within which payments or calls

must or may be made.

The exercise price of share options shall be determined
by the Board, which shall be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all share options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company on the date of approval
and adoption of the Scheme provided that the Company
may at any time seek approval from its Shareholders to
refresh the limit to 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of approval by the Shareholders in general meeting
where such limit is refreshed. Share options previously
granted under any share option schemes of the Company
(including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with such schemes or exercised options) will
not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
refreshed.
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The total number of shares which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant
unless such grant has been duly approved by ordinary
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting at
which the relevant eligible participant and his associates
abstained from voting. Share options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
Directors or any of their respective associates in any
12-month period in excess of 0.1% of the Company's
issued share capital on the date of grant and with a value
in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no share options can be exercised more than
10 years after it has been granted. There is no general
requirement that a share option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised. The Scheme
will expire on 20 September 2022.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
14 September 2018, the Company was authorised to
refresh the scheme mandate limit to issue a maximum
of 132,486,969 share options (before adjustment arising
from Capital Reorganisation (effective on 19 February
2021) and Rights Issue (effective on 25 March 2021))
under the Scheme. After adjustment arising from Capital
Reorganisation and Rights Issue, the refreshed scheme
mandate limit was adjusted to 26,497,393 share options.
Notwithstanding the forgoing, the shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
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During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised
and cancelled; 180,935 share options were re-classified
and lapsed before Capital Reorganisation becoming
effective on 19 February 2021 and 36,541 share options
were lapsed after completion of Rights Issue on 25 March
2021. As at the date of this report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme is 28,125,294,
which represents approximately 2.41% of the total
number of shares in issue of the Company as at 30 June
2021 (i.e. 1,169,287,752 shares).

The movements in the share options granted under the

Scheme during the Year are shown below:

Number of share options

REAFE TEBREEEH 1THERE
;180,935 BEREE N KBRAEAHN
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KWKR36, 541 BEREERERR ZZ
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1,169,287,752/%) 2 #92.41% ©
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Lapsed ~ Adjustment

during upon  Adjustment  Lapsed during Date of Validity Exercise
Granted Exercised Cancelled  Re-classified the Year  completion upon the Year At grant of period price
Name or category of At during during during during (Before of Capital completion of (After 31 March  share of share of share
participants 1 April 2020 the Year the Year the Year the Year ~ Adjustment) Reorganisation ~ Rights Issue  Adjustment) 2021 options options options
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SREZNBIRR BE-H b i # ENSE (RZE) fFHZBE  fRHiZER (2% =R=t-B RHAH BHE 8
HKS
o
per share
&R
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Wote 2) (Notes 1 and 2)
(1) (Hi2) (Hi2) (1k2)
Executive Directors
AnEs
Mr. Li Weibin 778,018 - - - - - (622,415) 1524 - 157,127 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 31.7390
FRERE —ZEMBZ+MA (Note 3)
—-BEMAZ+RAE
_ZEMAZ+=A
(H3)
Mr. Siu Wai Yip 542,804 - - - - - (434,244) 1,063 - 109,623 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 31.7390
ARERE —ZEMBZ+MA (Note 3)
—-BEMA-+RAE
ZZEMBZ+=A
(H3)
Mr. Lau Chi Kit 361,869 - - - - - (289,496) 709 - 73,082 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 31.7390
Y%L —ZEMAZ+mA (Note 3)
-REBE-+MAE
ZZEMAZ+=A
(i3)
Non-executive Director
FATES
Ms. Fung Sau Mui 180,935 - - - (180,935) - - - - - 240413 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 6.4100
(resigned on —ZEMAZ+MA (Note 3)
21 October 2020)
EAlLT -BENB_+MAE
(R-F_§£+5 “ZEmBZtZR
Zt-AiF) l
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Number of share options

Lapsed ~ Adjustment

during upon  Adjustment  Lapsed during Date of Validity Exercise

Granted Exercised  Cancelled Re-classified the Year  completion upon the Year At grant of period price

Name or category of At during during during during (Before  of Capital completion of (After  31March share of share of share

participants 1 April 2020 the Year the Year the Year the Year ~ Adjustment) Reorganisation ~ Rights Issue  Adjustment) 2021 options options options
FEER KRR R FEER

RISZRE AEER AEER FEER KEER %8 REESE i 58 R-R--F BREZ BREZ BREZ
SREZNLIRN BE-H Rt i 2 ENSE (RZE) fFHZBE  fRHZER (2% =R=t-B RHAH BHE 8
HKS
B
per share
5
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Wote 2) (Notes 1 and 2)
(1) w#2) (H#2) (i1k2)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIHATES
Dr. Ho Chung T, Raymond 31,869 - - - - - (289496) 09 - BWTRB 17-12-1410 16:12:23 .00
HERAEL —ZE+ZA+tR (Note 5)
—MELTR+ERE
ZZE+IEtRE
(H3ts)
Ms. Lai Ka Fung, May 180,935 - - - - - (144,748) 354 - 36,541 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 317390
REButL —Z§NBZ+RA (Note 3)
-BEBE_+MAE
ZZEMBZ+=A
(#3)
Ms. Chan Sim Ling, Irene 180,935 - - - - - (144,748) 354 - 36,541 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 31.7390
BEL Lt —=§MB+mE (Note 3)
—REBE-+MAE
“ZEMAZ+ZH
(3
Sub-total 2,581,365 - - - (180,93 - (195,47) 4713 - 4859%
Nt
Others
£t
Employees 2,894,952 - - - 180,935 (180935 (2,315,965) 56710 - 584,657 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 31.7390
&8 —=£MBZ+ME (Note 3)
-REBBZ+MAE
ZZEMAZ+=EH
(3)
723,739 - - - - - (578,992) 1,416 - 146,163 29-11-13 29-11-14 10 28-11-23 383120
“ZE-AZTRAE (Mored)
—RET-BZth
BECZE+-R
Z+NB i)
Other eligible participants 2,216,449 - - - - - (1,713181) 4338 (36,541) 411,085 24-04-13 24-04-14 10 23-04-23 31.7390
EfaERSEE —ZEMAZ+MmA (Note 3)
-REBBZ+MAE
ZZEMAZ+=H
(3)
Sub-total 5,835,140 - - - 180,935 (180935)  (4,668,118) 1,424 (36,541) 1,141,905
It
Total 8,422,505 - - - - (1809%)  (6593269) 16,137 (36541) 1,627,901
st
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Notes:

As a result of the Capital Reorganisation effective on 19
February 2021,
shares to be issued under the outstanding share options

the exercise price and number of new

were adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

As a result of the Rights Issue effective on 25 March
2021, the exercise price and number of new shares to be
issued under the outstanding share options were adjusted
pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 24 April 2014 until 23 April
2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next 20% of the share
options shall become exercisable from 24 April 2015 until
23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of
the share options shall become exercisable from 24 April
2016 until 23 April 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the
next 20% of the share options shall become exercisable
from 24 April 2017 until 23 April 2023 (both days
inclusive); and (v) the remaining 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 24 April 2018 until 23 April
2023 (both days inclusive).

The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2014 until
28 November 2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from
29 November 2015 until 28 November 2023 (both days
inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of the share options shall
become exercisable from 29 November 2016 until 28
November 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the next 20%
of the share options shall become exercisable from 29
November 2017 until 28 November 2023 (both days
inclusive); and (v) the remaining 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 29 November 2018 until 28
November 2023 (both days inclusive).

Htat -

HRRAEEN 2 -_—F_A+NHE
B BIRBZA B Z R E HRTTEER
BZITEERRZREARTERRERST U
ERTZWRNBBETRE

HRMRERR S _—&E=-"BA_+AA4%
W BIREBZE B ZRRE HRTEER
RZITEERRBEARTERRERSTU
BITHMRMBEETRE

EREZERHBEUATOERLES
()VE20% 2 ERE R _2—NF0NA
“t+mOHEEZE =B+ =8 (8
FEEMH) A FTE (N EX20% 2B
R BR_T—RENBE-+WMAZEC
T=FEAZ+=H (BEEEMH) A
FITE GINER20% 2 BEBRE BR T
—ANEFEOBE+OHE_Z_=F/1A
“+=B(BEFEERERMAB) A FITE (iv)
EAZO%Z%HX% R -ZZ—tFMmA
“HNHEZZ=FNA-+=H (8
?EE%WEI)EI%?‘_J@,&V)@%—FZO%Z%
B R 22— N \FNBEZ+WMBEZ
LZT=FMHAZ+=H (BEEEMAR) A
FATMEE

BREZAMBDEUTYAMES :
(VE20% 2R R - —NF+—
B_+hAHE_ZE-_=F#+—8FB_-+/N\H
(BIEEERMA) T/ ;(HHEX20% 2
BRE BR_ZE—HAF+—BZ+ANH
EIE_=F+—AZ+/N\B (BEER
M H) Bl T (i) EX20% 2 BERR R &
AZE—RE+—ABZ+tABREZE==
F+—BZ+/\B (BiFEREMA) A F17
fF vV ER20% 2 ERE R _E—+
E+—BZ+NABEZE=5+—#8
_-H\EI (BIEEEMAB) Al 11 ; K&(v)
BRT20% 2 ERE RS —NFE+—
BZ+hBEZE-_=F+—HBZ+N\H
(BIEEEMR) A Fi76E-
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5. The validity period of the share options are vested into
five tranches with (i) the first 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2014 until
16 December 2023 (both days inclusive); (ii) the next
20% of the share options shall become exercisable from
17 December 2015 until 16 December 2023 (both days
inclusive); (iii) the next 20% of the share options shall
become exercisable from 17 December 2016 until 16
December 2023 (both days inclusive); (iv) the next 20%
of the share options shall become exercisable from 17
December 2017 until 16 December 2023 (both days
inclusive); and (v) the remaining 20% of the share options
shall become exercisable from 17 December 2018 until 16
December 2023 (both days inclusive).

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately
before the date on which the share options were granted,
i.e. 23 April 2013, 28 November 2013 and 16 December
2013, were HK$0.56, HK$0.68 and HK$0.68 per share,

respectively.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in “DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY AND ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
and “SHARE OPTION SCHEME",

Year was the Company, its holding company or any of its

at no time during the

subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other

body corporate.

Directors’ Report

HEGHE

5. BREZABBEEATOAMLEB ()
H20% 2 HRE BR _SE—NE+_A
+tHEZZE_=F+"A+H (B
BHEMAB) A FIT6E (INER20% 2 EK
RN _Z—HEF+A+LtHEZZ
T=F+ZA+B (BEEEMH) A7
FAESGINEXR20% 2 ERE BR S

—R"E+ZBE+tHEZ %:_E—i— ﬁ
+XB (BEEEMAB) A T3 ;
R20% 2 BRI > B -2 — tﬁ—k H
+tHtHEZEZ=F+ZF+/"H (8§
BEMB) A FTE; RVERT20% 2 B
BORER_E-N\EF+_BA+tHE_Z
—=F+ZB+H (BEERMAB) AIF
171

ARBRMREZEREEEHHT—X
B =—E—=FmWA-+=A - ZF—=
+—BZ+ N \HERZE—=H5+"A+
BH) Z2WHmED R ZAEKR0.5687750.684%
TTR20.685 7T ©

BERMHABFLH

BREXTEEREBITHRAEREARA RE
A EREZRM AERRO RESFTE
BzRmkER) R ITBRESSFIIRES
Sh ERABEERATHEEFNE AT
HERAFERNZERFBI L ERNZEE
HNEEFATUZBERBALAT N EFEM
FEZRMBESFME R -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND FERRREMA TR RER
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND RiIPZHEERER

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, the Shareholders (other than N _E_—F=ZA=+—H RE(EER
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had KRB REITHABRIN REAE Z KD
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying BB R BTN AR B REH
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required FRBEKRAE3IBcHREFEZELMA > X
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of BRIOTHGARBZEGIEEEHINAOT :
the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company are set out

below:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of RAEATEBERREBRNDZER

the Company

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the total

ordinary Interest in number of

Name of shares of underlying shares in issue

substantial Shareholders Capacity HK$0.01 each shares Total of the Company

F VA

SREE BE&1TRM

0.01#87TZ 1R R BHZ

TERRLE UL g LER¥E frin 2z st L ESERa

(Note 1)

(Hizt1)

Wealth Keeper Beneficial owner 659,810,560 - 659,810,560 56.428%

ETEBA

Ms. Cao Wei (“Ms. Cao") Interest of spouse 713,275,040 157,127 713,432,167 61.014%
(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)
Eaut (Mgt REED (Hfz23) (Hizt4)

(Wa£2)
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Notes:

Based on 1,169,287,752 ordinary shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2021.

Ms. Cao is the spouse of Mr. Li.

These shares comprised (i) 53,464,480 shares personally
held by Mr. Li, and (ii) 659,810,560 shares held by Wealth
Keeper, the entire issued share capital of which was
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li. Mr. Li is the
spouse of Ms. Cao. Accordingly, Ms. Cao was deemed to
be interested in the said numbers of shares respectively
held by Mr. Li and Wealth Keeper by virtue of the SFO.

These underlying shares represented 157,127 share
options held by Mr. Li, the spouse of Ms. Cao.
Accordingly, Ms. Cao was deemed to be interested in
these 157,127 underlying shares by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, no other

persons had any interests or short positions in the shares

or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company under Section

336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange.

Mtat -

Directors’ Report

HEGHE

BAANBN _Z_—FE=ZRA=+—HE%
171,169,287, 752 @A st & o

BERLERFREZRB

ZERDEE(IBELREBARTEZ
53,464,480 %1% > Ke(ii)EEWealth Keeper
¥H 2659,810,5608 81 > MWealth
Keeperz 2HEETTRABETLELEE
mER FHREAEZ T 2B HLL 1R
BESRIERG BEXTWERAER DA
254 B Wealth KeeperiF B Z Frii & B
B R o

ZEEMROIEHE LI ZERBFRER
B 215712713 Bt - AL IRIBEFEBH K
HERY B ERRAINZF157,127
IRAERIR M R e

BREXFIREBEEN RZZTE-_—-—F=A4
=+—H #BEAEMALTRNARE RN IAE
BROT BERECN AR REZESFKR
HERAFE336REFEZELMA NES
TANERRATREBRFAZERERHER
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Company discloses the following continuing connected

transactions incurred during the Year.

On 28 September 2018, A ZEAPEMELEFRBRELR
7] (Shaanxi Chinlink Financial Guarantee Limited*) (the
“Financial Guarantee Company”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) and FAZESETE
BEMARAS (Xi‘an Hui ling Zhuo Yuan Information
Technology Company Limited*) (“Zhuo Yuan”) entered
into a guarantee agreement (“Guarantee Agreement ")
and a consultancy services agreement (“CS Agreement
1), pursuant to which the Financial Guarantee Company
agreed to provide financial guarantee to the lending
bank in favour of Zhuo Yuan for procuring Zhuo Yuan
in obtaining the bank loan and the Financial Guarantee
Company also agreed to provide logistics consultancy
services to Zhuo Yuan in return for services income. Both
Guarantee Agreement | and CS Agreement | expired on 27
September 2019.

On 27 September 2019, the Financial Guarantee Company
and Zhuo Yuan entered into another guarantee agreement
("Guarantee Agreement IlI”) and a consultancy services

agreement (“CS Agreement Il”).

ERS

RERERXS

RIE EHRAE4AS > KRB EWBEUT
REFERNETZHBRERS

RIBE-N\FARBZ+/\B RRAZEFRE
MEERBRAE (MELFABR) (BF
AEZEEREENBRR) EARERET
EERMARAR (M) ]I —HHERD
#Z (HERWGE) R—MABHR%S 0 (T3
HIRFBHE)  BIb MEEFRABDERE
MientaZm ARERIBTRHEREER
e ETERRITER MMERRFRALS
TFERBMETRHYIRAMIRE > LUIER
AR 75 WAV 7% [B1 3R o 32 07 100 %1 e o 56 AR 75 177
BN _T-—hEABttHE®m-

R TE-AFAAZ+EtH BEERAE
BEITEI I 5 — PR ZE (TERIFEN)
R—1n st AR W% (A RB AN ) -
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The principal terms of the Guarantee Agreement I,
CS Agreement | and the CS

Agreement Il are set out below:

Guarantee Agreement I,

ERGE ERIGEN BARE BRI L

Directors’ Report

HEGHE

PR R E BB T -

Approximate
guarantee fee/

Guaranteed consultancy  Guarantee/consultancy
Contract Date of Contract amount service fee  service period
BARRE,/
L) LR EREHE HORBENE BR/EHRENE
(RMB in million) (RMB in million)
(AREEBEERT) (AR¥KBEST)
Guarantee Agreement | 28 September 2018 5.00 0.125 28 September 2018 to 27
B “2-N\EAAZ+N\H September 2019
“Z-\FAAZHNEE
“F-nFAAZ+EH
CS Agreement | 28 September 2018 Not applicable 0.225 28 September 2018 to 27
R —N\EAAZ+N\H ~ER September 2019
“Z-N\FAAZHTNHE
“E-EARZTLH
Guarantee Agreement Il 27 September 2019 5.00 0.125 27 September 2019 to 27
BRI “Z2-NEAAZ+tH September 2020
“E-AEARZTtHE
“ECREART+EH
CS Agreement || Not applicable 0.225 27 September 2019 to 27

EARB B

27 September 2019
“E-AEARZTEH

TER

As 56% of the equity interest of Zhuo Yuan is held by

the relatives of Mr. Li, Zhuo Yuan is a connected person

of the Company and the transactions contemplated

under the Guarantee Agreement I,

the CS Agreement

I, the Guarantee Agreement Il and the CS Agreement

Il constituted continuing connected transactions of

the Company under the Listing Rules.

Further details

of the Guarantee Agreement | and the CS Agreement

| were set out in the announcement of the Company

dated 28 September 2018 and details of the Guarantee
Agreement Il and the CS Agreement Il were set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 September
2019.
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HRfETTZ56%REREFELE 2 HBER
WETARRBEIZEEAL BRFRBE

B AR TS k|~ B IR 19 R R 55 S AR 75 17 5%
IIE—F?EELTTZ AR EMRAETIAR
B 5 o B RE R38R
BhmzE—THBIRALBDHEAZ
Z-NFANBZ+NEHZR2MHA > MERDH
FEIRBHAREWEIZ BN AR B HE
NEFEABZ+tHZRAHmR-

Bl Z R AR

m_T—

September 2020
“E-NFAAZTLHE
“Z22FNRZ+tH
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The guarantee fee and the consultancy service fee charged
to Zhou Yuan were based on the prevailing market rates

and terms for similar financial guarantee arrangements.

During the Year, the Financial Guarantee Company has
received/receivable from Zhuo Yuan the guarantee fee and
consultancy fee (net of value-added tax) in an aggregate
amount of approximately RMB138,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$158,000) (2020: approximately
RMB305,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$341,000)).

On 24 December 2019, ESER (AL EERFEBREA
&) (Real King International (Xi‘an) Information Technology
Company Limited*) (“Real King") (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into the
lease agreements with BZEEBEEFR AT (Xi'an
Hao Hua Zhi Ye Company Limited*) (“Hao Hua")
and ALHRBEEEEAHDERAT

Enterprise Management Consulting Company Limited*)

(Xi'an Lian Ding
(“Lian Ding"”) respectively (collectively, the “Lease
Agreements”), pursuant to which Real King agreed to
lease certain office premises (the “Premises”) of CIC to
Hao Hua and Lian Ding respectively at a maximum annual
rental of RMB739,000 and RMB1,212,000 respectively.
The term of the Lease Agreements was from 25 December
2019 to 31 March 2022.

On 24 December 2019, ZBEHEHEESEE (BR)
BBRAR (Chinlink Commercial Operation Management
(Xi‘an) Company Limited*) (“Chinlink Commercial”)
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company)
also entered into the property management services
agreements with Hao Hua and Lian Ding respectively
(collectively, the “Services Agreements”) in relation to
the Premises, pursuant to which Chinlink Commercial
agreed to provide property management services to
Hao Hua and Lian Ding at a maximum annual property
management services fee (including other utilities fees) of
RMB1,729,000 and RMB2,393,000 respectively. The term
of the Services Agreements was from 25 December 2019
to 31 March 2022.

METWRZERERBARFEDER
BOmBERRELUMBERREHZAR e

RAEEE MEERABDBER EIWRET
BRERSHE NRIEER) @EEHOA
K 1%138,0007t (HH% 11 49158,000%8 ) (=
T-ZFE I HARK305,000T FEERY
341,000 7)) ©

R ZE-NEFTZEZ+NE BEERE
(AR EEREERRAE (TER) (BE
REIZERZRE2ERB AR DR AR EE
BEXFRAB (IEFE) RAZHREEESE
BHAERAR (TR TR ERE &
e TZERERE) B EEEREHF
i[ﬁtﬂ%lﬁﬂﬁtﬂ/uz?é%m’**#@%(F*?
EME) DRHEBAFTEERBE B E
ERE9AARK739,000c Kk AR
1,212,000 HEHZMARABEZZ—N
F+ B +HBHREEEZZ-__4=AH
:+_E|J_t°

N ZE-NFF+ZRAZHNEH EEFEE
*xEEEHE (AL ERAR (IEEPEH
) BARBAZHEEEZEWBAR) 77D
Al EERBM AR B EYET I YE
EERBHE RBEA T ZERBEHRE) -
Bl ZTEGTSHECARASERE R
REVEXEERD BRSTEVMESER
BE (BIEEMLABEXE) DAARE
1,729,000t & AR #£2,393,0007T © IR 55 #
FHPRAEB S -NE+ZBEZ+EHHIE
BEEF=—B=+—Hl-

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ 4 B B FERE A B A 5] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, there
had been a delay in the commencement of the lease of
CIC and accordingly the receipt of rental/management
services income from all tenants (including Hao Hua and
Lian Ding) were delayed. Except for the postponement
of the commencement date of the rental/management
services from 25 December 2019 to 1 April 2020,
other terms of the Lease Agreements and the Services
Agreements remained unchanged and valid. The ending
dates of the term of both the Lease Agreements and the
Services Agreements remained the same as mentioned
above, that is, 31 March 2022. The rental income (net of
value-added tax) generated from Hao Hua and Lian Dain
during the Year amounted to RMB703,000 (equivalent
to HK$806,000) and RMB1,154,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,324,000) respectively (Previous Year: Nil) and the
property management services fee (including other utilities
fees) (net of value-added tax) generated from Hao Hua
and Lian Dain during the Year amounted to RMB1,343,000
(equivalent to HK$1,540,000) and RMB1,657,000
(equivalent to HK$1,900,000) respectively (Previous Year:
Nil).

As 60% of the equity interest of Hao Hua and 99% of
the equity interest of Lian Ding are held by Mr. Li, Hao
Hua and Lian Ding are connected persons of the Company
and the transactions contemplated under the Lease
Agreements and the Services Agreements constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Further details of the above agreements
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated
24 December 2019.

The rent charged to Hao Hua and Lian Ding was based
on terms of the lease agreements entered into between
Real King and other tenants of CIC (who are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons)
and market rental for similar properties nearby and having
taken into account the availability of similar premises
nearby and the cost of relocation.
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HEGHE

HREEMEMXEE SEARSEEF O
MEHEEZHAMERE AILEMEHER
(BIESERBER) WRZ2HEE EERS
WATNELE R - BREE EERFBHMHEE
BB _ZE—NE+_A-+HHHEESE
TECTZENB—-RAZN HEWRE MR
HEZEMEREESIFTEEER -BE
WERRBHEER AL IEBEAHEE X
FrtEERE B —_E - —_F=B=+—H-
BERBRNAEEEEZHASIRA (0K
HER) DR A ARBE703,0008 (FBER
806,000/ 7T) R AFK 1,154,000t (1%
$£1,324,00087w) (HF 1 F) RIEERE
BRAFEEEXEEBERBEE (B1EH
MAREEE) (NRIEER) PRAARE
1,343,0007T (185 521,540,000 7T) B AR
#1,657,0007T (185 521,900,000 70) (&
FLIE)o

RRIEEZ60%RERERZ99%KRER
FREFA BEERBRBAET AT ZHE
AL BESHENZRZEFRB HEER
TRETZXSBHALTRUVEBETEARF
ZHERERS - BRAULBEZZE—D
HFBENRARTAEPR - E-—NE+A
iy o1t = /NG AN

PUEERBRBERZES HREERES
EREEEROZEMBR (BBINER
BIRHEMEALZE=7) T2 HERZ
2R AR E T HEES ) B5tk
MTROME I HERREBHASERH -
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The property management services fee charged to Hao
Hua and Lian Ding was based on the scope of services
provided, the terms of property management services
agreements entered into between Chinlink Commercial
and other customers of CIC (who are third parties
independent of the Company and its connected persons)

and the market services fee for similar properties nearby.

The other utilities fees payable under the Services
Agreements were determined with reference to the cost of
providing these utilities services, the fee charged to other
customers of CIC (who are third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons) and the market
services fee for similar properties nearby.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions were entered into:

(i) by the Group in the usual and ordinary course of
business;

(ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or
from independent third parties;

(iii)  in accordance with the terms of the relevant
agreements mentioned above governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole; and

None of the transaction amount of each of the above
continuing connected transactions has exceeded their
respective annual cap amount for the Year in accordance
with the announcements of the Company as mentioned
above.

MUEERBRBERZMEEERBE  H1IR
BFrIR 2 RBEE SET M EREE
PEERPLOZEMER (RBIREAF
REBBEATZE=7) I L2 YEEER
BB ZERRBOELUNEZTHRE
BstERSH-

REZERGHRENZHEMAREXE
DESEREZSOAEERBZAE A
ZEPEEARPLOZEMER (BBINE
NREREFABALZE =) WBZERK
MITBELMEZTHRFEMET -

RiFE LR BIUFRTESEH LM
BREXSFHEERBEIBETILN TR
R

ZERSHAERR —RIEBES
BIREPETT

(i RFRZHE—RBEERIER
AEERBIF=ARHIBILE=
HEAERRMZRRETIL

(i) ZEXRZIHRELXPAMBBBEZ
HFRET MEERSEZHERIDER
FTEE URERRBRERRZE
il &

RIE EXFR A RB 2 A LA ERE
REEEZRXSZEBEBRARSEIEERN
FEEZFE LREE-
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of the Company
has issued an unqualified letter containing his findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock

Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On 28 November 2017, CLI Design Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company entered into a tenancy agreement (the
“Tenancy Agreement”) with Golden Life Investment
Limited (“Golden Life") for the lease of Workshops Nos.
1 to 8 19 to 21 on the 2nd Floor (with an aggregate
gross floor area of about 6,149 square feet) and the Car
Parking Space Nos. P9 and P10 on the Ground Floor of
Decca Industrial Centre, 12 Kut Shing Street, Chai Wan,
Hong Kong at a monthly rental of HK$78,650 and monthly
building management fee of HK$10,616 for a term of
three years from 1 December 2017 to 30 November 2020.
Ms. Fung Sau Mui, who was the non-executive Director
of the Company until 21 October 2020, is one of the
directors of Golden Life.

During the period from 1 April 2020 to 21 October
2020, when Ms. Fung Sau Mui was the non-executive
Director of the Company, the Group paid rental and
building management fees in an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$723,000 (Previous Year: HK$1,082,000)
to Golden Life pursuant to the Tenancy Agreement.
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The significant related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the Year, including the abovementioned,
are set out in note 51 to the consolidated financial
statements which include transactions that constitute
continuing connected transactions for which the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules have been complied.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” and “RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS”
above, no contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at
any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group were entered into or in existence
during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” from
pages 43 to 68 of this annual report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most
important assets and stakeholders of the Group and
their contribution and support are values at all times.
The Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits
policies according to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe
benefits, mandatory provident fund and share options are
provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form
a professional staff and management team that can bring

the Group to different levels of success.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" from pages 77 to 83 of this annual report,
the Company has not entered into any equity-linked

agreements during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Bye-Laws, the Directors, secretary and
other officers and every auditor for the time being of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they or any of them, shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reasons of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their
duties in their respective offices or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Company has taken out insurance against all losses
and liabilities associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors and other officers
of the Company.

Directors’ Report
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that

had a significant impact on it.

EMOLUMENTS POLICY

The emoluments policy of senior management of the
Group was set up by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

The Company adopted the Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the Scheme are
set out in the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME"
above.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
changes in information of the Directors are set out below:

(1) Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Superland
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368) with
effect from 16 June 2020.
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He also ceased to act as the chairman and a non-
executive director of Veson Holdings Limited
(formerly known as SCUD Group Limited) (stock
code: 1399) with effect from 19 May 2020 and 16
June 2020 respectively.

(2) Mr. Lau Chi Kit retired as an independent non-
executive director of Century Sunshine Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) with effect from
30 June 2021.

The shares of all the abovementioned companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save for the above changes, there is no other information
that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing Shareholders.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made donations amounting to
approximately HK$30,000 (Previous Year: HK$22,000).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was
held by public as at the date of this annual report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the shares of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
of the Company the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year and discussed with the
management of the Company on auditing, risk
management, internal control and financial reporting
matters. Information on the composition of the Audit
Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report

from pages 43 to 68 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") was
appointed as the auditor of the Company on 4 May 2020
to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. HLB retired and was
re-appointed at the annual general meeting held on 23
September 2020 until the conclusion of the 2021 annual
general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Previous Year and the Year were audited by HLB who will
retire and offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2021

annual general meeting.

A resolution will be proposed at the 2021 annual general
meeting of the Company for the re-appointment of HLB as
the auditor of the Company.

By Order of the Board

Li Weibin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Chinlink International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the
Group”) set out on pages 107 to 399, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a
net loss from continuing operations of approximately
HK$162,179,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 and,
as of that date the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$1,233,643,000, while its bank balances
and cash amounted to approximately HK$29,165,000 only
as at 31 March 2021. As stated in Note 1, these events or
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note
1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

Independent Auditors’ Report
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thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

JEESBRETERENBAREREE

these matters. In addition to the matter described in the

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we

have determined the matters described below to be the

key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

AREZER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEILE

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements
and the significant unobservable inputs and
judgments involved in determining the fair value.
KM EEMEGLE#RNAAREZEE REA
ERHGEMBREAMSIFTEEREELATE
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As set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 March 2021
amounted to HK$4,336,843,000 which is stated
at fair value as determined based on valuation
performed by an independent qualified professional
valuer.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment properties included:

RPERREYELEZREFEE

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified
professional valuer;

. MBI EREXREEMZEN BN R
HERME
o Obtaining an understanding from the

independent qualified professional valuer of
the valuation methodology, the performance
of the property markets, significant
assumptions adopted and key inputs and
data used in the valuation;

. MEUSEREEGHEN T REERE Y
EMHSRBE - LEPFARAZERREZNMA
RKAZFTE@MABREE;

99



100

Independent Auditors’ Report
B 7 A% S A o

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key audit matter

FREIZEER

Valuation of investment properties (continued)
REYEILE ()

The valuation of investment properties requires
the application of significant judgment and
estimation in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology, adoption of significant assumptions
and use of various unobservable inputs in the
valuation models. The valuation is sensitive to the
underlying assumptions and inputs such as the
market comparables and discount rate used which
can have a significant impact on the valuation.
REVMEZHEERTEEBEGER 2 AGE
BXARMNERABRRERAZERTREE AR
BF & FE BB K HI B e i 51 o [ (B iR 7 2 BB BR R 58
BRI BB RAARBLEREXERABZE
B> MZEAAEIHEEENERTE

Valuation of trade and loan receivables

ERE ZGRARENESLZIGE

We identified the valuation of trade and loan
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balances to the consolidated
financial statements and significant judgments
involved by management in the valuation process.
B EWE S RIE R EWE R E# 55
REZFR REASEHREGEMBRRMSIER
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FigEZEE (8)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B zBRNAEEMEEZSEER

o Assessing the appropriateness of valuation
methodology, the significant judgments and
assumptions applied, including the market
comparables used and adjustment factors
adopted based on our knowledge of the
industry; and

. RBEHMBITEZ T STELERE T
FEREARFE R RE (BEMRAZTIEH
BB REMZAERER) EE0E ;
¥4

o Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the
valuation calculations and, on a sample
basis, the key inputs and data to available
market data and evidence.
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We found the key assumptions in valuation were
supported by the available evidence.

ROERGEEZETERRIEANFRESRF -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade and
loan receivables included:

HPERMEKEZRERBRERGEZEFERE

o Understanding the key controls as to how the

loss allowance for trade and loan receivables is

estimated by the management;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Key audit matter

FREIZEER

Valuation of trade and loan receivables (continued)
[ENRE ZIRERBIKNENZ 1E1E (8)

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group estimates the loss allowance
for trade and loan receivables using expected
credit loss (“ECL"”) model in accordance with
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. Under the model,
the Group assesses lifetime ECL individually for
debtors with significant balances or credit impaired
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate age groupings for the remaining trade
debtors. For loan receivables, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The management takes
into consideration, inter alia, the historical default
rates, past due status, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the report date as well as the forward looking
information specific to the debtors.
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As set out in notes 25 and 23 respectively, the
Group has trade receivables of HK$33,821,000
(net the allowance for expected credit losses
of HK$818,000) and loan receivables of
HK$177,102,000 (net the allowance for expected
credit losses of HK$3,548,000) as at 31 March
2021.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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o Testing the accuracy of the aging analysis
of the trade receivables to the sale invoices
and/or goods delivery notes on a sample
basis;

. HIHERER B B R EERHE
WE ZERIBZ BREC DT B S EEME

o Evaluating the reasonableness and
appropriateness of historical default rates,
past due status, current conditions at the
report date as well as the forward looking
information specific to the debtors used in
determining estimated loss rates applied in
calculation of the loss allowance;

. LN EE S B AR R HPT A G
RBRENR -BHAR T - REHBEZE
AR REBAZEERMBEEENZSSIE
FRBE ;

o Assessing whether the disclosures
regarding the impairment assessment of
trade receivables and loan receivables in
the consolidated financial statements are
sufficient and appropriate; and

. TGV BRERANBHAEWE ZRIERE
WERREN G2 IRERTERHREE | &

o Testing subsequent settlements of credit
impaired trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to source documents.

. R HRmEEEAHLREEREZ
B ZRBE HEBEE B

We found the management judgments and
estimates used to assess allowance for expected
credit losses were supported by the available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the
“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the

Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes
our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B 7 A% S A o

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to

continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of

the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B 7 A% S A o

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun

Practising Certificate Number: P06901
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

LAt % i W 4t 7%

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

Ak o TH e H

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—EZ—F === 5
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FAT AT
Continuing operations: FHBEREET .
Revenue A 5
Goods and services BEm&RT 170,842 371,937
Rental Vichea 32,341 34,209
Interest FME
— Other interest revenue —HhF B WA 20,495 19,352
Total revenue AU 223,678 425,498
Cost of sales & Al A (67,738) (280,798)
Gross profit EF] 155,940 144,700
Other income, gains and losses E Ut A~ Wz ke E5 18 7 (17,537) 13,972
Gain arising from disposal of HENBAREEN
subsidiaries, net 558 43 15,869 -
Gain on fair value change of investment & &Y ¥ 2 AFE
properties BEN 17 51,421 146,586
Gain on fair value change of put option HEESTET B>
derivative NEBESEW G 38 4,064 4,694
Allowance under expected credit loss ~ FTEHRE EREENIBET
model, net of reversal Z B4 BRI 9 (5.884) (6,723)
Impairment loss on goodwill ez RERE 18 = (15,318)
Share of profit of an associate DME—EHBE R ET] 19 9,684 935
Selling and distribution costs iHE K 88 A AR (7,293) (7,757)
Administrative expenses THERX (103,005) (124,099)
Finance costs BAFE AR 8 (249,971) (236,252)
Loss before tax PRI AT 1B (146,712) (79,262)
Income tax expense PR 10 (15,467) (39,774)
Loss for the year from REFERKSEE 2
continuing operations KEEEE (162,179) (119,036)
Discontinued operation EBARIEREE
Loss for the year from REBRIEKEER
discontinued operation, REEEE
net of income tax HBRFR1S 42 = (11,830)
Loss for the year KEEEIE 11 (162,179) (130,866)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao 1 1H 2k e HAth 2 i M ok %

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

2021 2020
—EC-—F —LTF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
k-2 FET TET
Other comprehensive Hit2maE ~ ()
income/(expense)
Items that may be subsequently HBEGENSEE
reclassified to profit or loss: Bm 2 EH
Exchange difference arising on RBBINEBESE
translation of foreign operations PERE%R 240,944 (203,449)
Share of exchange difference of DMER—REHE AT
an investment in an associate ZREZERER 6,173 (1,658)
Release of translation reserve RHE—RBREBAE
upon disposal of a subsidiary BRRIRER S = (1,765)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) Zﬁfﬁféﬁui 5/
for the year (F2) 42 84,938 (337,738)
Loss attributable to owners TATHEE AWM
of the Company: B548 -
— from continuing operations —RBEFEREER (178,853) (119,152)
— from discontinued operation —REBRIEREE
7% - (10,908)
(178,853) (130,060)
Loss attributable to non-controlling JEIZRG I FE(L &GI8
interests
— from continuing operations —RAFEREES 16,674 116
— from discontinued operation —REBRILEEE
e - (922)
16,674 (806)
(162,179) (130,866)
Total comprehensive income/ UTALEGEZERE
(expense) attributable to: (FASZ) 42%F :
Owners of the Company KABHEB A 54,468 (325,552)
Non-controlling interests e R 30,470 (12,186)
84,938 (337,738)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao 1 1R 2k e HAth 2 i ML ok %

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EIEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
k-2 FET TET
(Restated)
(REF)
HKcents HKcents
AL AL
Loss per share attributable to REFERER
owners of the Company ERIEREEHEZ
from continuing and EATEE AEWL
discontinued operations sREE
— Basic —&K 14 (57.86) (44.49)
— Diluted —#E (57.86) (44.49)
(Restated)
(FeEH)
HKcents HKcents
AL AL
Loss per share attributable to REFEREERZ
owners of the Company ERATEEA
from continuing operations L EREE
— Basic —EK 14 (57.86) (40.76)
- Diluted —#E (57.86) (40.76)
(Restated)
(FeEH)
HKcents HKcents
AL (Il
Loss per share attributable to REBKRIEEEERE Y
owners of the Company EATEEA
from discontinued operation FE{LZ iR A58
— Basic — &7k 14 — 3.73)
- Diluted —#E - 3.73)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the PEMI M sE B A AT B T T ERR 2 — 8B 9 ©

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a5 o W B IR D R

At 31 March 2021

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment properties
Goodwill
Interest in an associate

Deposit paid for land auction
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
Deposits

Current assets

Trade receivables

Trade receivables from
related companies

Loan receivables

Factoring receivables

Other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals

Put option derivative

Loans from staff

Construction costs accruals

Receipts in advance

Lease liabilities

Contract liabilities

Deposits received from
tenants and customers

Deferred income

Amount due to directors

Amounts due to former subsidiaries

Provision for warranty

Financial guarantee contracts

Tax payable

Bank and other borrowings

9.0% coupon bonds

6.5% coupon bonds

13.0% coupon bonds

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
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Notes

Htaz

25
25
24
25
27

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
F#ET

180,967
16,418
4,336,843
17,237

84,921
10,637

24,211
3,042

4,674,276

33,821

5,888
177,102
109,017

47,332

207,626
29,165

609,951

99,807

26,849
195,090
17,303
8,379
33,820

33,135
8,044

5,644
4,235
942,461

231,840
236,987

1,843,594
(1,233,643)

3,440,633
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2020
itk ==
HK$'000
Tt

169,398
20,250
3,859,215
17,237

69,064
9,804

24,518
3,158

4,172,644

34,011

161
81,273
95,913

32,801
248,938
25,382

518,479

12

92,493
4,064
27,265
154,522
17,479
9,961
26,950

26,431

18,494
9,164
70
2,092
7,054
909,484
105,375
205,903
251,866

1,868,679
(1,350,200)

2,822,444



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

a5 o MBIk DL R

KRB —F=HA=+—H

At 31 March 2021

2021 2020
T —F —E2IEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’'000
g3 FET FET
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Construction costs accruals BEMAESEA 30 52,902
Receipts in advance AW IR IE 32 - 2,761
Contract liabilities =N =K 31 = 4,227
Deferred income IR IE U 2 34 11,233 -
Amounts due to directors FENERRE 35 39,690 -
Lease liabilities HEAaE 33 8,378 10,568
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H A ER 36 606,883 551,197
Amounts due to related companies BRI A T RIS 35 202,501 184,879
Deferred tax liabilities IRIERIBEEE 39 345,352 307,416
1,266,939 1,061,048
2,173,694 1,761,396
Capital and reserves BARRKEE
Share capital (&N 40 11,693 456,753
Reserves M 2,105,049 1,278,064
Equity attributable to owners of KRB HEBE AELZ
the Company Em 2,116,742 1,734,817
Non-controlling interests JEERR S 56,952 26,579
2,173,694 1,761,396
The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to EEEgR T —F A=t HLEHR
399 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board MREI07TE39BEZRE M BRER KT ET]

of Directors on 30 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf

by:

LI Weibin
FER
Director

BF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes:

(@)

(iii)

The entities established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) are required to appropriate 10% of its
net profit, as determined under the China Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises (2006) and other
relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC, to the statutory surplus reserve until the balance

reaches 50% of the registered capital.

Subject to the approval of equity holders of the entities
established in the PRC, statutory surplus reserves may be
used to net off with accumulated losses, if any, and may
be converted into capital, provided that the balance of
statutory surplus reserve after such capitalization is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

Pursuant to the Interim Measures for the Administration
of Financial Guarantee Companies issued at 1 September
2010 by the Shaanxi Province government authorities
in the PRC, companies providing financial guarantee
services shall establish unearned premium reserve equal
to 50% of guarantee premium recognised during the year
and indemnification reserve of no less than 1% of the
outstanding guarantee balances.

Other reserve represents (i) the difference between the
amounts by which the non-controlling interests were
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid that
was recognised directly in equity which arose from equity
transaction in prior year and (ii) the deemed contribution

from the controlling shareholder of the Company.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

Htat -

(iii)

PAREARSEME (THEY) BRIIAERA
R EARH910% (R 1% B B B AR AR A 59
PEIEG AR (TERERRF) REMAE
FROET BRELERGREE EEE
BRiE 2 SE M E AAI50% ©

FERTEMRINEENERTE AILE
WERT ZERGHET AN BRHRE
BB A  TAOEBREEAR HEZE
MMEBEAERBHEEEHR T REREME
ANHI25% ©

BEPERAEBRAESRFIN _F—-FFA
A—HEMBN(RELERADEEET
WEVRE  RERBEEERRFZ LA
RURIPEFTEHREE BERFRRES
B RIRARIS0%) » U RIBRBEEES
(B R F BB ARE R %) ©

HinE B FERED AR SRER
BEFEZERIS MEERERERZ
ENNEZRAFEZEZ ZRE KRR
BARBERRRZHE

BEMIM Bl E M B RERZ 88D -
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OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

— Continuing operations
— Discontinued operation

Adjustments for:

Interest income from money lending
Interest income from finance leases
Interest income from factoring

Bank interest income

Finance costs

Share of profit of an associate

(Gain)/loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Loss/(gain) on fair value change of
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

Allowance under expected
credit loss model, net of reversal
Impairment loss on goodwill
Gain on fair value change of
investment properties
Gain on non-substantial modification
of financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost
Loss on extinguishment
of coupon bond
Gain on fair value change
of put option derivative
Realised loss/(gain) from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Write-off of inventories

Loss on termination of lease

Adjustment on carrying amount of
amount due to a director

Adjustment on carrying amount of
other borrowings

Operating cash flows before

movements in working capital
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
e BEmERLR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

R
PR ARATAS 18
— FEEE 2

—BRIEEESER

HEEIEE

BEEHBUWA
RMEREMEWA
EESEISUON
IRITH BULA
FAF5 Rl A
ﬁ%—%%%@ﬁ%
|
HE—FENBARZ
(k) /K538
M B R BITE

EREEERE
HEWFE BB KRR
2z (W) #518
BAFES ABHEZ
TMEEZAFE
2HEE 7 (W)

R
RHEEREENE
Tz & NEREL
&R ER R
REMEZ AT EE
U
RBIHNAFEZ
THEBEIFEXR
E5T W
EERBEFZEBIE

onHETTETRZ
N EZEH
BATES AR ZE
MEEZESIR
518, ()
MisEE
MIETEE 2 K518
BN —REFZIRE
REREE 2 HE
HMthEMEREEZ

AR

EEETEHAZ

o
KERERE

Notes

et

19

15
16

38

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
F#ET

(146,712)

(146,712)
(13,891)
(6,604)
(4,757)
249,971
(9,684)
(15,869)

7,159
9,980

(42)

307

5,884

(51,421)

(4,064)

428

(1,665)

(3,092)

15,928

2020

b X2

HK$'000
THET

(19)

6,723
15,318

(146,586)

(2,592)
1,533

(4,694)

(2,670)

70
112

(17,333)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

wr e Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

2021 2020
—F—%F —ETFF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iog=3 FET FET
Decrease in inventories FaRb = 12,922
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEUR & 7 BRIE
e (%) 440 (10,119)
Decrease in finance lease receivables FEWN R B R E=IE
B - 21,646
Increase in trade receivables FERRAEAT Z
from related companies B 5 RIFIE (5,417) (162)
Increase in other receivables, deposits ~ EHMEUWERIE & K&
and prepayments FET FRIEIE A (17,662) (3,874)
Increase in loan receivables FEWE TN (85,672) (263)
(Increase)/decrease B W s SR IBTIE
in factoring receivables (g R (10,913) 1,641
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FE{T & 5 BRIEE N,
GRZ) 182 (14,820)
Decrease in receipts in advance FE W =R B R D (4,514) (1,573)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities &#&&E M, G/ 6,898 (2,532)
Increase in deposits received M A WER Z 32 &1
from tenants 4,322 3,578
Increase in other payables HMETRIER
and accruals FEST & g 5,229 35,253
Utilisation of provision for warranty REREER - (57)
Decrease in financial MERFRSORLD
guarantee contracts (664) (2,078)
Net cash (used in)/generated rE (ER) EBE
from operations &35 (91,843) 22,229
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BENEAFER (270) (5,209)
PRC income tax paid B ERER (3,007) (770)
Interest received BUFIE 12,652 48,163
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATE REXRE (ER) EE
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ZIREPE (82,468) 64,413
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

wr e Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_-Z - —F=H=1—HILFE
2021 2020
—F—%F —ETFF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Jiorza FHET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREXER
Net cash inflow from disposal HE—BENBRARZ
of a subsidiary WEMAELR 42 - 101,808
Net cash inflow from disposal of HENBARZ
subsidiaries REMAFEE 43 18,762 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -BBEREHZ
plant and equipment Frig= 18 81 35
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFES A
assets at fair value through BREMEEZ
profit or loss FrigsIa 2,149 3,706
Interest received BWF B 4,757 4,706
Purchase of property, BEME -BRERRE
plant and equipment (18,929) (40,708)
Additions of investment properties NETERKEME
under construction (18,858) (80,459)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEEEIRRIRITER (309,652) -
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B EIKIFIRITIER 351,991 203,717
Purchase of financial assets at EERATESAER
fair value through profit or loss ZEMEE (2,577) (10,279)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REEBEE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ZIREPE 27,724 182,526
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ke Bl i R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of 6.5%
coupon bonds, net of expense
Proceeds from issue of 13.0%
coupon bonds, net of expense
Interest paid
New other borrowings raised
New bank borrowings raised
Repayment of other borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Loans from staff
Advances from related companies
Repayment of advances
from related companies
Advance from directors
Repayment to directors
Repayment of lease liabilities
Repayment of loans from staff
Bank overdraft raised
Repayment of bank overdraft
Repayment of 9.0% coupon bonds
Proceeds from issue of shares
upon rights issue
Transaction costs attributable to
issue of shares upon rights issue
Capital injection from a
non-controlling shareholder
Acquisition of additional interests
in a subsidiary

NET CASH GENERATED FROM/
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

B
ZET6 5% EEEH
FrigaIE > 302
BEIT13.0%ELEH
FrigaIE » iR
BEFFIE
i H A fERr
WigIRITER
BEBHMMER
BEBIRITER
ETEX
KERBEAT ZE®R
BEXEHEATZ
B
REERZEBMN
EBEEENE
BEREAR
BEBETIER
WGIRTEX
BERTES
BEBIINELES
HRFRTROZ
FrigaE
R ETRMOEGEZ
[ ZI DN
REFERKREZTE

WE—FEREARZ
RRIME S

MEEXHELE (ERA)Z

RE B

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
F#ET

Notes

log=3

66,500

(200,530)
151,966
26,645

(159,809)

(45,835)
5,869
447,563

(475,608)
97,722
(72,990)
(9,887)
(4,702)
16,290
(13,193)
(100,000)

333,247

(5,789)

(97)

57,362
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2020

b X2

HK$'000
THET

193,920

117,360
(104,924)
510,465
3,728,443
(737,041)
(3,660,664)
3,374

(124,151)
31,929
(3,688)
(7,280)

(27)
(281,500)

10,141

(323,643)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

wr e Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

2021 2020
—E-—F BT
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Jiogza FET FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) RERREEEIER
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  &i0, 7 CRiZ) 5%%8 2,618 (76,704)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ROBA—BZRER
AT 1 APRIL HEEEIER 25,382 83,138
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE YMEEFE R Ei8) 2 8,4
CHANGES 1,165 18,948
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MR=ZA=+—HZHRE
AT 31 MARCH, RREEEIER
represented by bank balances RARBPITEERRE
and cash 29,165 25,382

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the

consolidated financial statements.
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GENERAL AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted limited liability entity and its shares
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate
and ultimate holding company is Wealth Keeper
International Limited (“Wealth Keeper”),
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate controlling shareholder of Wealth Keeper
is Mr. Li Weibin (“Mr. Li"), the chairman and
managing director of the Company. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the

“Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
trading of electronic products and consumer goods,
property investment, financial advisory, provision of
financial guarantee services, factoring services and
logistic services in the PRC.

The presentation currency of the consolidated
financial statements is Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"),
which is also the functional currency of the
Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand ("HK$'000"), except when otherwise
indicated.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&0 W55 e 2 B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

—RENRERREE

ARABRBRESMALNER
REREARE HRMEBBHS
RaZMBERAE (THRRFR) Eie
HEBAEBRERRB TN ER#
B R EEMALIL ZWealth Keeper
International Limited (f'Wealth
Keeper |) > MWealth Keeperz &
BIERKRREAEERAE (MFEEE))
(RRBIEEREFHERE) oK R
BlEE MR E kB E E MR Ryt
ERFERZATERIAREE-

KRB EEERRBE -WEREZ
FEEBRINEETERKBRBEE
mBZ - MELE - PUHBEBEUER
REEEREMEBEERRTS EER
EARTS K WD AR TS ©

GEMBRERZZNNER /BT (TR
D HTRBERRBZINEEE K
E%aﬁﬂ%%’ﬁﬁ*ﬁ_fgfﬁi’:]?ﬁﬁz“ﬁ%
Ez T (TFETY) -

S

s
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
incurred a net loss from continuing operations
of approximately HK$162,179,000 and, as of 31
March 2021, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,233,643,000, while its bank
balances and cash amounted to approximately
HK$29,165,000 only as at 31 March 2021. In
addition, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$942,461,000 which were due for
repayment or renewal in the next twelve months
after 31 March 2021. Further, as described in
Note 36, the Group has defaulted in repayment of
interest of borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$12,637,000 during the year ended 31 March
2021 which outstanding amounts of borrowings
of approximately HK$395,301,000 as at 31 March
2021 remain outstanding. This had triggered
cross default of another borrowings, totalling
HK$21,404,000 as at 31 March 2021, which were
originally due for repayment in December 2021 and
will be subject to immediate repayment if requested
by the respective financial institutions. Further
details are set out in Note 36. These conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt about the Group's

ability to continue as a going concern.

—RERRGEREE (&)

FERE R

HE_ - —H#=ZRB=+—ALt*=E
E AEECELEFTELESERF
B54849162,179,000B Tt HE_E
T—F=ZA=+—H AEEERH
B EF5E491,233,643,00058 70 MfEH
R_E - —F=B=1+—HZIRTHE
FERIEEELHA29,165,0008 e lit
G REBPR _E_—F=A=+—
HEXRE+ZEEEBEEREES
ZHKREEEBRNA942,461,00078
7T o b 9N o 8 40 Y 5E 36 it > A< 5 [
Eﬁ\&ﬂ_g:—ﬁzﬁ =+—H1
FEXEELSRTIEA12,637,000
BT MERZHEHAEESBEY
395,301,000 TN - —F =5
=t+—HMARAEEKREE - LEBR
BHNE—%2E0 (W2 —F=A4
=+—H&$21,404,000%87T) XX
BN ZEERRETRIEZ—F
—f—_ﬂE'JHHT%i’E’ﬁﬁﬂ%fgﬁ’:‘@%ﬁé%ﬁi
WEE R EE E—PHBH
® Bﬁ§£36o§2:€'la>ﬁ%~%ﬁﬁfﬁéj<7\
MEM JEESAEEEERER
EWNRENE AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

1. GENERAL AND BASIS OF 1. —REMNKREUEE (B)

PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued) FERE R (18)

The directors of the Company have performed an KRBIEELKF R TIEEEHAE

assessment of the Group's future liquidity and cash RKEMDEETRIREREEITHT

flows, taking into account the following matters: & :

(i) the Group will seek to accelerate the pre- (i) REEBSRMRE_HER
sales of the service apartments of the Phase BEE(EEXRTX RBAA
Two Development (as defined below). ENEE -EEMS  AEH
Overall, the Group expects to gradually EERBZEZ—FE=E
launch pre-sales of properties for the Phase EERFTHEHE_HEREBEEN
Two Development starting from the third MERE -AEEREFBE_-Z
quarter of 2021. The Group expects there _—EE=FEEREREL
will be proceeds from pre-sale of properties BHEMEMER -BILLESE
from the third quarter of 2021 onwards. The HPTERIBR AN EERR
proceeds arising therefrom will be used for A-EEREERRER—K
settling the construction fees, repayment of EEEE;

existing loan facilities and general working

capital;

(i) the Group has fully settled defaulted in (i AEBERBREHETEE
repayment of interests of borrowings of TRERNEIMNEBEERY
approximately HK$12,637,000 subsequent 12,637,000 5 FTBEMN &
to the reporting period. All the default AR EBNERHIURER
borrowings and cross default borrowings BRABRE;

were subject to original contractual
repayment dates;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

GENERAL AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

(iii)  the Company has actively negotiated with
banks and financial institutions to secure
the renewals of the Group's bonds and
borrowings to meet its liabilities when fall
due;

(a) the 6.5% coupon bonds of
HK$231,840,000 as at 31 March
2021 provided by Placing Agent A

In June 2021, the Company has
active discussion of the possibility
of rollover and/or issue of new
bonds to refinancing the maturing
6.5% coupon bonds. Placing Agent
A confirmed that they are now
assessing the market and investors
sentiment and, on behalf of the
Company, liaising with the existing
bondholders to extend the maturity.

(b) the other borrowing of approximately
HK$369,878,000 as at 31 March
2021 provided by Lender A

In June 2021, the Company has
requested for extending the
repayment of the outstanding loan
facilities for twelve months from
maturity date in August 2021.
Despite that the directors of the
Company are confidence in further
extend the repayment of the
principals of the other borrowing,
however, the terms were not finalised
as at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

—RERRGEREE (&)

FrEIKE B2 (18)

R NTE ERBERIT B R
B UEREAEENES
B FR1G LUEER » DUEH H 7
HEaR;

(iii)

FEEMRIBARFIRMEN
BE_—F=ZA=+—
H#9231,840,000% 7T
65%EEES

MIZEZ—FXA &
NEBBHRBEERS
NETHES AN
65%EEBESFBME
B9 ] BE 1% © Bo & IEARE
o HEFIRETHT IS
REEEBE TRE
AABERBEESFA
ANBHAELUERTIEAR ©

BEMAAREHRZ
T - —F=H=+—
B B HfE MY
369,878,000 7T

RZE_—FE B K
RABERERKE
EERMENEEDR
—E—FN\BEH
HEEZEE+ @A &
ERARBIEEBELE
— P EREIEEMBER
HNAEE AM > R&ESF
FEMBRRENMNED
B MR R E R &R
TE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

1. GENERAL AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

(iv)

(vii)

the Group has received a written
confirmation dated 30 June 2021 from Mr.
Li, the ultimate controlling shareholder, that
he will provide continuing financial support
to the Group to enable the Group to meet
its financial obligations as and when they
fall due for the foreseeable future, and
agreed not to demand repayment of any
of the amounts due to him by the Group
in the next twelve months from the date
of approval for issue of these consolidated

financial statements;

the Group has taken measures to tighten
cost controls over production costs and
expenses with the aim of attaining profitable

and positive cash flow operations;

the Group may consider to dispose non-core
business and/or financial assets if required;
and

the group is currently soliciting different
source of funds, including additional
banking facilities to further support the
Group’s funding needs should the aforesaid
operating cash inflows turned out to be less

than forecasted.

—RERRERELE (&)

FHEIKE R (18)

(iv) FTEECERRERRRZFL
SREHHREAZZ -4
Zt+HZEEHER "WERE
ERRHFEBYHEXF  £F
EEAETHRAITAR R K E
MY HEE LREEZSE
iR e M B R HL T 3 H HE
SAARRTZEAAFEERE
BAREEGE XN MR ;

(v) FTEECKRIUERMBRYEE
P 7S 2 B 7 BY R A > B TE
EEEELERNREHRERM

il

)

ey

18%
EIFZ
ZE R

(vi)

H

(vi) XEBERESKARABNE
EBRF SEBIMNEITRE
NE—-PEZHAERNEESE
Kol Lt EEREERABR

FAHA o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

GENERAL AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

The directors of the Company consider that the
Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future. On this basis, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis. However, should the above
refinancing plans not be able to be implemented
successfully, or the existing facilities provided by Mr.
Li are no longer available to the Group, the Group
may not have sufficient funds to operate as a going
concern, in which case adjustments might have
to be made to the carrying values of the Group's
assets to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify
the non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively
and to provide for any further liabilities which

might arise.

—RERRGEREE (&)

FHEIKE R (18)
TABDEFRREEERERETEN
EEEERHEERMHESRETH
RAEBRRRIPZMBZEE-ZULE
BER L REMBRECRFEEE
BREFEH-AM M LA BRES
REMINEBITHAEBRTBRIERRE
FTEFRRENIREME  AEE A5
REBRHEEHEEE  RILER
T A ARAEEEEZ REER
BEHWREIEZE RIERABEEK
FERBAELENIEARIEE
RREaE WA EEE ZEFE
— T ERFHERF-

Annual Report 2021 %8 | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE H 45 [ B 2 1t A5 PR 23 ]

125



126

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the
Amendments to HKFRS to COVID-19 Related Rent

Concessions,

The application of the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

2.

RREEEMBREEN (TEE
MEBREEN)) ZB5TE

REFERFERNZEBHMBREE
AlZ BRI

REFEE - AEHACEREREES
stEiAE ((EREMAE)) B
MR EBMBREEMSERZ
EBEIAR THREBEMHREER
BiIx (BREIAR S -TFMN
B—HRzBRARNFEERBRE
M) URBER G HRE -

BB EREIRR
BB ERFeN
CHEN)

BEMBRSEIEN
(CHEN)

ERMBREENES NEREENE
BREFERE9RN
ERMBREERETH
CHEN)

EANER

EHNER

o ZAEBMEREEAEBMBR
HER (BFTA) A E R mSE/AAE
TRRE

FEERBREEBMBHREERM
BERZEBITEAREBHMHFREEL
ZES AN A ER A FERBEFE
MM BRRRERRE R, AZEGEY
BRRFTEIIVIRETEERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments'

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2*

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework?
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Classification of liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
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Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Property, plant and equipment
- Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contracts?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all the new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except
for investment properties and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair
value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined
on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS

36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its

subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
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from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its

returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the
noncontrolling interests even if this results in the
noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’'s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

w1

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

4 55 ¥ 2% B Wik

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in

existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the

non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to

owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in

existing subsidiaries (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a

joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised

at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes

and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy

below); and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in

accordance with that standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining
lease payments (as defined in HKFRS
16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date. Right-of-
use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable
or unfavourable terms of the lease when

compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquire and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase

gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are initially measured at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice
of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by—

transaction basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a
business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the
Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to the financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost established at the date of the
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represents the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes and is not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU or group
of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or group of CGUs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the CGU
or a CGU within a group of CGUs, the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation or the CGU
disposed of and the portion of the CGU or the
group of CGUs retained.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or

joint control over those policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in
net assets of the associate other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value
at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the associate
is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required
if that associate had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial

disposal of the relevant associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value

upon such changes in ownership interests.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

FEESHER (&

REEATNRE (B)
HEAEBRHBELADREERTE
7 EARIFHERRE SN2
o FREEN R NEENIEmE
0 o fin A S B 4R B8 1 A B R B RO
m BZRERG AT EMBREE
AIFIRLEEANETMEE Al EE
ERZERATFESERERED T
ZATEREAHNRINTEEBRHAF
BE-BMEATNREEREAFRER
EHATEREEREATERAED
WERMEMREZHMNER AR
EHEZBE QBN IE R - It
b AEE B GRS Al B M2 E W
TZBE AR ASEAK
EERMZBEATCERLEM
HEENERMBEEMER -RIL -
HZBMELARNNEGERRLMEKE
fh2mU R m R AR
HERFEENAGREN D EER
mwo AEERERE B HER R
EABRRK R D NEEAEDEND
BERTD (FRAEMDERRE -

BRBEADZREBANAEAT
ZRE ARAERADZRERAR
BWEADZRE UAERERRG
ko mERBEMLRER RAS
SATEe

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in
an associate but the Group continues to use the
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group's consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint

venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satistaction of a

performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of

goods or services.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control of

goods or services.

The Group uses time-elapsed output method for
property management services, financial guarantee
services and asset management services and
cost-based input method for logistics services
in measuring the progress of the performance

obligation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satistaction of a
performance obligation (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified good
or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by

the other party.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed. As a practical expedient,
leases with similar characteristics are accounted
on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially

from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components. The Group also
applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises and staff
quarters, motor vehicles and office equipment that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or

another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of

the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease

incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and
o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and

conditions of the lease
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities other than adjustments to lease liabilities
resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease

term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of

financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the

Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the

option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-

use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using

the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a

separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more

underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the

particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of

the non-lease components.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient
not to assess whether the change is a lease

modification if all of the following conditions are

met:

o the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30
June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other

terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted
to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit

or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as receivables at commencement
date at amounts equal to net investments in the
leases, measured using the interest rate implicit
in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other
than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer
lessors) are included in the initial measurement of
the net investments in the leases. Interest income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net

investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model. Variable lease payments
for operating leases that depend on an index or a
rate are estimated and included in the total lease
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on index or a rate are recognised as

income when they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a

contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15") to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease

payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions
are accounted for as lease modifications, including
lease incentives provided through forgiveness or

reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land
and building elements, the Group assesses the
classification of each element separately based on
the assessment as to whether substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless
it is clear that both elements are operating leases
in which case the entire property is accounted
as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront
payments) are allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element at initial

recognition.

When the property payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements, the entire property is generally classified
as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling

interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit

or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re—
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not

recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and state managed retirement benefit scheme
in the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at
the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected
to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in

the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors,
employees and consultants providing similar
services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of the reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated losses.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

FEESHER (&

MR B 2 TR BE

XNFEF - BEREHELRSEZ
BRIz REDGEEURN BERZA
M TEREEERZ AFES

=

= °

RZEEREEUARNAERZ IR
ZEREBHMBEEZATE 2R EE
EESREREBE 2 Ea T ERER
EREBHANTERm S W
(B REE) P IEREEM &K
THR AEEESRARKEBRN
BREGTHE RAGSHENRR
BRERNEINEE WH) KB
WHESD > B2 RET X RIREEET 4
sto W IR IR A P EAE R E

REBREETER  BERBRER
BRREEZEEREREERDEE
EERENREBAPRBRRNNE
mBNARETE BERBRERE
PR SRR EEERER

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of

goodwill.

FEGBER (B)

MIE

PRSI S 5 RN RE A IR IR R B SE TR
IEZE*D o

el
%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁeﬁﬁ$iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

i H) 5T 5 o FE SRR F) B BRAR A e )
/%ﬁ%¢%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@$§%
RIS IR AW A 2 B U R B A
RN A I NIRAIER - R EFEAYAD
HMEBEEREDRRESHRCEMNE
R ERMBVIRRETH -

BEERE

RERBEIYRGEVERREERE
BENREERERARTEERR R
FEERENERFEBMMER o —
MIBERT FTEREERE R Z5EMm
EENRERBEGBHE TR IRELE
MIBEER— RO BERRAMAE N
BB =R (UESR MR F) A B K
HAMAEREREAR) - MEFE
BRER-BREVIRILEERER
(EBaHERMN MEE BEFAEZ
EREREF RgsHaF BT BRER
LERERBEE B E LI
BREBEDRYOTEREEmMESE
AR HERIRIEIRIBEE &

Annual Report 2021 %8 | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE H 45 [ B 2 1t A5 PR 23 ]

159



160

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

LR R ES S

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through

sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date

of remeasurement or modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same

taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or

loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
and leasehold land (classified as finance leases)
held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated
over their expected useful lives on the same
basis as owned assets. However, when there is
no reasonable certainty that ownership will be
obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and

their useful lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including
properties under construction for such purposes).
Investment properties include land held for
undetermined future use, which is regarded as held

for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. All of
the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as
investment properties and are measured using
the fair value model. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which

they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Construction costs incurred from investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part
of the carrying amount of the investment properties

under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.
Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of the
property (calculated by the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the

period in which the property is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with
finite useful lives. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the

impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to

which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash generating unit or group of cash-generating

units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a
pretax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to
the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made by the amount of the

obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money

is material).

Warranties

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-typed
warranty obligations under the relevant sale of
goods are recognised at the date of sale of the
relevant products, at the directors’ best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the Group's

obligation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group.
It can also be a present obligation arising from
past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will
be required or the amount of obligation cannot
be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as

a provision.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations
(i) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group)
is classified as held for sale if it is highly
probable that its carrying amount will be
recovered through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use and the asset
(or disposal group) is available for sale in
its present condition. A disposal group is a
group of assets to be disposed of together as
a Group in a single transaction, and liabilities
directly associated with those assets that will

be transferred in the transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W 5 R B ik
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FTEFZHHEEK (&
POLICIES (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

RIEREZIFRBEEKRBRILES
ES G

operations (continued)

170

(i)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the above
criteria for classification as held for sale
are met, regardless of whether the Group
will retain a non-controlling interest in the

subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for
sale, the measurement of the noncurrent
assets (and all individual assets and liabilities
in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date
in accordance with the accounting policies
before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except
for certain assets as explained below), or
disposal groups, are recognised at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group and the company
are concerned are deferred tax assets,
assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures)
and investment properties. These assets,
even if held for sale, would continue to be
measured in accordance with the policies set
out elsewhere in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations (continued)

(i)

(i)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Impairment losses on initial classification
as held for sale, and on subsequent
remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a
non-current asset is classified as held for
sale, or is included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale, the non-current

asset is not depreciated or amortised.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component
of the Group’s business, the operations
and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations,
or is part of a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to
resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It also occurs if

the operation is abandoned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W 5 R B ik
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued

operations (continued)
(ii) Discontinued operations (continued)

Where an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented
on the face of the statement of profit or

loss, which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the

discontinued operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised
on the measurement to fair value
less costs to sell, or on the disposal,
of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued

operation.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as

revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions

are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS

3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the

purpose of selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit—

taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and

effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an

accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer

credit impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other income,

gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, trade
receivables from related company, amounts due
from former subsidiaries, loan receivables, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances, financial guarantee
contracts and factoring receivables which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12m
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the

forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables with
significant balances or credit impaired are assessed
individually and the remaining trade receivables are
assessed collectively using a provision matrix with

appropriate age groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether

credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above

assessment, the Group presumes that

the credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past

due, unless the Group has reasonable and

supportable information that demonstrates

otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument
has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with

globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the
date that the Group becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase
in the credit risk since initial recognition of
a financial guarantee contract, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the

specified debtor will default on the contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness

of the criteria used to identify whether there has

been a significant increase in credit risk and revises

them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are

capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when

one or more events of default that have a

detrimental impact on the estimated future

cash flows of that financial asset have

occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a

default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A writeoff
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in

profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data
adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of

default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the
Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected
losses is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the

holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts
for which the effective interest rate cannot
be determined, the Group will apply a
discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash

shortfalls being discounted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)
Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward

looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following

characteristics when formulating the

grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

o External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost of the financial

asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher
of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amount of income

recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised

through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accruals, loans from staff, amounts
due to former subsidiaries, amounts due to related
companies, amounts due to directors, construction
cost accruals, coupon bonds, lease liabilities and
bank and other borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group
are initially measured at their fair values and, if not
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured
at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance

determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation

recognised over the guarantee period.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at
the date when derivative contracts are entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which
event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss

depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Obligation arising from a put option on shares of a

subsidiary written to a non-controlling shareholder

Put option written to a non-controlling shareholder,
which will be settled other than by exchange of
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of shares
in a subsidiary is treated as a derivative financial
instrument and is recognised at fair value upon
initial recognition. Any changes of fair value in
subsequent reporting dates are recognised in profit
or loss.

The gross financial liability arising from the put
option is recognised when contractual obligation
to repurchase the shares in a subsidiary is
established even if the obligation is conditional
on the counterparty exercising a right to sell
back the shares to the Group. The liability for the
share redemption amount is initially recognised
and measured at present value of the estimated
repurchase price with the corresponding debit
to the non-controlling interests. In subsequent
periods, the remeasurement of the present value
of the estimated gross obligation under the written
put option to the non-controlling shareholders is

recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancel led or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the

grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains

and losses”.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is
related to the Group that is preparing its financial
statements as follows:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the

Group;

(i) has significant influence over the

Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the

Group's parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others);

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of the group of which the

other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third party;

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If
the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related

to the Group;
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions applies: (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is @ member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a
group which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to

the group or the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related

party transaction when there is a transfer

of resources or obligations between related

parties.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY)

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 3, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects

both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments that
the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of electronic
products. The Group reassessed whether the Group
should continue to recognise revenue on gross basis
based on the requirements in HKFRS 15. The Group
concluded that the Group acts as the principal for
such transactions as it controls the specified good
before it is transferred to the customer after taking
into consideration indicators such as the Group
is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the electronic products and the Group
has inventory risk with respect to the electronic
products as evidenced by the terms of the contract.
If there is any quality problem with the product,
the customer has the right to return the electronic
products to the Group.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation
arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the directors
of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded
that the Group's investment properties are held
under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring
the Group's deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have
determined the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through
sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation in
relation to the Group’s investment properties has
been measured based on the tax consequences of
recovering the carrying amounts entirely through
use.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are stated at
fair value based on the valuation performed by
an independent qualified professional valuer. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has applied
significant judgment and estimation in determining
the valuation methodology, adoption of significant
assumptions and use of various unobservable
inputs in the valuation models, including prices
realised on actual sales or asking prices or market
rent of comparable properties. Comparable
properties are analysed and carefully weighed
against various factors, such as location, building
age and development scale of each property in
order to arrive at a fair comparison of market
values. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount
of investment properties was HK$4,336,843,000
(2020: HK$3,859,215,000) as disclosed in note 17.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Valuation of trade and loan receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowance for
trade and loan receivables using ECL model in
accordance with HKFRS 9. Under the model, the
Group assesses lifetime ECL individually for trade
debtors with significant balances or credit impaired
and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate age groupings for the remaining
debtors. For loan receivables, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The management takes
into consideration, inter alia, the historical default
rates, past due status, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the report date as well as the forward looking

information specific to the debtors.

The Group has trade receivables of HK$33,821,000
net the allowance for expected credit losses
of HK$818,000 (2020: HK$34,011,000 net
the allowance for expected credit losses
of HK$3,784,000) and loan receivables of
HK$177,102,000 net the allowance for expected
credit losses of HK$3,548,000 (2020: loan
receivables of HK$81,273,000 net the allowance
for expected credit losses of HK$3,019,000) as at
31 March 2021 as disclosed in notes 25 and 23

respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group's payment for a life insurance policy
and unquoted equity instruments amounting to
HK$24,211,000 (2020: HK$24,518,000) as at 31
March 2021 are measured at fair values with fair
values being determined based on unobserved
inputs using valuation techniques. Judgment and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these
factors could affect the reported fair values of these

instruments. See note 49c for further disclosures.

Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to
fulfil the relevant obligation of guarantee contracts
when the guaranteed amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation is
based on the available information as at reporting
date and is determined by the Group’s practical
experience, the default history, the collateral
held and financial position of relevant customers
assessed on an individual basis in the industry and
taking into consideration of industry information
and market data. Where the actual obligation the
Group requires to fulfill is more than expected, a
material provision may arise. Amount of corporate
guarantee provided by the Group is disclosed in
note 44.

4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March
2021 was HK$17,237,000 (2020: HK$17,237,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$25,479,000 (2020: HK$25,479,000). The
Group is required to carry out an impairment
assessment of goodwill at the end of the reporting
period by comparing the recoverable amount
with carrying amount of the relevant CGU. In
determining the recoverable amount, the Group
assesses the value in use of the CGU to which the
goodwill has been allocated by discounting the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from
the CGU to the present value. Significant judgment
and assumptions were required in the process such
as the use of discount rate and growth rate during
the forecast period. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, a material impairment
loss may arise. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 18.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgment and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or
any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value
of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the assets belong,
including allocation of corporate assets when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable

amounts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY) (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are approximately HK$180,967,000 and
HK$16,418,000 respectively (2020: approximately
HK$169,398,000 and HK$20,250,000 respectively).

Impairment losses of an associate

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for the Group's associate, recoverable
amount of the associate needs to be determined.
The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and the value-in-use. It is
difficult to precisely estimate selling price because
quoted market prices for the associate may not be
readily available. In determining the value-in-use,
expected cash flows generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgment relating to items such as
level of sales volume, selling price and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of items
such as sales volume, selling price and amount of

operating costs.

4.
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2021 BE_ZE-—F=A=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE

(1)

For the year ended 31 March

5. WA
Continuing operations: FEBREET
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) HEF G/ ZIKA 77
with customers
2021 2020
B —F —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Types of goods and services: & @R ARFEER
Revenue from B PR B 5 WA
international trading
— grain and oil products —IEHEMR = 34
— electronic products —EBFEm - 267,479
Revenue from property MEBIBERFBEWA
management services o 64,720 65,171
Revenue from financial MEEFRBRBWA
guarantee services 17,850 19,961
Revenue from financial B 75 B8 RS AR FE WA
advisory services
— financial advisory services — R EARTS 81,769 13,133
— asset management services — & E SRR 5,306 6,147
Revenue from logistics and W R AR P U A
other services 1,197 12
Total revenue from contracts BREH WA
with customers 170,842 371,937
Add: n
Rental income under HKFRS 16 55?% RIS S 2R 1658
BN E WA 32,341 34,209
Interest income under HKFRS 9 & E R # R & £ R Fo5%%
HETIHHA B WA 20,495 19,352
Total revenue HEUT A 223,678 425,498
Geographical markets: i 5 -
Hong Kong and Macau SRR 87,075 286,760
PRC A [ 83,767 85,177
Total et 170,842 371,937
Timing of revenue A TSR R B R :
recognition:
A point in time —1{& 55 [ B 81,769 280,646
Over time — KR 89,073 91,291
Total 4ast 170,842 371,937
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA (#)

Continuing operations: (continued) HEQESER . (8)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (1) HEFGHZIKA 7 (B
with customers (continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the UTEINEBEZSEZ—FRZ
revenue from contracts with customers EEFR=+—HILHFE
with the amounts disclosed in the segment HERESHNZIMA RS EER
information for the years ended 31 March PR 2 Wik

2021 and 2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BHE_Z”-_—H=HB=+—H
IEFE
Revenue
Revenue from
disclosed Adjustment Adjustment contracts
in segment of rental  of interest with
information income income  customers
AWERKE  HESEA FISKA HEFEH
ZWA B A ZWA

HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR FART

Segment k-l

Property investment MERE 97,061 (32,341) - 64,720
Financial guarantee services RBEERRE 17,850 - - 17,850
Financial advisory services B RERRY 87,075 - - 87,075
Logistics and other services MR R EL MR 1,197 - - 1,197
Revenue for reportable segment ~ F2 R EURA 203,183 (32,341) - 170,842
Unallocated revenue RABWA 20,495 - (20,495) =
Total st 223,678 (32,341) (20,495) 170,842
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(1)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. WA #)

Fria

MEER . (@)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (1) BHEE G/ Z WA DI (&
with customers (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZ_Z-ZEHF=-AHA=+—H
tFE
Revenue
Revenue from
disclosed  Adjustment  Adjustment contracts
in segment of rental of interest with
information income income customers
AEEr A YN FEWA HEEAH
WEZEA AR AR ZWA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TET
Segment k-l
International trading BRE 267,513 - 267,513
Property investment YERE 99,380 (34,209) - 65,171
Financial guarantee services MEERRR 19,961 - - 19,961
Financial advisory services B B AR 19,280 - - 19,280
Logistics services MR IR 12 - - 12
Revenue for reportable segment P2 ®RHEURA 406,146 (34,209) 371,937
Unallocated revenue RABUWA 19,352 - (19,352) -
Total 1t 425,498 (34,209) (19,352) 371,937
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA @&
Continuing operations: (continued) HBREER . (&
(i) Performance obligation for contracts with (i)  HEFRESNZEAEF
customers
(1) Revenue from international trading (1)

and financial advisory services

(revenue recognised at a point in

time)

For sales of electronic products, MEFERBEEMS >
revenue is recognised at a point in WAREm ZEHEE
time when control of the goods has BEER (MERBE
transferred to customers, being when EEERRIEEME (X2
the goods have been shipped to the B) ) 2B -
customer's specific location (delivery). —REEHANKER
The normal credit term is 7 to 30 days tE=+H - xERAR
upon delivery. The Group requires a BREOE RN ER
15%-50% deposit of the contract ERZNMENEEN
amount on acceptance of orders from 15% E50% 3= o i &
some of the customers. When the E BN AE @A R EY
Group receives a deposit before the BE WEERSHOHFE
delivery of products, this will give rise WEAGNEBE BE
to contract liabilities at the start of a MABRI S LM 2 A
contract, until the revenue recognised BHiZEsEEALE-

on the relevant contract exceeds the

amount of the deposit.

For sales of grain and oil products, MiEHEREEMS >
the Group is considered as an agent NEBEWSAERANIER
and revenue is recognised at a point AR & 2 6
in time when control of the goods BERERR AEXH
has transferred to customers, being BB 2 R ER o
when the goods have been delivered. AEBEXRERRAM
The Group requires customers to pay RemMEAEBRBNRZNE
in advance. When the Group receives on A WX B (1 RRIE 0 8
payment in advance before delivery BHEFEMEMKRER
of goods, this will give rise to other EHNERE BEEES®
payables and contract liabilities until REYFERAIL-

the goods have been delivered to the

customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(i) Performance obligation for contracts with

customers (continued)

(1)

(2)

Revenue from international trading
and financial advisory services
(revenue recognised at a point in
time) (continued)

Revenue from financial advisory
services is recognised at a point in
time when control of the services has
transferred to customers, being when
the services have been provided. The

normal credit term is 90 days.

Revenue from property management
services, financial guarantee services,
asset management services, and
logistics and other services (revenue
recognised over time)

For property management services,
the Group satisfies the performance
obligation by providing services
such as cleaning and security on a
daily basis. As the directors of the
Company considered the Group has
fulfilled its performance obligation
in a pattern which approximates to
time elapsed, revenue is therefore
recognised over time by output basis.
The Group receives six months to one
year property management fee in
advance from certain tenants of the
investment properties at the start of
the property management contract.
This gives rise to the contract liability
which will be recognised as revenue

throughout the period of services.

5. WA #)
i (4

FrEKE

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

(i) HERSHZEBHYET (&

(1)

)

BB E 5 K R % BT AR
FEWA (58— 16 B
ERZ M) (#8)

R 75 R D AR 75 U A B B
BZEFREBERR
(BNERERBE) 2
R 2L HEs8 e —MRIEE
WA t+He

Y ¥ ELEIRE  HE
RARES ~ BEEE IR
7% RYFRAMKRE
WA (3 —BR BRI
ZHA)
MYEEERBMS
rEBRZEBEHRME
BRAREERFENE
WEE-HRARIE
ERREEECREAR
BUHARE BRI ST AL
HENEME BHRAR
B EEREREES
AEBRYEEESHD
MR REARE TRE
ER:WSN @ A EDE
E-FYEEEE- It
FEESHNEE R
B8] B 755 HA 8 B 58 75 WX
Ao

Annual Report 2021 %8 | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE H 45 [ B 2 1t A5 PR 23 ]

207



208

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. WA (&)
Continuing operations: (continued) HECESER . (8)
(i) Performance obligation for contracts with (i) HEERSHNZENET (B
customers (continued)
2) Revenue from property management 2)

services, financial guarantee services,
asset management services, and
logistics and other services (revenue
recognised over time) (continued)

For financial guarantee services and
asset management services, the
Group provides the relevant services
throughout the period of time. As the
directors of the Company considered
the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs the services,
revenue is therefore recognised over
time by output basis. The Group
normally receives one year financial
guarantee fee in advance from certain
customers at the start of the financial
guarantee contract. This gives rise
to the contract liability which will be
recognised as revenue throughout the

period of services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(i) Performance obligation for contracts with

customers (continued)

2)

Revenue from property management
services, financial guarantee services,
asset management services, and
logistics and other services (revenue
recognised over time) (continued)

For the logistics services, the Group
uses cost-based input method in
measuring the progress of the
performance obligation and revenue
is recognised over the period of
services. For the logistics services,
the Group requires a 25%- 50%
deposit of the contract amount on
acceptance of orders from some
of the customers. When the Group
receives a deposit before the provision
of services, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised
on the relevant contract exceeds
the amount of the deposit. For the
other services, the group provide
the relevant services throughout the
period of time. The customers are
usually billed on monthly basis for
the services fee calculated based on
pre-agreed amount. The revenue
is recognised on a gross basis over
time as the customer simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits

provided by the Group's performance.

5. WA #)
w3 (4

o 42 47T
FrgacE

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

(i) HERSHZEBHYET (&

2)

I [T F/1 == 7]
‘/7/5\7 VS 7é/? E%Ei 3=
ZWA) (#)

MMARBME > A&
ERsT2EBNEENE
ERRBUREKSEE
BY & AL 0 Y BR 75 2R
] T 58 U A o TR 9 7 BR
Bma ~EBRRES
HHEAMTERER
SRHEHNEEEN25%E
50%1% & o g REE R
RERBATWEZE S
RN ENFBESE
BHBaGE BEEMEME
BT 2 WA B Z
AL HEMER
Bms ~EBETEE
HEREAERSE &
FPEERALZNENRTE
TN TN RETE IR
BE -BREFREIW
WRIHERAERETS
HFTRENF = AL
WA 2 B B P LA 4B BB T

50 ©
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&0 W55 e 2 B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HEZZ

5. REVENUE (continued)

Continuing operations: (continued)

(iif)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31
March 2021 and 2020 and the expected

timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

5. WA #)
BECEER . (8)

(iif)

Financial guarantee

DEEHERS
ERFZXFER

#) 2B TIEAY

RTE_—FERITTEFZ
B=+—H2EEHTENE
E CREMRE D KRIEM) 232
7 B8 K e s2 W A Z T8 A By
LI

Property management

services services

R EERR MEEEIRSE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E_-F BT B _T°EZH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET TERT TERT
Within one year —&ER 6,943 9,189 27,919 23,142

More than one year but BE—FETBAME

not more than two years - 30 1,976 3,614
More than two years BREmE - - 2,507 4,335
6,943 9,219 32,402 31,091

Except for the property management services
and financial guarantee services, all the
other contracts with customers are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15,

allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not

the transaction price

disclosed.

BRYESEIRE MR EIERR
BoN o BER BT 2 A E At
BREAE—FHUT - Rk
EEVBREERF ISR E
o EEZEXRBTENZ
R BRI ET LURE

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ v 5 B B PE R A BR 23 5] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focus on the types of goods supplied and services
provided by the Group.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” from

continuing operations are as follows:

(i) International trading — trading of consumer
goods and electronic products

(i) Property investment — leasing of property
and provision of property management

services

(ili)  Financial guarantee services — provision of
corporate financial guarantee services and

related consultancy services

(iv) Financial advisory services — provision of
financial advisory and asset management

services

(v) Logistics and other services — provision of

logistics services and other services

DEER
AEHERAERTEHBREML
RPAQDYTEE MEBEEER
w5 (EEEERKE)) 2E1D
EENFEAHRERRBHRRBZ
B

REEBYHREEDEREED
B AEBZFHELEEBZEE
KRAIZ2#HDEUWMT

(i) BERES HEMKREBEFEM
8%

(i MERE-HEDERREHED
EEERE

(i) MERFBRB-RERHEERE
ERAR TS5 K A B s 50 AR 75

(iv) M BEERRS —RHHBERE
R&EEEER

(v) ¥Rk EAMBRTS — 1R HY R R
75 R HLAth B 75
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
operating segment of financial lease services were
classified as discontinued operation after they
have been disposed of on 17 December 2019. The
discontinued operation has resulted in a change in
the Group's structure and therefore its composition
of reporting segments. Details of discontinued
operation are described in note 42. The segment
information report below does not include amounts
for discontinued operation during the year ended
31 March 2020.

The revenue streams and results from these
segments are the basis of the internal reports
about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the CODM in order to
allocate resources to segments and to assess their
performance.

Money lending and factoring businesses are not
separately reviewed by the CODM and therefore
they are not separately presented.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment
asset and segment liability is presented as the
CODM does not regularly review such information
for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment
revenue and segment results are presented.

DEBER (&

BHE_Z_ZF=_RB=+—HILEF
E RHEHERBCENHNE
—NE+"B+tHFELEEE HE
WHHEAERIEREXET BALERK
EEBOERAER 2 EBES R
LWHREDE T ESH BRIELEE
B2 s BN M sE428 o TXPRE 2
DEENBRETFEEZSEEESR
“EF-A=+—HUEFEZE&IL
REEE 2 &8

ZEDBZWARRREETAER
KREOAMBREZER THETEE
BRARETHER BUHRIHD
ERKFEEKIRE

BERBEREBEBRETBZEER
REBBSER AL WEBBHES -

FEE $%%EF%A%Z%E¥
BETRAR ARNTEEERAKEL
ERERDEMEETHENEHSE
MNESEERDEBEEZER BT
EmENDHEERDBEED A
It E2F] D EBRA R D EBELE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment revenue and results

6.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

and results in by operating and reportable segments

from the continuing operations:

DEER (&

DERA KR

NERE LT

e
|

EBzEERAZ

BOBE D Z WA REEDFUT ¢

Year ended 31 March 2021

Year ended 31 March 2020

HES”-& BEZZT-ZH
ZA=+—HLEE =ZB=+—HL&EE
Segment Segment
Segment  profit (loss) Segment profit (loss)
revenue  for the year revenue for the year
TEERE KEEDE
AEWBA B (BB AHBA  EF (BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET TET TET
International trading BEE5 - (4,655) 267,513 3,643
Property investment MERE 97,061 86,530 99,380 100,177
Financial guarantee services ~RIBHERRH 17,850 8,277 19,961 15,258
Financial advisory services BB AR 87,075 17,418 19,280 (31,244)
Logistics and other services  #7 ke Lt AR 75 1,197 (152) 12 (407)
Revenue and result for 2D BBRARESR
reportable segments 203,183 107,418 406,146 87,427
Unallocated revenue AABEWA 20,495 19,352
Total 4t 223,678 425,498
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LR R ES S

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DHEH )

(continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

gj\MB l‘l&k&%nﬁ /Ag)

Year ended 31 March 2020

BE-_T”"—-& BEZTEHE
=B=+—HLEE =B=+—HLEE
Segment Segment
Segment  profit (loss) Segment profit (loss)
revenue  for the year revenue for the year
KEERE AEENE
AEWBA & (58 AEWBA B (BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAET TAERT
Unallocated revenue RABEWA 20,495 19,352
Unallocated income, ROEWA i kB8
gains and losses (17,537) 13,972
Unallocated reversal of RNEENEERRE
allowance/(allowance) BABETz&EER/
for under expected credit (&) 28
loss model, net 222 (4,681)
Unallocated gain arising from kP EHENBRAREEZ
disposal of subsidiaries, net Wiz F48 15,869 -
Unallocated gain on KROEREMEY
fair value change of ATFEEHNE
investment properties 14,107 110,796
Unallocated gain on fair value DB AH#TETREZ
change in put AT EENE
option derivative 4,064 4,694
Share of profit of an associate %) 5 — &I Hi & A 5 & A 9,684 935
Unallocated RNBELERS
corporate expenses (51,063) (75,505)
Finance costs IR (249,971) (236,252)
Loss before tax PRI AT SR (146,712) (79,262)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies as
described in note 3. Segment profit/loss represents
the profit/loss earned from each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, equity-
settled share-based payments in relation to central
administrative staff, unallocated impairment losses
on financial assets, gain on fair value change of
investment properties (except for gain on fair
value change of certain investment properties),
loss arising from acquisition of a subsidiary, other
income, gains and losses, directors’ emoluments
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation

and performance assessment.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

216

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. SDEENR (B)
(continued)
Other segment information Hhp &R
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit STERBIFELEERE 2 0 EimA
or loss from the continuing operations: BB B IENIE !
Year ended 31 March 2021
HE-ZC-FSA=+-HLEE
Financial Financial Logistics Reportable
advisory International  guarantee  and other Property segment
services trading services services  investment total  Unallocated Total
gl HEER Wik CEE DR
k% ERER k¥ HMERE  NERE 3 AAE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TER TER T TER TR TER
Depreciation of property, NE RERRENE
plant and equipment 176 - 15 58 4,565 4,814 2,345 71159
Depreciation of right-of use assets B EBENE 3,630 - - - - 3,630 6,350 9,980
Allowance under expected credit loss B EEFBEABT 2B
model, net of reversal & 3 (323) 5,467 3 647 6,106 (222) 5,884
Gain on disposal of property, HENE BRRZEZ
plant and equipment Wi - - - - - - (@) (42)
Finance costs HEBAA - - - - - - 249,971 249,971
Gain on fair value change RENEZATELY
of investment properties Wi - - - - (37,314) (37,314) (14,107) (51,421)
Interest income FIEWA - - - - - - (4,757) (4,757)
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Other segment information (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. DHER )
Hit3BE R (@)

Year ended 31 March 2020
HEZSZEE-A-+-OIEE

Financial Financial ~ Logistics and Reportable
advisory  International  quarantee other Property segment
services trading services services  investment total  Unallocated Total
HBER BEER i BE: VL
k% ERESR % REMEE  WERE st ANE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i T ThEn TR T T ThEn i
Depreciation of property, NE BERZENE
plant and equipment 207 - 24 109 391 731 431 5103
Depreciation of right-of use assets ~~ EREEENE 3821 - - - - 3821 2,869 6,690
Allowance under expected credit BHEEBERIET B
loss model, net of reversal & n 456 691 - 173 204 4,681 6,723
(Gainloss on disposal of property,  HEWE \BERZEZ
plant and equipment () /BB - - - (4) - 4 8 4
Impairment loss on goodwill BERESE 15,318 - - - - 15,318 - 15,318
Finance costs BBRA - - - - - - BB 36
Gain on fair value change BENE ATERBNE
of investment Properties - - - - (35,790) (35,790) (110,79) (146,586)
Interest income HEHA - - - - - - (4,700) (4,700)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(continued)

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC. All the Group’s revenue from
external customers are based on locations of the

customers.

The Group’s revenue from external customers

and information about its non-current assets by

DEER (&

i

EBUNEHA RPIRS

cREERBINBERZPABWA

HRERFEMES D -

AEBERBIINBEFZBARBEE

FREtEI D 2 ERBEEERFBEU

geographical location of the assets are detailed I
below:
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets (note)
REIMBERZBA FRBEE (1)
2021 2020 2021 2020
ZEZ-fF “BCEE —Z-F ZTTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THERT TERT TERT
Hong Kong and Macau BB KRB 95,683 295,508 37,628 53,404
The PRC ] 127,995 129,990 4,612,437 4,093,271
223,678 425,498 4,650,065 4,146,675
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. Mzt . EREBEEIDESR T A
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

(continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

DEER (&

FTEFEFEHR
ERWALEREBBUAI0%ULE
L

2021 2020
—E_—F —ECEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Customer A (note 1) BRA (1) N/A &3& 177,295
Customer B (note 2) EEB (WaE2) 25,150 N/A 38 FB
Customer C (note 1) BRC (M) N/A &3& 56,372
1 Revenue from international trading segment. The 1 EREZDE 2 WA -BEFRAKC

revenue contributed by customer A and C during
the year ended 31 March 2021 were less than
10% of the Group's revenue.

2 Revenue from financial advisory services segment.
The revenue contributed by customer B during the
year ended 31 March 2020 was less than 10% of
the Group's revenue.

REE-_Z-_—-—F=RB=+—H
LEFEEMZBAGEERKRA
10%LLF e

2 MHEBRBERBDBZWA REE
TETERF-RB=+—HLFE:
ERBEMZ WA REBKA
10% LT o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 7. HhkA-EkEE
LOSSES
2021 2020
B —F —EIEHF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Continuing operations: FiBIREET
Other income Hg A
Interest income FEUA 4,757 4,700
Other gains and losses H it R #5148
Gain/(loss) on disposal HEWE BMERKZE
of property, plant and Wi, (B518)
equipment 42 4)
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain B % (§518) /U (31,389) 4,960
Gain on non-substantial BB AT EZ
modification of financial THaBEIFERETNE
liabilities measured at
amortised cost - 2,592
Loss on extinguishment of BEEEBHZEE
coupon bond = (1,533)
(Loss)/gain on fair value change IR AFEFTABZ Z
of financial assets at FVTPL, EMEEZATEEH
net (18 W= F5 (307) 19
Realised (loss)/gain from BAFEFAERE Z SR
financial assets at FVTPL BEZEEIB (BB WE (428) 2,670
Adjustment on carrying amount fE{f—REBHERIE
of amount due to a director IREE 2
(note 35) (B1#£35) 1,665 -
Adjustment on carrying amount EfthEEREE 2 B
of other borrowings (note 36) (M1at36) 3,092 -
Government grant (note) %8B (M 5E) 2,845 -
Others Hih 2,186 568
(22,294) 9,272
(17,537) 13,972
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND 7. HMU A ~ Y B 548 (&

LOSSES (continued)

Note: During the year, the Group recognised Mt R AEEMESBRFREN
government grants of HK$2,131,000 (2020: IR 7L 2 51 8 5 BE BY ¥ 0 A K 48 R
HK$Nil) in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies i Rh T HE SR B AT A Bh2,131,00078
relates to Employment Support Scheme provided T (CZTZF I FBIT) o8 MK
by the Hong Kong Government. The remaining N A EMB NN AER
government grant represents subsides and awards HEMSEZERTIESMBOEE
from local government authorities for the Group’s FEZED
contribution to the development of the local
economies.

FINANCE COSTS 8. VDN

2021 2020
—EZ—fF “E2TEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Continuing operations: FREEES:
Interest on bank and other IRTTREMERZFR
borrowings 157,029 131,345
Interest expenses on loan from BT EMZHERX
staff 830 2,408
Interest expenses on amounts BN —2ERREBZHEMAE
due to a director 1,697 -
Effective interest expense on .0 EEB/HZERFERE
9.0% coupon bonds 3,625 22,810
Effective interest expense on 65%REBBHZERFERE
6.5% coupon bonds 20,687 11,983
Effective interest expense on NRONEEGESFZERNEHRZ
12.0% coupon bonds - 5,851
Effective interest expense on 13.0%EZEEHFZERFERZ
13.0% coupon bonds 30,653 19,516
Imputed interest expense FERAERBIRIBELZ
from amount due to related HEHNEHEE
companies (note 35) (H13%35) 17,607 33,561
Imputed interest expense HfEMR 2 HEF Bz
from other borrowings (Hta£36)
(note 36) 15,566 -
Imputed interest expense from BT —REZRBEZ G
amount due to a director BHERMZ H5235)
(note 35) 1,453 -

Interest expenses on lease HEaEHNEMRZ

liabilities 824 656

Imputed interest expense L EAREFT E L RE L

from obligation arising HEMERZ
from put option - 8,122
249,971 236,252
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

8. FINANCE COSTS (continued) 8. MBMAE (&
There was no finance cost capitalised arose on the RBEE_E-_—EK_E-_FF=-
general borrowing pool during the year ended 31 =t+—HEFEE UEKRE—REE
March 2021 and 2020. MAHE 2 BRI B
9. ALLOWANCE UNDER EXPECTED 9. TEHAEEHEEXEBETZ#
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF & > N pR#EE[E]
REVERSAL
2021 2020
—E"—F —ZTTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Allowance for/(reversal of) MR IBEZIRHREEEERE
expected credit loss on: / (#E) -
— Trade receivables — U E ZERIE 301 1,304
— Trade receivables from — BN RIE A BB 5 RIE
related companies 60 1
— Loan receivables —EWER 499 3,019
— Factoring receivables —FEUN E ERIERNIE (170) 2,162
— Other receivables —HAE W ERIE 1,260 237
- Financial liabilities —THEE
- Financial guarantee —MBEERELN
contracts 3,934 -
5,884 6,723
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

10. FhiSiRZ

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

2021 2020
—E-—F I -E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax: BUHATR IS !
Hong Kong &% - 366
PRC RE 3,528 6,942
3,528 7,308
Underprovision/(overprovision)  BEEEEHETE,
in prior years: (HBEafEME) !
Hong Kong 5% 121 (102)
PRC FRE 23 (116)
144 (218)
Deferred tax (note 39) IIEFRIA (H15239) 11,795 32,684
15,467 39,774
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment)
(No. 7) Bill 2017 (the "Bill") which introduces
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2019 and was
gazetted on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will
be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax (the “EIT Law”) and implementation regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the Group’'s PRC
subsidiaries is 25% except that the concessionary
tax rate of 15% is applied to certain subsidiaries
recognised as "“Go-west” region development
programme corporate which is entitled to apply the
rate of 15%. The entitlement of this tax benefit is
subject to renewal by respective tax bureau in the
PRC every year.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

10.

FrisEZ (&

A TE-NE=ZB_+—H BB
FTEEB_E—tERE (B (B
75%) 1R G EZE (MEFIEZL) > 5| AF
BREMBE - FHAERRZZE—H
FZAZ+ N \HEERA LR IR
BHAE - REMNEBREMASG &
EREBEEH2,000,0008 T2 E
M 128.25% 5115 » MiE 82,000,000
BB RIR16. 5% R A&
MEREMAF 2EBERB 2 aME
MIER S —TRE16.5%s1 R

A > B2,000,0008 o iE st FERR IR
A2 EBNERIES.25%E M
#Bi82,000,0007 7T 2 (5t FERR 1R &
2z EBFBRIR16.5%TH

RIEPETEMGERZE TEEMRRT
MiZ) REERSREBRED > &
EETBNBRAE ZIRER25% 7 I
BERKISRBEANERIES EE
AR eREREECXEEREA
15% 2R ETFTHERBERIN It
MIBEERBZENARATEEBRER
BEETHEBA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10.
The income tax expense for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax from continuing
operations per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FRismZ (&)
AEEZERBEZTEEAER K
Hth>EWamRARBFELSS X
ZBRMAIBEZHIRNT ¢

2021 2020
—E-—F —EIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Continuing operations: FIEREET .
Loss before tax FRIS AT A58 (146,712) (79,262)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profit BEBNERFT165%TEZ
tax rate of 16.5% HiE (24,207) (13,078)
Tax effect of expenses not S HAERERIETR 2
deductible for tax purposes MBEEE 29,758 48,153
Tax effect of income not taxable WATRBEEBRZNEEE
for tax purposes (17,954) (3,290)
Tax effect of tax losses MEBEBRABEI 2 RBEEE
not recognised 39,063 12,598
Utilisation of tax losses previously B/ Z A1 RKED 2 M #5 K518
not recognised (8,794) (16,236)
Effect of different tax rates of REMAZEEMREE
subsidiaries operating MBARZ AEMEZHE
in other jurisdictions (2,543) 11,845
Under provision/(over provision) BEFFEEEERE (BIEEH)
in respect of prior year 144 (218)
Income tax expense for the year ZANEEFREHREX 15,467 39,774
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 11. FEEEE
2021 2020
—E-—5F —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Continuing operations: FHEREET .
Loss for the year has REEFBESIOR
been arrived at after (5t A) F3IEE -
charging (crediting):
Auditors’ remunerations TZ BB AN &
— Audit service - IZBARTS 1,850 1,950
— Other service - HMARTS 431 -
Depreciation of property, MEMERREITE
plant and equipment 7,159 5,103
Depreciation of right-of-use TREESENE
assets 9,980 6,690
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HE¥ X EREHZ
plant and equipment W) /E518 (42) 4
Staff costs (including BTRA (BIFEEEHE)
directors” emoluments)
Salaries and other benefits i s H @ A 50,213 56,790
Retirement benefit RRRA FT B
scheme contributions 2,682 4,559
52,895 61,349
Cost of inventories recognised MR ARSZ ZEEMA
as expenses - 259,305
Expenses relating to MG ERR M
short term lease 890 4,561
Gross rental income from NEYEZHET I ALLRE
investment properties (32,341) (34,209)
Less: direct operating B EEREWAZREYE
expenses incurred for EFzERKEHRx
investment properties that
generated rental income 4,716 4,269
(27,625) (29,940)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREIMNSE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ENHESTFER (TEZZF N
seven (2020: eight) directors and chief executive ) EERRBTHRAEZENME
were as follows: wr
Directors’ emoluments EEWE
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE_ZE_—F=-"B=+—HILEFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme Total
fees benefits contributions 2021
R RIREH st
£k Hiias] HER  ZBZ-&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAERT TAERT THERT
Executive directors HiTEE
Li Weibin ZER - 2,316 18 2,334
Siu Wai Yip HEXE - 1,806 18 1,824
Lau Chi Kit EHR - 420 - 420
Non-executive director FHITEE
Fung Sau Mui (Resigned on  JEFIE (RZBE-FF
21 October 2020) +BZ+—H#D 48 - - 48
Independent non-executive B HHTEE
directors
Lai Ka Fung, May 2B 198 - - 198
Chan Sim Ling, Irene [y 198 = = 198
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond EEER 720 - - 720
Total iazt 1,164 4,542 36 5,742
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

12. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' 12. EERETME (B)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BHEZEZF=-"HA=+—HILFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme Total
fees benefits  contributions 2020
& BAREF a5t
EENE 27 HEftE  —E”ZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TART
Executive directors HiTEE
Li Weibin FRM - 2,327 18 2,345
Siu Wai Yip BEEE - 1,815 18 1,833
Lam Suk Ling, Shirley Wil (R _E—hE
(Resigned on 4 April 2019) WA B &) - - - -
Lau Chi Kit Elf = - 423 - 423
Non-executive director FRITEE
Fung Sau Mui BE1E 192 - - 192

Independent non-executive B HHTEE

directors
Lai Ka Fung, May RKE 203 - - 203
Chan Sim Ling, Irene BRiER 203 - - 203
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond EEEES 720 - - 720
Total Mt 1,318 4,565 36 5,919
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive director’'s emolument shown
above were for her services as director of the
Company or its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

Mr. Li is also the chief executive of the Company
and his emoluments disclosure above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

During both years, no emoluments were paid
or payable by the Group to the directors of the
Company as compensation for loss of office or
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive

any emoluments in both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' 12. EFREIME (@)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Employees’ emoluments BT
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments ZK%E&% EaEz AR Mm%
in the Group, two (2020: two) were directors of the TECERFE WA AKRBEZE
Company whose emoluments were disclosed above. E HMEER EXHRE-BEZZE
The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: _—EZHZ—T——EIJJ:EFE’E?—F:
three) highest paid individuals who are neither a % (CTEIZF =) Rais AL
director nor chief executive of the Company for the (MEIEANBEE UT?FH‘?:%?‘TBU\
year ended 31 March 2021 are as follows: B) ZM=mT .
2021 2020
—E_—F —ETEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Salaries and other benefits HrEf R E @ 13,898 8,514
Retirement benefit scheme RREM F BN
contributions 54 24
13,952 8,538
The number of the highest paid employees who MENFTHNEEZWIFRABES
are not the directors of the Company whose ZEEHmMEEABNT
remuneration fall within the following band is as
follows:
2021 2020
—®T-% T ETH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
HK$1,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 1,500,001 75 %4,500,0007% 7T 1 2
HK$4,500,001 to HK$7,500,000 4,500,001 755%7,500,000%8 75 1 1
HK$7,500,001 to HK$10,500,000 7,500,001 752 10,500,0007& 7T 1 -
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13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees’ emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the five employees with the highest emoluments as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or

as compensation for loss of office.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2021, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2020: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss
per share from continuing and discontinued
operations attributable to the owners of the

12.

13.

14.

a0 W 5 2% B

ME-F-—E=A=T—HILERE
EERETIME (B

BIE &)
RBE_E_—FR_ZT_ZF=A
=t+—BLEFE AERLERAEM
hmeEnEE S MilE  (FRR
SIREMAREEFMARERFT 2
LRS-

KE

HE_ZE”_—F=A=+—HILFE

MR SR EIKOKRE  BIRSG

HERURREEZZRNTEMEE (Z

TTEF ) o

SREE

(a) FERKERERIEREXK
RABIER ANELREFER
ERERIEKEEHE 2 SRE
KRB TERIETLRIE T IHF

Company is based on the following data: B
Loss #5418
2021 2020
R - T TEH
HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Loss for the year attributable to AU ESRELRK
owners of the Company BEEB 2 ARE]
for the purposes of basic and A AELAREE
diluted loss per share 518 (178,853) (130,060)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

14.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 14. SREBE @)
(a)  Continuing and discontinued operations (a) FERER ORISR
(continued) (4
Number of shares RnEE
2021 2020
2% —EIZF
‘000 ‘000
The T
(Restated)
Gy
Weighted average number of RAUStESRERR
ordinary shares for the HEmE s ZERmE
purposes of basic and FEE
diluted loss per share 309,140 292,322
(b)  Continuing operations (b) TS ET
The calculation of the basic and diluted REFBRKEEB AR H

loss per share from continuing operations

BEABLSRERARBERBIE

attributable to the owners of the Company is THiRIE T EiRst &
based on the following data:
Loss [#518
2021 2020
R T EH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to  FBLUGIEEREARK
owners of the Company il oF s P N/NC|
for the purposes of basic and BEEABGEEE
diluted loss per share E518 (178,853) (119,152)

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for both basic and
diluted loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operations.

REFBECERERIEEERE
Bz ERERREEERA
Z N8 EXFrsF I EER o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(©)

Discontinued operation

The calculation of the basic and diluted

loss per share from discontinued operation

14. SKEIE (&)
(0 DRIMNEEERS
KEBRILEEEE S AAT
BEANEEEREARBEE

attributable to the owners of the Company is BIHRBETINEESE
based on the following data:
Loss 518
2021 2020
g —F —ECEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to  AUFTEEREARK
owners of the Company i D) OF S /N
for the purposes of basic and BEANELAREERSE
diluted loss per share - (10,908)

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for both basic and
diluted loss per share from continuing and

discontinued operations.

The weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic loss per share
has been adjusted for the effect of share
consolidation and capital reduction on 19
February 2021 and the rights issue on 25
March 2021. Details of the rights issue and
share consolidation are set out in note 40.

REFBEERERIEEER
Bz eRERKREBEEEA
2N EXFrsFIEER o

BAUSIEERERBIEZEE
RMEFEHHER ST —F
“Bt+thHZEMDEHERE
AHBRUR ZEZ—F=A
“t+RHZERZEETLUB
BoHRERBRDEHZEIFEH
Y EE40 0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

14.

LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

(©)

Discontinued operation (continued)

The denominator for the purpose of
calculating basic and diluted loss per share
for the year ended 31 March 2020 has been
restated to reflect the effect of the share
consolidation, capital reduction and rights
issue during the year ended 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and
2020, the computation of diluted loss per
share does not assume the exercise of the
Company's share options as the exercise
price of these options was higher than the
average market price of shares for both

years.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

14. SKREE (B&)

(c)

BRIEEEXET (&
REBEBE_Z_ZTF=A
=t+—HLEFESRERKE
BEE O ZOBEEY UR
MBEE_T_—F=H=+—
HiEFERRMD S RAH
R AR R

BE_Z_—FR_ZTETF
“A=+—HLFE &S
REEBETERREQEE
REETE RESZEBR
BZITEESKMEFERND
ZFHHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 R B AR

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

o7 ol
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ME-BEKRRHE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold Computer and office Motor  Construction
bulldln%: improvements equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total
HELH HEYE B KER . .
f& ElimE MAZRME A HEIR 7
HK$'00_0 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
CosT B
At 1 April 2019 R-B-N&EMA—A 43,130 6,587 3270 4,669 7,148 4,957 69,761
Additions RE - - 283 1,867 396 55,672 58,218
Transfer from investment EHHREYE

property (note 17(b)) (13£17(b)) 68,048 - - - - - 68,048
Disposals e - (1,003) (70) 93) (180) - (1:346)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—EIHER - (402) (66) (74) (482) - (1,024)
Exchange realignment”  ERBE (1,975) (257) (202) (300) (224) (1,716) (4,674)
Reclassification BB - - (4) 4 - - -
At 31 March 2020 and  RZZZZTE

1 April 2020 ZA=+—Hk

- :gigﬁﬁfﬁ 109,203 4,925 3,211 6,073 6,658 58,913 188,983
Additions - 1,187 705 8,761 2 8,274 18,929
Transfer from right-of-use Eﬁ" FREEE
assets (note 76) (it 16) - - - - 233 - 233
Disposals HE - (21) (652) (822) - (1,495)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—FEMBAE (18,264) (359) (76) - (18,699)
Exchange realignment Eﬁuﬂz 10,077 266 267 501 227 3,281 14,619
Reclassification BB 62,851 - (99) 99 - (62,851) -
At 31 March 2021 RIE=-%
ZA=+-H 163,867 6,378 3,704 14,706 6,298 7,617 202,570
DEPRECIATION &

1 April 2019 RZE—AENE—H 4,091 3,338 2,018 1,631 5,769 - 16,847
Charge for the year REERE 1,737 1,483 314 922 820 - 5,276
Eliminated on disposals 1 B 35 (1,003) (65) (86) (153) - (1,307)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—REMEAA - (194) (60) (35) (281) - (570)
Exchange realignment  EREXZ (48) (175) (132) (137) (169) - (661)
Reclassification BB - - (4) 4 - - -
At 31 March 2020 and

1 April 2020 =

- 5,780 3,449 2,071 2,299 5,986 19,585
Charge for the year AEERE 2,400 1,224 328 3,080 127 - 7,159
Transfer from right-of-use H# BHEAEEE
assets (note 76) (it 16) - - - - 233 - 233
Eliminated on disposals & &Y - (20) (628) (808) - (1,456)
Disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE—RMBAE (4,464) (355) (75) - - (4,894)
Exchange realignment”  ERHE 190 156 177 278 175 - 976
Reclassification BN - - (11) 11 - - -
At 31 March 2021 RIE=—-%
ZA=+-H 3,906 4,829 2,190 4,965 5,713 - 21,603
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2021 RITZ-%
ZRA=+-H 159,961 1,549 1514 9,741 585 7,617 180,967
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTE
A=1+-8 103,423 1,476 1,140 3,774 672 58,913 169,398
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:
Leasehold land Over the shorter of the
and buildings terms of the lease, or
30 years
Leasehold improvements 10% for owned assets
or over the lease terms
for the leased assets
Computer equipment 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10%
office equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

At 31 March 2021, leasehold land and buildings of
the Group with carrying value of HK$23,756,000
(2020: HK$35,942,000) were pledged with a bank

to secure a loan granted to the Group.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

15.

ME - -BERRE (B)

U LEME -BERKFEREMS
PRERIESN  MEHREITE IR
BzZER0NT:

e BEEFHY

BF 30F 2 BAEE

THEMEEE HEBER10%I

RHEEEE

ZHEFH

Bk 20%

R~ HE & 10%
NS

A 20%

A BT —F=-H=+—H ' &xEE
IRMEE 523,756,000 T (CE =
& 135,942,000 70) 2HE LMK
BFEEBETRIT (FARTEAER
BERZIEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. ERESE
Office
premises
and Staff Motor Office
uarters vehicles equipment Total
= FIER
R "E WARE 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET TET
CoST A

1 April 2019 RZZE-NFME—H 7,140 233 90 7,463
Additions NE 20,736 - - 20,736
Lease termination REXIE (1,295) - - (1,295)
Exchange realignment [E R (64) - 8 (56)
At 31 March 2020 and RZZE-ZF=F=+—H

1 April 2020 M_E_TENHA—H 26,517 233 98 26,848
Additions hE 6,902 368 - 7,270
Lease modification HEET (1,129) - - (1,129)
Termination &k (4,529) - - (4,529)
Disposal of subsidiary HEWRBAT (1,524) - - (1,524)
Transfer to property, BREME -FRERRE

plant and equipment (Wiz£15)

(Note 15) - (233) - (233)
Exchange realignment ERAE 4 4 8 16
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—-f=A=+—H 26,241 372 106 26,719
DEPRECIATION wE

1 April 2019 RIZ—NFNE—H - 83 - 83
Charge for the year KEERE 6,687 100 37 6,824
Lease termination AE&IE (306) - - (306)
Exchange realignment [ERAE 2) - (1) 3)
At 31 March 2020 and - f& A=+—-H

1 April 2020 Ez “EEMB—H 6,379 183 36 6,598
Charge for the year z&&rﬁﬂ% 9,839 103 38 9,980
Termination #2E (4,529) - - (4,529)
Disposal of subsidiary HEWBAT (1,524) - - (1,524)
Transfer to property, BEEE -BERRE

plant and equipment (H1i215)

(Note 15) - (233) - (233)
Exchange realignment ERAE 5 - 4 9
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—-f=A=+—-H 10,170 53 78 10,301
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2021 RZZ2Z-F£=ZA=+—-H 16,071 319 28 16,418
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEHE=B=1+—H 20,138 50 62 20,250
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. KREYE
2021 2020
—EZ—F “ETEHF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Completed properties held for  FELHENZEEAYE !
rental purpose:
At 1 April RUA—H 3,462,049 2,939,062
Transfer from investment BRBTEREME
property under construction - 736,095
Net changes in fair value REmERZ AT EEEFEE
recognised in profit or loss 41,059 49,771
Transfer to property, plant and B ZEY ¥ RE K&
equipment - (68,048)
Exchange realignment bE 2 sR %L 295,401 (194,831)
At 31 March R=A=+—H
(Notes (a), (b) and (c)) (H5# (@)~ (b)E(c)) 3,798,509 3,462,049
Leasehold land with HABERKEARZAE LM :
undetermined future use:
At 1 April rrHA—H 227,590 233,364
Net changes in fair value RiEEER 2 AT EEEFER
recognised in profit or loss 1,032 9,842
Transfer to investment BEETELREME
properties under construction (183,388) -
Exchange realignment BE 12 2R B 19,366 (15,616)
At 31 March (Notes (a) and (b)) TR =FB=-+—H (W&t k®b)) 64,600 227,590
Sub-total Vst 3,863,109 3,689,639
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17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

17. REWE (&

(continued)
2021 2020
—E-—F “ETEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
Investment properties under TREEWE .
construction:
At 1 April RUA—H 169,576 769,320
Additions wE 96,741 104,840
Transfer from leasehold land EEBRBERKARNEE
with undetermined future use T 183,388 -
Transfer to completed EREFFHHEZESRYE
properties held for rental - (736,095)
Net changes in fair value RiEEERZ AT EEE)FER
recognised in profit or loss 9,330 86,973
Exchange realignment BE 12 2R B 14,699 (55,462)
At 31 March "=RA=+—H
(Notes (a), (b) and (c)) (Mfat(a)~ (b)K(c)) 473,734 169,576
Total Mast 4,336,843 3,859,215
Unrealised gain on properties FFARFEEGRZ
revaluation included in MESHRER NG
profit or loss for the year 51,421 146,586

Notes:

The Group owns the shopping mall building

et

situated at the east side of Banyin Road, Bagiao
District, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC

(namely, Daminggong Construction Materials

and Furniture Shopping Centre (Dongsanhuan

Branch)) (“Xi'an Commercial Complex”) and a

project for the development of residential building

parcel adjacent to the Xi'an Commercial Complex

(“Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial Complex”).

AEBEABUNTERAY R
MBEBRESIRERAZEY O
BF (BAASEMRE R
[E) ((AREEKRIE)) REBER
FENERSHITZ FTETH
MEREE (BREEARESZ
HA)) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

17.

HEZZ

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the fair values of the
Xi'an Commercial Complex as determined
by Vigers Appraisal And Consulting Limited
("Vigers"”) are RMB2,075,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,455,040,000),
of the Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial
Complex are RMB241,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$285,731,000).
31 March 2021, the phase 2 of the Xi'an
Commercial Complex had been transferred from

and the fair value

During the year ended

leasehold land with undetermined future use
to investment properties under construction at
the fair value of RMB155,000,000 (equivalents
to HK$183,388,000) as determined by Vigers at
the transferred date. As at 31 March 2020, the
fair values of the Xi'an Commercial Complex as
determined by Vigers are RMB2,070,000,000
(equivalent to HK$2,257,361,000), and the fair
value of the Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial
Complex are RMB155,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$169,029,000), which included in the leasehold
land with undetermined future use.

The Group owns investment properties
(“Chinlink*Worldport investment properties”)
situated at the logistics park located at Hantai
district, Hanzhong City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC (“Chinlink*Worldport”) and the another
project for the development of logistics park,
which included in the investment properties under
construction of the Chinlink<Worldport (“Phase 2
of the Chinlink*Worldport”) and the remaining
undeveloped leasehold land portion of the
Chinlink*Worldport (“Hanzhong Land").

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

17.

REME (&

Hrat -

(a)

(&)
(&)

A ZEZ—F=A=+—H'&
M EETEHBEBAERAR (TH
B BE2AZEHERNER
ALEmEAEBE_HZAFME
DBAANRE2,075,000,0007C
(fBE#2,455,040,0008 7T) &
AR#241,500,0007 (FAE R
285,731,00087w) - #HE_-Z

T—E=ZA=+—HLEEE A
THEABE_HERKXEER
KRR HE T HMEREERER
EME HERGTTERENET
ZAFEAARM155,000,000
7T (B E 5 183,388,000 %) °
R-_BE-_EBEF=ZA=+—0" &
B EEZAZTHERERA
THERBE_HRZAFED
B A ANR#2,070,000,0007T %
AR #155,000,0007 (HHE R
2,257,361,000% 75 % 169,029,000
B st ARBEE RKARMNA
=t p:ul)

REBMBEBUNPEMRTEEER
mEREZRE (EERE .t
REB) 2REYE (EERE -
HREKREME)) URMLRYR
BEZz5—EMRZEEL  stAGESD
T WHRBZERREYE (MBE
hE e HRABE_H)) KEEF
% WHRBZ T RREEE T
By (MEH M) -
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the fair values of the
Chinlink e Worldport investment properties, Phase
2 of the Chinlink e Worldport and Hanzhong Land
as determined by Vigers are RMB500,100,000,
RMB158,900,000 and RMB54,600,000
(equivalent to HK$591,694,000, HK$188,003,000
and HK$64,600,000) respectively. As at 31
March 2020, the fair values of the Chinlink
e Worldport investment properties, Phase 2 of
the Chinlink e Worldport and Hanzhong Land
as determined by Vigers are RMB492,100,000,
RMB155,500,000 and RMB53,700,000 (equivalent
to HK$536,641,000, HK$169,576,000 and
HK$58,561,000) respectively.

The Group owns the commercial building situated
at the Junction of Fengcheng Tenth Road and
Wenjin Road, Weiyang District, Xi‘an, Shaanxi
Province, the PRC (“Chinlink International
Centre”).

As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of
Chinlink International Centre as determined
by Vigers are RMB635,400,000 (equivalent
to HK$751,775,000). During the year ended
31 March 2020, the construction of Chinlink
International Centre was completed and the
property had been transferred from investment
property under construction to completed
investment properties at the fair value of
RMB675,000,000 (equivalent to HK$736,095,000)
as determined by Vigers at the transferred date.
Out of which, a portion of Chinlink International
Centre was selfused by the Group as office and
the amount of RMB62,400,000 (equivalent to
HK$68,048,000) was transferred to property, plant
and equipment.

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

REME (&

(b)

WaE - ()

(&

W2 _-_—-—®£=ZH=Z+—8">
BT EEZ2EELS « HA
BREME ZEDS R
BEZHREP I M ZAFE
SR A AR®500,100,0007T
AER#158,900,0007c & AR
54,600,000 (1HE74591,694,000
HIT+188,003,0008 TR
64,600,000/ 7T) cIRZET T F
A=+ —H HEHEEZE
Ehg e HRABREWE ZEF
et ABE _HARER T
NFEED B A ANEEA492,100,000
TS AR®155,500,0007T &%
AR#53,700,0007 (BE R
536,641,00058 7T~ 169,576,000
TTR%58,561,0005 7T) °

AERESMNRTBEREYAZ
MARREBH T+ HBREXSKRIE
ENEEAE ((SEPSERSD
i) ©

ATE - —F=B=+—HB > E®&
EBEEZEERSEEFRLZA
FEAARE635,400,000T (B E
751,775,000 7T) - BHE_ZE
TEZF=+—HIFEE ZEH
TEBEPLZERBETM&REZY
XEHRERERERANEEY
NFEARYEE75,000,0007T (18
= 1736,095,00087T) HERE
EYEEREEEMREYE-HE
o EEREEER LN DT
MAEBRAEERANRAE AR
62,400,0007T (1HE 568,048,000
B 22 BEHEEEYVE -KRE
K&t o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

17.

LR R ES S

HEZZ

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

The Group's investment properties are categorised
into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There
were no transfer into or out of level 3 fair value
hierarchy during the year. At the end of each
reporting period, the directors of the Company
work closely with the independent qualified
professional valuer to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to be
used in determining the fair value of the investment
properties. Discussion of valuation processes and
results are held amongst directors of the Company

at least twice a year.

The fair values of all investment properties at 31
March 2021 were determined by Vigers (31 March
2020: Vigers).

For Xi'an Commercial Complex and Chinlink
International Centre, the valuation has been arrived
at using the income capitalisation approach. This
valuation method estimates the value of a property
on a market basis by capitalising rental income on a

fully leased basis.

For Chinlink e Worldport, Hanzhong Land and
Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial Complex, the
valuation has been arrived at using the market
approach by making reference to comparable sale
transactions as available in the relevant markets.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

17.

REWME (B)

RERBZKRENEDERATERER
ZEZB-FRNRAFEERZE=

B mE A S E L - NEIRES R

KA EERBILSEREEGER

EUEE USERETHAREER

BEMEATFTEZEEHER EREA

B xR RBEEEFEELHMEERER
R Rt smm )

FFBEREMER_Z_—F=A8
=t+—HZRAFEBREEEH (ZF
“ERF-A=t+—H ERIEE-

TP %7 3 KA e B R B R
DME GEEDEBRABERLER
HeZMEDZEEREELEREE
BERMCHEZWAMBEHBEREESY)
XZ@EE-

MEERES « HRBEP M KT
REMEREBFE MM EENHSE
HEHISA S ELREERZEA
HIGEER -
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(continued)

For Phase 2 of the Chinlink e Worldport which is
under construction, the valuation has been arrived
at using the residual approach by making reference
to recent sales transactions of completed properties
as publicly available to determine the adjusted
unit rate of the completed investment properties,
less estimated costs to completion and expected
developer’s profit margin so as to determine the
value of the proposed development as if these were
completed as at the date of valuation.

Vigers is an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group and has
appropriate qualification and recent experience
in the valuation of similar projects in relevant
locations.

In estimating the fair value of the investment
the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

properties,

At 31 March 2021, investment properties of the
Group with fair values of HK$3,260,293,000 (2020:
HK$2,986,151,000) were pledged with certain
banks to secure the loan facilities granted to the
Group.

Set out below is the significant unobservable inputs
used for fair value measurements:

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs

17.

%o W55 e 2% B o

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

REME (&

MAERRZEERSE « T BE 1
me BEDNE2EETHNEZR
HARAIRHERZRBRIGEEE
BOLEEERMRENEZEHE
BB F {45t 5 B A K FE HR 7
LM BR - EMECREERZ
BEENZEMEERNGEBRT
F) e

R ARANERTEREZBIIS

EREEGEM THEEABEERK

HAN BRI 2 BB ETEE
7 T HRAS B o

REAREMEZATER YEZ
EeRRERERSHERFZARK-

RIE-_—F=B=+—H &&EH
N{EA3,260,293,0008 7T (ZEZ
T 2,986,151,00087T) 2B EY
%’Eﬁ%%?fﬁﬁ ER B EBER
ERMEZERC

NTHREAARATEFEZERT
BERHAE:

BERERAEATIRRBABETA
FEFEZER
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(continued)

Fair value as at
31 March 2021

17.

Key unobservable inputs

REWE (&

Weighted average price

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

RIZZ-% FOBRBABAATE
=ZB=1+-BZA¥E IEFTRRHAE MEFHE 2Rk
HK$
BT
(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose
RELABENZERMYE
(i) Xi'an Commercial Complex
EEEEING
HK$2,455,040,000 Income capitalisation Monthly market rent, taking into Retail portion: RMB2.03 The higher the rent,
(RMB2,075,000,000) account the differences in (equivalent to HK$2.40) the higher the fair value
2,455,040,000%7¢ location and individual factors /sqm/day Heds ATEES
(AR #2,075,000,0007%) such as frontage and size Office portion: RMB1.01

between the comparables and
the property

SRTHHES G RITELR
REEZMEZAERENRE
(MEBEHARARRE) 2ER

(equivalent to HK$1.19)
/sqm/day

Carpark portion: RMB585
(equivalent to HK$690)
per month per lot

TERD  ARH2.037
(BER2408T) /
Ry VA=

PAEBH  ARE1.01T
(HERM198T) /
Ry VA=

BEAHS ARS8
(IHER690%T) /B /1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREWME (&
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2021 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RZBZ-& FUHRZHAEAATE
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER & TERTHRHAE mEFHE pd
HK$
BT
(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose (continued)
REHHENZERRNE (B)
(i) Chinlink » Worldport
investment properties
EEREHRE
RENE
HK$591,694,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross Retail portion: RMB9,113 The higher the price,
(RMB500,100,000) migA floor area which derived from (equivalent to HK$10,782) the higher the fair value

591,694,003 &
(ANE#500,100,0007)

the construction area, using
direct market comparables
and taking into account of
adjustments on location, footfall
and development scale factor
REREERZERAERZ
BTARER LRAEETS
ELERIER RS RAMAE
ERRERRERR 2B

(ifiy  Chinlink International Centre
EEQZERHL
HK$751,775,000

Income capitalisation ~ Monthly market rent, taking

(RMB635,400,000) approach into account the difference in
751,775,000% 7T WAE ARG location and individual factors
(AE635,400,0007T) such as frontage and size

between the comparables and
the property
SRMHES K RAIELR
EEAZWEZUERENRR
MEFRRRR) 228

/sgm Bigus A TEER

Accommodation/office
portion: RMBS5,153
(equivalent to HK$6,097)/

Warehouse portion: RMB294
(equivalent to HK$348)/sqm

TEHN AR 13T
(1BER10,78287) /
THK

E/BAEHH . ARE
5,1537 (& 146,097
Br) /TRK

BEHSD  ARHE29%7
(HER348%ET) /FHH

The higher the rent,
the higher the fair value
Heds ATEES

Retail portion: RMB2.23
(equivalent to HK$2.64)/
sqm/day

Office portion: RMB2.61
(equivalent to HK$3.09)/
sqm/day

Carpark portion: RMB550
(equivalent to HK$650.73)/
month/lot

DERD  ARH2.237
(IEER2.64757)
/ERK/B

PAEBH  ARE2617T
(HEER3.09%7)
/ERK/B

FE(IH 1 ARH5507T
(FBE1R650.7387T) /
B/f@
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

JL = =1
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEWME (B
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2021 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
KZIEZ—% FUBREAEAATE
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER# TERTRZHAR MEFHE 2R
HKS
BT
) Leasehold land with undetermined future use
HABEARRAGRZBELH
(i) Hanzhong Land
Ehti
HK$64,600,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross Commercial land: RMB278 The higher the price,
(RMB54,600,000) M floor area which derived from (equivalent to HK$329) the higher the fair value
64,600,000 7T the area of land and respective /sqm BREs ATEES
(AE54,600,0007T) plot ratio, using direct market ~ Residential land: RMB220
comparables and taking into (equivalent to HK$260)
account of adjustments on /sqm
location, land use right terms ~ EE L3 1 AE#2787
and development scale factor (lEER329%87) /FHK
FEIHEBRZREAREZETH AT1id: ARK20T
AERREMARE UFAE (lHER2608TT) /FHK
BB ELBIER R R
B THEARFRRERR
BREZ#HE-
(3) Investment properties under construction
TRRENE
(i) Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial Complex
AREEAIRE M
HK$285,731,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross RMB1,946 (equivalent The higher the price,
(RMB241,500,000) migA floor area which derived from to HK$2,302)/sqm the higher the fair value
285,731,000 7T the area of land and respective AR #1,9467% Bk ATEES
(AR #241,500,0007) plot ratio, using direct market (BER2,30287) /TH*

comparables and taking into
account of adjustments on
location, land use right terms and
development scale factor

FEIHERZRRERZETH
KERREBARE IREE
BB ELBIER REH R
B THEREFRRERR
BREZBE.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. KEWME (&
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2021 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
KZIEZ—% FUBREAEAATE
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER# TERTRZHAR MEFHE 2R
HK$
BT
3) Investment properties under construction (continued)
TREENE B
(i)~ Phase 2 of the Chinlink e Worldport
ZEREHREFE_H
HK$188,003,000 Residual approach (i) Market price, taking into Retail portion: RMB4,938 The higher the rent,
(RMB158,900,000) HEE account the differences (equivalent to HK$5,842) the higher the fair value
188,003,000 7T in location, and individual /sqm s ATEES
(AE158,900,0007T) factors, such as frontage Accommodation/office
and building age, between portion: RMB3,021
the comparables and the (equivalent to HK$3,574)
property /sqm
() HE SHRIELRER TEHH  AKH4938T
BEMEZUERENRRZ  (BERS8428T) /FAX
MEEHRRER) 22 EB/WAESS .
g AE#3,0217
(IRER3,57487) /FHK

Expected developer profit ~ 20%
FHEEEER

The higher the expected
developer profit, the lower
the fair value

EHREmENEE

ATEHE
Construction cost to RMB28,418,000 The higher the cost,
complete ANE128,418,0007T the lower the fair value
BETHMAA RAHS ATERE
Discount rate 9.5% The higher the discount rate,
BRE the lower the fair value
BREME ATEMR
Rate of finance cost 9.5% The higher the rate of finance
BRI AR X cost, the lower the fair value
R NSty
AT EHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

JL = =1
17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEWME (B
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2020 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RZIEZEHE FUBRAANBEATEZH
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER# TERTRZHAR MEFHE &
HK$
BT
(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose
RELBEENZBRMME
(i) Xi'an Commercial Complex
ESEE YN
HK$2,257,361,000 Income capitalisation Monthly market rent, taking into Retail portion: RMB2.55 The higher the rent,
(RMB2,070,000,000) approach account the differences in (equivalent to HK$2.78) the higher the fair value
2,257,361,000% 7 WABRIEZ location and individual factors /sqm/day Heds ATEES
(AE2,070,000,0007T) such as frontage and size Office portion: RMB1.03
between the comparables and (equivalent to HK$1.12)
the property /sqm/day

SHMAHAE L RAELE  Carpark portion: RMB583
BEEZMEZMERMENIRE  (equivalent to HK§636)
MEEHMRARRE 222 per month per lot
ZEHS | ARB2557
(lHER2.78% )
/RH*/R
WA ARE1.037
(ER1.1287)
/RH*/R
B | ARIE5837
(lBER636%7) B/
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREWME (&
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2020 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RIZZEE FUBRAANBEATEZH
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER & TERTHRHAE mEFHE f#
HK$
BT
(1) Completed properties held for rental purpose (continued)
REHHENZERRNE (B)
(i) Chinlink » Worldport
investment properties
EETEHRERENE
HK$536,641,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross Retail portion: RMB8,953 The higher the price,
(RMB492,100,000) hisE floor area which derived from (equivalent to HK$9,763) the higher the fair value

536,641,000 71
(AR 1£492,100,0007%)

the construction area, using /sqm

direct market comparables Accommodation/office

and taking into account of portion: RMB5,069

adjustments on location, footfall ~ (equivalent to HK$5,528)/

and development scale factor sqm
FERERBZREEREZ Warehouse portion: RMB291

STHRER LRAERTS

ALBREEREHRMUE. TEHD ARES9537T

BERRERRERZZER (lBER9,763%7) /FHK
B/ WA
ARHS,0607 (RER
5,58%70) /FHAK
BESS  ARB291T
(BER317ER) /FH*
(i) Chinlink International Centre
EEREEBFL
HK$668,047,000 Income capitalisation ~ Monthly market rent, taking Retail portion: RMB4.80
(RMB 612,600,000) approach into account the difference in (equivalent to HK$5.23)/sqm/
668,047,000 7T WAB &L location and individual factors day

(AR #612,600,0007T) such as frontage and size
between the comparables and
the property day

SAMEHES T RAELR  Carpark portion: RMB550
BEEZMEZMERMEANEZEZ  (equivalent to HK$600)/
(MEEnARRE) 228 month/lot

TERD  ARH480TT
(1ER5.23%87)
/EAR/ R

WAEHS  AR¥2167T
(IER2.3687)
/EAR/ R

EBEUBS : AR50
(tRER600%T) /A /B

Office portion: RMB2.16

(equivalent to HK$317)/sqm

(equivalent to HK$2.36)/sqm/

Bits ATEYUS

The higher the rent,
the higher the fair value
HeHs ATEES
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

17.
(continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

17.

REWE (&

Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2020 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RZIEZEHE FUBRAANBEATEZH
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER# TERTHRHAE mEFHE f#
HKS
BT
) Leasehold land with undetermined future use
HABEARRAGRZBELH
(i) Phase 2 of the Xi'an Commercial Complex
ERHEAEE_H
HK$169,029,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross RMB1,578 (equivalent The higher the price,
(RMB155,000,000) M floor area which derived from to HK$1,720)/sqm the higher the fair value
169,029,000 7T the area of land and respective AR 1,5787¢ BREs ATEES
(AR #155,000,0007c) plot ratio, using direct market (ER1,72087) /FhHK
comparables and taking into
account of adjustments on
location,land use right terms and
development scale factor
FETHEBRZRERRZ
STHRERRBRARE
UHRAEETHIELRERR
BARMUE LHERAEES
REBRERE 2B
(i)~ Hanzhong Land
L
HK$58,561,000 Market approach Price per square metre of gross Commercial land: RMB274 The higher the price,
(RMB 53,700,000) migA floor area which derived from (equivalent to HK$299) the higher the fair value
58,561,000 7 the area of land and respective /sqm Bigus A TEER
(AE53,700,0007T) plot ratio, using direct market ~ Residential land: RMB216
comparables and taking into (equivalent to HK$236)
account of adjustments on /sqm
location, land use right terms BERM  ARK2747T
and development scale factor (lER299%87T) /FHK
FEIHERZERERZ AN ARE2167T
BEARERRERRER (EER236#87) /FHK
WHRAERTFTELEEER

EEHRMME T ERRER

RERAERRZEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BREWME (&
(continued)
Fair value as at Valuation Relationship of unobservable
31 March 2020 techniques Key unobservable inputs Weighted average price inputs to fair value
RIZZEE FUBRAANBEATEZH
ZB=t+-HZATHE &ER & TERTHRHAE mEFHE f#
HKS
BT
3) Investment properties under construction
TERENE
(i) Phase 2 of the Chinlink » Worldport
EETEHRBEH
HK$169,576,000 Residual approach (i) Market price, taking into Retail portion: RMB4,841 The higher the rent,

(RMB 155,500,000)
169,576,000 7T
(NE#155,500,0007T)

RErER

account the differences (equivalent to HK$5,279)
in location, and individual /sqm

the higher the fair value
BEREs ATEER

factors, such as frontage Accommodation/office

and building age, between portion: RMB2,956

the comparables and the (equivalent to HK$3,224)

property /sqm

mE S RIEERERE ZEHD  ARB484T

BEMEZOUERENRRZ  (BERS279%7T) /FAX

MEEHRRER) 22 B/ WAESD ARKE

L 2,95670 (FE13,224%70)
/ERR

Expected developer profit ~ 20%
FHEEEER

The higher the expected
developer profit, the lower
the fair value

EHREmENEE

ATEHE

Construction cost to RMB28,418,000 The higher the cost,
complete ANE128,418,0007T the lower the fair value
BETHMAA RAHS ATERE
Discount rate 9.5% The higher the discount rate,
BRE the lower the fair value

BREME ATEMR
Rate of finance cost 9.5% The higher the rate of finance
BRI AR X cost, the lower the fair value

FBRANRES ATEL
1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

18. GOODWILL 18. HE
HK$’000
FAT
COST D%
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RIZE—hFM™A—H-
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 —EFEF=HB=+—H"
“EIZFNA—HK
2 —F=F=+—H 42,716
IMPAIRMENT BB
At 1 April 2019 A ZE—-NFEMNA—H 10,161
Impairment loss recognised in the year FENER 2 BERE 15,318
At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and N_ZE_ZF=HA=+—H"
31 March 2021 “E2ZFNB—HBRK
—E—HF=B=+—H 25,479
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 March 2021 RIEZ—F=H=+—H 17,237
At 31 March 2020 N ZEZEF=-A=+—H 17,237

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
has been allocated to MCM Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries which represents the provision of

financial advisory services, together as one group of BN M—ARSEFEURALE
CGUs, which represents the lowest level within the EASEEREMsERgEAFT
Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal RN EBEHPER 2 MR
management purposes and is not larger than the BRERE D E 2 RIEARB ©

operating segment of financial advisory services

that are expected to benefit from the business

combination.
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18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

GOODWILL (continued)

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs
has been determined based on a value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and a
discount rate of 14% (2020:14%). The growth
rates of the cash flows projections are 8%
(2020:12%) within the 5-year period. This growth
rate is based on the unit's past performance
Other key

assumptions for the value in use calculations relate

and management’s expectations.

to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which
include budgeted sales and gross margin, such
estimation is based on the unit’s past performance
and management’s expectations for the market
development.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, as the
actual performance of MCM Holdings Limited
and its subsidiaries was satisfactory as expected.
As at 31 March 2021, the recoverable amount of
the group of CGUs amounted to HK$72,721,000,
the directors of the Company determined that no
impairment of goodwill was recognised in profit or
loss.

During the year end 31 March 2020, as the actual
performance of MCM Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries was unsatisfactory as expected. As at
31 March 2020, the recoverable amount of the
group of CGUs amounted to HK$33,799,000,
the directors of the Company determined that
an impairment loss on goodwill amounting to
HK$15,318,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

18.

%o W55 e 2% B o

BEZZE-—F=A=+—HILEE
HmE (F

ZHREEFBEAUZOROIERELE
REREBEAELIET -BRETtE/E
REEEEEBMLEESERAERM™
MBEER14% (CEZTF 1 14%)
ZHIRESHZRESRETARAIEH -
REEHRBRZRBEREREEEX
A8% (CEZEE 1 12%) o ZIEE
RILRBEMNBAEREBEREEETEH
BT -ARAMGHERESTA RHZ®
BEEFELAZHMEREBREESE
HIEEREMNE BRMETIERZ
BRzaFRAKEEBHMIBEE
2 FEHR o

BE_Z_—HF=B=+—HLHF
E > HFAMCM Holdings Limited & E
MEARNERRRENTER -1
e —F=—A=+—H ZERETE
FEBAZAUREISEEAT72,721,0008
T AR ESEE L ENIBE P
HEBEERE

BE_ S _ZFE=ZRB=+—HILE
FE > HAMCM Holdings Limited sz E
MEABNERKRREAWMERHE K
ECEFE-A=-+—H ZEREE
F Bz N EIEEEA33,799,00078
T AR EEEEERER P E
R ERTE15,318,0008 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

18.

19.

GOODWILL (continued)

If the discount rate was changed to 16%
(2020:16%), while other parameters remain
constant, the recoverable amount of the CGUs
of the Group would reduce to HK$69,110,000
(2020: HK$31,898,000) and no additional
impairment of goodwill would be recognised (2020:
HK$1,900,000).

If the growth rate of revenue were changed to
5% (2020:5%) within the 5-year period while
other parameters remain constant, the recoverable
amount of the CGUs of the Group would reduce
to HK$63,959,000 (2020: HK$26,130,000) and
no additional impairment of goodwill would be
rerognised (2020: HK$3,911,000).

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

On 12 December 2019, Chinlink Mega Limited
(“Chinlink Mega”),
subsidiary of the Company, and Xi‘an Qujiang

an indirect wholly-owned

Cultural Financial Holdings Limited (“Xi’an Qujiang
Cultural”) entered into the disposal agreement,
pursuant to which Chinlink Mega agreed to sell and
Xi'an Qujiang Cultural agreed to acquire 37.5%
of the equity interest in Chinlink Finance Lease
Company Limited (the “Chinlink Finance Lease”)
for a total cash consideration of about RMB93.2
million (equivalent to approximately HK$103.9
million).

Upon completion on 17 December 2019, the
Chinlink Finance Lease was cease to be a subsidiary
of the Company and become an associate of the
Company. The financial results of Chinlink Finance
Lease is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company using the equity
method.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

18.

19.

HmE (E

WEEIRR BN A16% (CE T HF !
16%) MEMSHHEFTIE KEH
2REESEMZAIKEIEER R
0 %E69,110,0008 T (CE_ZF !
31,898,000/ 0) Rt MEEDEHE
RESMRE (T2 ZEF 0 1,900,0008

7o) °

MW AEEERAFHRBRENRS
5% (ZE_ZE4 1 5%) MEMEBH
RS AEBCZRSELEMNY
B Y [Bl & 2B R E63,959,00078 7T

—Z T EAF 26,130,000 7T) K&
TERERIEEZBEINEE (CTEZE
£ 13,911,000 7T) °

R—EEARZES
RIE—HNE+_A+ZH &xQF
ZEEE2EWRBATE RIKEARA
B (Mg k) BTl I bEm
2R (EE) BRAR (THEZHMIX
161) ST HEWZ  HRIh > B JLE
FERGEMAZTHT LR EWEZ
EremEEERRAE ((BEDE
BBEHEE)) 237.5%KRE BEER
BHA ANR193,200,0000 (FHE R
#9103,900,000# 7T) ©

R ZE-NF+ZA+tHEME>
EEPERMEEENBAEATZMH
BRB) MEAERABZHERT -
EEPEMEEREZMBEEERA
B EZNERBZEEHHRERFA
fRo
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. EREIZREE (B
(continued)
2021 2020
—B_—F “ETEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cost of investment in C—EBMERABREZMAE
an associate 69,064 -
Fair value of investment R—EBEARREZATE
in an associate - 69,787
Share of post-acquisition profit D1 HE B A 9,684 935
Share of exchange differences ﬁfﬁﬁ/\_ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ/& REZ
of investment in an associate RER 6,173 (1,658)
84,921 69,064

Particulars of the Group’s associate as at 31 March

AEEBMEANN BT _—FR-ZF
A=+

2021 and 2020 was as follows: —E2FE= —BZHBOT
Place of Percent of
Particulars of registration owner
Name issued shares and business interest  Principal activity
WA A
2y BRITRMNFE SR E R BALE  EEXRH
Chinlink Finance Lease RMB244,800,000 PRC 25% Finance lease
Company Limited
EEPEMEBEERRAR AKK244,800,0007T & MEHRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE
19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. hE AT 2R (B)
(continued)
Set out below is the summarised financial TXHIANEFBBENE 2 HHFEER
information of the Group’s associate. BEE o
2021 2020
—E-—5F —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Current assets RENEE 258,900 242,556
Non-current assets FERSEE 363,015 45,455
Current liabilities mBAaE (124,278) (8,299)
Non-current liabilities ERBERF (157,954) (3,457)
Revenue WA 57,999 4,682
Expenses X (19,262) (943)
Profit for the year/period FHBREF) 38,737 3,739
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) &,/ #AREMEEHEF],
for the year/period (E518) 24,692 (6,606)
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) €/ HERZ2EEF],
for the year/period (B548) 4838 63,429 (2,867)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest
in the associate recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

FHAMBFENBMERAR GRS HRE
BRBZRBEAD ZRmREEZY

iRk :

2021 2020
—®RT-F T ETH
Net assets of ZEPEHEREEESRE
Chinlink Finance Lease 339,683 276,255
Proportion of the Group's interest KEBNR ZEFSHEREY
in Chinlink Finance Lease 1 5 EE A5 25% 25%
The carrying amount AEEREETESHEENEZ
of the Group's interest in R AREE
Chinlink Finance Lease 84,921 69,064
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20.

21.

22.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

DEPOSIT PAID FOR LAND AUCTION
The amount represents earnest money of
RMB8,990,000 (equivalent to HK$10,637,000)
(2020: RMB8,990,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,804,000) paid to the PRC government
authority for the expropriation of land for auction
to be held by the PRC government authority.
The purpose for acquisition of the land is for
development of the Chinlink e Worldport. The
amount was treated as earnest money that would
be used to offset the land cost upon acquisition of
the land.

AMOUNTS DUE TO FORMER
SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due to former subsidiaries are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
The amounts due to former subsidiaries were fully
settled during the year ended 31 March 2021.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20.

21.

22.

a0 W 5 2% B
BE_Z-_F=H=1+—HILEE

T EZ B HiERE
ZARIEE T IR E 2 M E BT
HMAZMZzHEES ARNS, 990,000
7T (FBE 710,637,000 7T) (&
TE . ARK8,990,0005t (HHE R
9,804,000787T) ) LARL A 1 A0 B B AT
BRPIRIT 2 I E UL T o W %
THETEMEZEDS « HFEBZ
IEH R AU T & B T
THIRAZHES -

P& 11 A BfY I 2 B AR IR

FEATRIB B A B AR IE 2 SR 4E 19 ~ R 51
ERBEEREE -BAURNBEARK
ERBE_Z_—HF=-RB=+—H1t
FEABEHGER

BRAFEFAABEZEHMEE

2021 2020
—E_—F —ZTTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unlisted equity investments EEMRRRE (Wita)
(note (a)) 12,601 11,693
Payment for a life insurance policy A SR R E Z ™
(note b) (H1z£ (b)) 11,610 12,825
24,211 24,518
Notes: Myt
(a) The unlisted equity investments represent (a FLEMEREERN M & E

investment in unlisted equity securities issued by
a private entity incorporated in Singapore and the
United Stated. It was measured at fair value as at
31 March 2021 and 2020.

BRI 2 T A BB BT 2
LR REESRE  EDRER T
T ER-B-SEZA=T-—
Az AT EEo

Annual Report 2021 %8 | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE H 45 [ B 2 1t A5 PR 23 ]

257



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. BRATFEAIEGZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS ()
(continued)

st ()

258

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Chinlink Alpha Limited (”“Chinlink Alpha”)
which is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, entered into a life insurance policy with
an insurance company on Mr. Li, a director of the
Company. Under the policy, Chinlink Alpha, being
the beneficiary and policy holder, is required to
pay an upfront payment for the policy. Chinlink
Alpha may request a partial surrender or full
surrender of the policy at any time and receive
cash back based on the value of the policy at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the
gross premium paid at inception plus accumulated
guaranteed interest earned and minus insurance
premium charged (the “Cash Value”). If such
withdrawal is made at any time during the first
to the fifteenth policy year, as appropriate, a
predetermined specified surrender charge would
be imposed.

The payment for a life insurance policy was carried
at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 March
2021 and 2020.

Particulars of the insurance policy are as follows:

(b)

FEBZIFEEMNBRABERE
BERAS (TEREE) AR
BEFEFREARBABIIA
ERBRE -BEZRE EhE
B EIRTmARREFAAN) At
ZREZARMAR - EhEEH
EREXFIHE2ERF LIRE
ZMMRERRFEBNEERER
T BARBERBENRABEREFERE
T HY R B A8 EE N PRBRER BV R 5t
REFNBLIRFRERESER
B (TREEE) HWRE—EF
+ R B & R FEREE AR ERE
(MER) > BIZABNTRELEEN
BERRKE-

RIEZ-—ERZZEZFTF=R
=+—B ASREFREZM™D
BATEFFAEDIRe

RERIRESF BT ¢

Guaranteed interest rates

BEFIE
The first Sixth year
Insured sum Upfront payment five years and onwards
BRREEH SEARARNEN BREFE SHRERHE
UsSD5,019,000 uUsD1,540,000 3.90% 2.25%
(equivalent to HK$39,384,000)  (equivalent to HK$12,084,000) per annum per annum
5,019,000% 7t 1,540,000 71 FF3.90% FF2.25%

(#BE 139,384,000 7T)

(FBE 712,084,000 7T)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

LOAN RECEIVABLES 23. ERER
2021 2020
k- Sy S S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Fixed-rate loan receivables Bl E F] KW E R 177,102 81,273
Analysed for reporting MBHRARFL Z AT :

purposes as:

Current RE 177,102 81,273
The amount represents the outstanding loan ZARBEIEBIE=ZA2ZHKEERRE
receivables from independent third parties which WEH ZRBEABRIRRRZEES
are unsecured and carry interest at fixed-rates MENFTIO0O%EI8.0% (ZEZE

ranged from 7.0% to 18.0% per annum (2020:
fixed-rates ranged from 11.0% to 18.0% per
annum). The weighted average effective interest
rate of the loan receivables is 10.08% (2020:
15.16%) per annum. The amounts at both 31
March 2021 and 2020 are repayable within 12
months from the loan advance dates.

FIBEEFEMENF11.0%E18.0%)
R BRERZMEFEABEREA
KAESF10.08% (ZTE_ZT & .
15.16%) - N _BE_—EFEKR_E-F
F=ZRB=+—HZREBEHERBRNE
FHEBE+-EAREER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

23.

24,

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group’s loan receivables balances are not
past due at 31 March 2021. There is allowance
for expected credit losses of approximately
HK$3,548,000 included in the carrying amount
of loan receivables as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$3,019,000). Details of impairment assessment
of loan receivables are set out in note 49.

FACTORING RECEIVABLES

The amount represents the outstanding loan
principals and accrued interest from independent
third parties which are secured by trade receivables
of the counterparties with full recourse and carry
interest at fixed rate ranged from 5.0% to 8.0%
per annum (2020: 5.0% to 8.0% per annum). The
weighted average effective interest rate of the
factoring receivables is 6.68% (2020: 6.68%) per
annum. The Group's factoring receivables as at
31 March 2021 are repayable within 12 months
from the loan advance dates and not past due.
There is allowance for expected credit losses of
approximately HK$2,103,000 included in the
carrying amount of factoring receivables as at 31
March 2021 (2020: HK$2,162,000).

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in
note 49.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

23.

24,

EWER (&
AEBZEREREHFN S —
EZA=Z+—HUuEABF N
T—F=B=+—H EWEZZ
KEERNCHEHCEEBEREAY
73,548, 0008 T (Z22FF .
3,019,000/ 7T) ° B E R 2/ ET
{HEEIBE R K EE49

FE U i E (RIEFRIE

ZREEXABBILE A2 AEE
ERAERESHE  UR 55 F W
E2HBREZENRESRBELR
U ZEEEMENTF5.0%E8.0%
“ETZF  FHNEK50%%E8.0%)
FTREWNAmERERIBZIMEFS
ERENXAE668% (CBE_THF .
6.68%) cKREBNR_ZTZ—F=1
=t+—BZERFREREBEERRM
EXHBERI2EARNEE B &
oM —_E-_—F=ZB=+—H E
WEEREFBREENZEREES
F BB 49 42,103,0008 T (B
T 12,162,000 7T) ©

BB 2 5FIBE P sE49 o

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ v 5 B B PE R A BR 23 5] | Annual Report 2021 53R



25.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER

25.

FEU & 57 AR TE ~ Hth R UL AR

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND BE-BEkFEMRIE
PREPAYMENTS
Trade receivables FE N & 5 iR 18
2021 2020
T —fF BB
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Trade receivables FEUL & 5 BR 18
- goods and services —E R 32,771 23,433
— operating lease —REHE 931 846
- Financial guarantee contracts —BIEEZEFREEL 937 13,516
34,639 37,795
Less: Allowances for B TEHAEE
expected credit losses I8 (818) (3,784)
33,821 34,011
A —

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the carrying
amounts of trade receivables (net of allowance
for expected credit losses) from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$33,029,000 and
HK$33,205,000 respectively.

AR R _EB_EBHE=A
—t+—HBH EREFREHNEZKREZ
REE GIREREEEEER) 2
B117333,029,00078 7T 5233,205,0007%8

JT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

25.

LR R ES S

HEZZ

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade
receivables (net of allowance for expected credit
losses) presented based on the invoice date at the

end of the reporting period:

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

25.

FEU & 57 AR TE ~ Hth FE UL AR
B BERFEMRIE E)

EWE ZRE (&)

REBERREARZERHIZ2IEUY

BZREBENGEREEERER <
BRECDATUOT ¢

2021 2020
—E_—F —ETEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
0 — 30 days TE=4H 8,441 13,717
31-90 days =+—HENTH 2,392 3,641
>90 days A+BXUE 22,988 16,653
33,821 34,011
The Group's credit terms for its major customers of AEBATEEBRESGZFERR Y
international trading are usually 7 days to 30 days. EERBERTtHE=1TH -&x&H
The credit terms granted by the Group to other ETHEREZ2HEMEZBEBAZE

trade debtors of international trading are normally
30 days.

Customers related to financial guarantee services
are required to settle either on monthly instalments
in arrear or upon signing of the financial guarantee
services contracts or relevant consultancy services
contracts.

The Group’s credit terms for its customers related
to logistics services and financial advisory services
are normally 30 days to 90 days.

Details of impairment assessment of trade
receivables are set out in note 49.

Ef—MmB=1H-

FRREERRBZERBZADH
AN RFTMERFRRT LA
HEBERB GO (T

~EBGT HB B MRS & M 5 R
BRBzERZEEH—RA=1TH
EAt+He

FEWE 7 ARIE 2 R E T S IR R A MY
3490
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Trade receivables from related company

As at 31 March 2021, trade receivables from related
companies of HK$5,888,000 (net the allowance
for expected credit losses of HK$61,000) (2020:
HK$161,000 (net the allowance for expected
credit losses of HK$1,000)) were aged within 30
days based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period.
Details of impairment assessment of trade
receivables from related company are set out in

note 49.

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments

25.

FEUs & 5 AR IE ~ Hth FE UL AR
B BERFEMRIE E)

FEWRIE Bz B RIE
R_Z_—F=ZB=+—H Ek
FE A B 2 B 5 IR185,888,0004 7T
(NpRFEHAE BB #61,00058 7T)

B FH 161,000 5w (0%
TEHAE B 18 5451,0008 ) ) IR
RBEHRARZEEHHREA=1TH
ﬁqo

RIRREARZ B S REZRE G
SHIEE M EE49©

HEUWERIE & R FBIRIE

2021 2020
—EZ—F —Z2TE2H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Other receivables HhEUW AR 34,962 23,251
Deposits and prepayments e REMRIE 15,412 12,708
50,374 35,959

Analysed as: SaR I
Current TRE) 47,332 32,801
Non-current JERE 3,042 3,158
50,374 35,959

Details of impairment assessment of other

receivables are set out in note 49.

EL A P& IR AR T8 2 el 18 5 1 5% 15 S S B
i490
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

26.

27.

HEZZ

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The pledged bank deposits represent deposits
placed with certain banks as securities in return for
the banks to provide loans to the Group's financial
guarantee services customers and banking facilities
for international trading business. These pledged
bank deposits have a maturity of less than a year
as at 31 March 2021 (2020: a maturity of less than

one year).

At 31 March 2021,
interests at an average rate of 2.03% (2020:

pledged bank deposits carry

1.23%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits are set out in note 49.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 March 2021, the entire bank balances
of approximately HK$29,165,000 (2020:
approximately HK$25,382,000) are current
deposits, carrying interest at market rates ranged
from 0.01% to 0.35% (2020: 0.01% to 0.35%)
per annum. The bank balances and cash that are
denominated in currencies other than functional
currency of the relevant group entities are set out
as below:

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

26.

27.

E R FIRITEK
BEFRTEREFENE TRITN
TERZFRITRAERZ MERRR
BEFRUENRAERE S EHIR
HIRITRE 2B ER PR B —
FZAZ+—B ZEBEMROE
MR—ERIE (CETE B
FREE) o

RIE-_—F=F=+—H'2i&M#
IRITERDRFHENZE2.03% (Z
BTEE 1.23%) 5HE o

EIRMIRTER R ESEFEHEN
B5E49 0

RITEFRIRE
W_EZ_—F=B=+—H'2%
RIT41E4929,165,0008 T (2=
TF 1 £925,382,000587T) AEHATE
FUATF0.01%E0.35% (B
F10.01%FE0.35%) 2HHEFX
SR BREEBERUINEE KU
2 EBGEZRTEEFERRSEHIINM
T

2021 2020

—_E_—F —ETEE

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

United States dollars (“USD"”) £t (T¥E7T)) 10,372 994
RMB AR 202 200
Macau Pataca ("MOP") BP9t (MR T - 283
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES

AND ACCRUALS
Trade payables

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of
the reporting period:

28.

P& E 5 AR TE ~ HAth & (3 AR IE

REER
FE (S 8 5 808

BERREMARZERAHRZTEN

BSREZREDHOT :

2021 2020
B —F ECEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TET

0 - 30 days EFE=+H - -
31 - 90 days =t+—HEATH - -
> 90 days A+BMUE - 12
= 12

The credit period on purchases of goods is usually
from 1 month to 3 months.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

28. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 28. ERNESIRIE - HthFEE(TERIE
AND ACCRUALS (continued) REStER (&)
Other payables and accruals HM e RIE R B &R
2021 2020
T —=F TETRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other payables H g BRIE 58,290 43,462
Accruals FESTE R 41,517 49,031
99,807 92,493
LOANS FROM STAFF 29. ETE®
2021 2020
—E-—5 C—T-TE
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loans from staff ETEX 26,849 27,265

The amount to the extent of approximately
HK$6,481,000 (2020: approximately
HK$6,897,000) is loans from staff employed by two
PRC subsidiaries. These loans are repayable within
a year after the date of withdrawal and unsecured
and the effective interest rate of the loans is 12.5%
(2020: 12.5%) per annum. The remaining amount
of HK$20,368,000 (2020: HK$20,368,000) is loan
from two employees in Hong Kong which are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on

demand.

S EAREE6,481,0008 T (CE &
£ 1 96,897,000 75) J5 W B [ B
BATRBRZETIER -REENEA
RIRENH R —FRERZBEIER>
ERZEBREMNEAH125% (ZEZ
T 1 12.5%) o 85 F&%820,368,000
B (TEZZ £ 120,368,000 7T)
DREEEBMBRETZEN ZENR
IEE#;%EHE}H CAE B BRERE

R
[}
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

CONSTRUCTION COSTS ACCRUALS 30. FEETEEMA
The amount represented the construction costs ZBIEAEBR T EREMEEL
accrued for the Group's investment properties ZREMA o
under construction.
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the project HEZZEZ—F=B=+—HI#&E
for the development of logistics park in Chinlink ErEZERS - HRAB Y MERE
e Worldport was suspended. The construction BEEF - BEEAREEREATN
contractor agreed not to demand repayment of Z - —F=A=F+—HERK+TZE
approximately HK$52,902,000 in the next twelve BREREEL52,902,0008 7 °
months after 31 March 2021.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. §¥&afFE
2021 2020
—E--—& C—T-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET
Property management services ¥ EIRRTE 33,699 30,314
Asset management services BEEBIERS 121 863
33,820 31,177
Analysed as: DA
Current TREN 33,820 26,950
Non-current e B - 4,227
33,820 31,177

Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be
settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle,
are classified as current and non-current based on
the Group’s earliest obligation to transfer goods or

services to the customers.

FHRAERNAEBEREZSBRRNG
BNENEaEINREFCERARFEE
ERUBBTERZEEDERAD
EIIEIR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&0 W55 e 2 B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021

31.

HEZZ

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
The following table shows how much of the

revenue recognised the year ended 31 March

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

31. EII’JE\1T (/l
TRETHBEZ

T ER-E"S

FZR=T—HILEFECHEIBAGE

2021 and 2020 relates to carried-forward contract BREERRZWA-
liabilities.
Property
management
and asset
Logistics management
services services
LYJE S
EEREE
YR AR5 ERIR
2021 2021
T —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Beginning of the year R EA] - 31,177
Decrease in contract liabilities REAEDHNMARENTAS
as a result of recognising HnEBREFRERSNarmED
revenue during the year that
was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year - (26,950)
Increase in contract liabilities as  WERTEWEEBER S FEIEMN
a result of receiving receipts in
advances - 29,593
End of the year RER - 33,820
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 31. FH&aE#E
Property
management
and asset
Logistics management
services services
YES
EEREE
WRIRT BERH
2020 2020
—E°% - -
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Begining of the year RREA]) 5 36,014
Decrease in contract liabilities REAEZHRAREDNTAEH
as a result of recognising BEARERSHNERERD
revenue during the year that
was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year (5) (27,717)
Increase in contract liabilities as  WERBUWHIBER &I GEEMN
a result of receiving receipts in
advances - 22,880
End of the year RERXR - 31,177
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

31.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount

of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Logistic services

The Group requires a 15%-50% deposit of the
contract amount on acceptance of orders from
some of the customers. When the Group receives a
deposit before the delivery of products or provision
of services, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of the

deposit.

Property management services

The Group receives six months to one year property
management fee in advance from certain tenants
of the investment properties at the start of the
property management contract. This gives rise to
the contract liability which will be recognised as

revenue throughout the period of services.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

31.

EHRE ()
YEERISHAESTEN—RIN
fRRan T :

]]
il

N

YD R 75

AEBREBESHDELNITERENR
SR ENETEEMN15%E50%I12 % o
A5 B R AT 2 SR T AR AR 75 A U ER

BE WERREGNRBEESNE
B EERHEBEGOREZIRABL
BRESRMIE-

Y EIR RS
FEERYEEE GO FRIBIRAIE
REMEETHEHRANEBE—ENY
FEEE LBREERNEEREH
RABSESBRAZENER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

32. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE 32. FEWFRIE
2021 2020
—E-—& —Z-ZH
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Receipts in advances FEULFRIE
Receipts in advance from: kKB TFIIREZ
FAURRIE -
— Property investment —ERE
- Leasing of properties —WEMRE 17,303 20,240
Analysed as: SaR 1=
Current TnEn 17,303 17,479
Non-current JER B — 2,761
17,303 20,240

Receipts in advances are classified as current and
non-current liabilities based on the timing of
performance of the obligations to transfer goods or
services to the customers. Deposits received from
tenants and customers are classified as current
liabilities based on the Group's earliest obligation to
pay such deposits to the tenants and customers.

RWHERBEAET A EEERURE
ZEEBRTEBSER RS NIERS
BE-BEPARERURZEZTRE
AEERERRERZVZERE
REEENEARBER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

33. LEASE LIABILITIES 33. THE&1R
The following table shows the remaining TRETRZZEZ—FRZIZETERF
contractual maturities of the Group's lease liabilities —A=+—HAXxEBEHESEZHGRT
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020: BREHRBR
2021 2020
—®RT-F T ETH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
Lease liabilities payments: HEaBNOM:
Within one year —FR 8,379 9,961
More than one year but not later BiB—FEEBWEN
than two years 8,378 10,568
16,757 20,529
Less: Amount due for settlement & : BB BEE T2
with 12 months shown under 1218 B WZB4E B 2 BR1E
current liabilities (8,379) (9,961)
Amount due for settlement after FEMBIEEIE FFAITZ12EA %
12 months shown under BB ZRIE
non-current liabilities 8,378 10,568
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates HEaERANINEFEIESERH
applied to lease liabilities range from 3.75% to ENF375%E6.00% (ZE_TF:
6.00% (2020: 5.13% to 6.58%) N F5.13%%E6.58%) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

34. DEFERRED INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. RIEURER

2021
—T—F
HK$'000
FHET
Arising from adjustment on carrying REHEN —RESREZ REERE
amount of amounts due to a director 3,330
Arising from adjustment on carrying REHEMEREREE A
amount of other borrowings 15,947
19,277
2021
—T_—F
HK$'000
FHET
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MIRERRDINA -
Non-current liabilities JEREhaE 11,233
Current liabilities mEafR 8,044
19,277
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&0 W55 e 2 B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

35. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED 35. EfIEQARKRESIRIE
COMPANIES AND DIRECTORS
Amounts due to related companies FETRAE A BIERIB
2021 2020
—B_—F —ZTTEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFET
Carrying amount repayable: FEEIZIREE -
— More than one year, but —BE—F BT BIBMmE
not exceeding two years 202,501 184,879
202,501 184,879

Less: Amount due within 1 year 78 : —FE R 2| 2 BRIB - -

Amount shown under FEREBEBEE TR ZRE
non-current liabilities 202,501 184,879

Amounts due to related companies in which the FENRAEAR (KRB ZEREE (I8
controlling shareholder of the Company (who is ARENFEE) RZSHELRTDERE
also a director of the Company) has significant FENFIEGER) RIBRBRITHE
influence or controlling interest to these related RARSTE-REARBEFAEERNKZ
companies are unsecured, non-interest bearing. E_—F=—RB=+—HEXRKR+Z
And the related parties agreed not to demand BREEBEFEFRNESE FR HEFE
repayment of any amount in the next twelve #917,607,0005% 75 (:%Zﬁi LA
months after 31 March 2021. During the year, an 33,561,000 7T) Mérai8m R EM
imputed interest of approximately HK$17,607,000 TEWAETRAE

(2020: approximately HK$33,561,000) is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED
COMPANIES AND DIRECTORS
(continued)

BNMEARNKRERRE (&

Amounts due to directors B E R IR
2021 2020
—E-—F C—T-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Carrying amount repayable: fEEIEREE !
~Within one year ——FR - 18,494
—More than one year, but not — BB —FETEAM
exceeding two years 39,690 -
39,690 18,494
Less: Amount due within 1 year 78 : —FE R 2|~ BRIE - (18,494)
Amount shown under IERBBaBEE TR ZIRIE
Non-current liabilities 39,690 -
As at 31 March 2021, the amounts due to a RNZE_—F=HB=+—H E{I—

director of approximately HK$27,863,000 are
unsecured. The borrowings carries at a fixed-rate
of 11.0% per annum and agreed not to demand
repayment of principal by the Group in the next
twelve months after 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the amount due to a director
of approximately HK$11,827,000 are unsecured
and non-interest bearing. The director agreed not
to demand repayment of any amount by the Group
in the next twelve months after 31 March 2021,
and adjustment on such carrying amounts using
the effective interest rate of 14.0% per annum
amounting to approximately HK$1,665,000 was
recognised in adjustment on carrying amount
of amount due to a director under consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, and approximately HK$3,330,000 are
recognised in consolidated statement of financial
position. During the year, an imputed interest
of approximately HK$1,453,000 is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2020, the amounts due to directors
are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable
on demand.

ZHEEIRIEAY27,863,00078 71 24 MK
o ERIZI1. 0% 2B EEFNXFE
EEEBEAERN _E_—F=B=+—
HERRK+_EBERAEREZER
@o

RN_E_—F=F=+—H EN—
LEERIELN11,827,0008 04 E
BEHEERREE-BEZFEREAETNR_E
T F=ZPB=t+—HE&FXxEK+_@E
BEXRKANEBREETMEE RMFEH
EREMNR14.0%HBERERELET
HE > HhRiGaEakEM2E K
HZRETHEN—RERREZR
HEETHRETEIDAELSELY
751,665,000 75 MR iR & B H K
MR HEREREESEEL3,330,0008
T FR RiRaBEakEMmEm K
mR P FEERA1,453,0008 C Y E
FE o

A TECEF-A=+—H BHE
EREDERTE - RERLERE
8o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 36. IRITREMMER
2021 2020
—E-—5 C—T-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings, secured IRITEI BIKFE 655,615 624,332
Other borrowings, secured HitEw > BiEH 423,119 401,887
Other borrowings, unsecured HE S 457,552 424,501
Bank overdraft RITHEX 13,058 9,961
1,549,344 1,460,681

Carrying amount of the above — FE(EIE LG 2 IREE*
borrowings are repayable*

— Within one year —— R 523,288 497,949
— More than one year, but — B — B BIEmE
not exceeding two years 178,386 540,929
— More than two years, but —HBEmEERBBAE
not exceeding five years 194,233 568
— More than five years —HBEAaF 234,264 9,700
1,130,171 1,049,146
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 36. IRITRHEMMER (&
(continued)
2021 2020
—®T-F T EH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
Carrying amount of the bank and &H B REBER
other borrowings that contains AR LU T EARBEE*
a repayable on demand clause  ZIR{T R EMERIREE
(shown under current liabilities) (A mEEEIE N3R)
but repayable*
— Within one year ——FR 419,173 74,173
— More than one year, but —BE—FERBIBME
not exceeding two years - 336,515
— More than two years, but —BEmMEEr BB AE
not exceeding five years - 847
1,549,344 1,460,681
Less: Amount due within one B FRIBEHIEERERX
year or contains a BEREERLNABAEEER
repayable on demand TRz ARIE
clause shown under
current liabilities (942,461) (909,484)
Amount shown under IERBBEIE NI ZIRIE
non-current liabilities 606,883 551,197

*

The amounts due are based on scheduled
repayable dates set out in loan agreements.

HMEREDRBEER BRI Z

FREEEBHR-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

36.

HEZZ

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

The banks overdraft carried interest at Hong Kong
Prime Interest Rate (2020: Hong Kong Prime
Interest Rate) per annum.

As at 31 March 2021,
bank borrowings of approximately HK$155,158,000
(2020: approximately HK$188,127,000) carries
interest rate at Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate
("HIBOR") plus 2.5% or London Interbank Offer
Rate (“LIBOR"”) plus 3.5% or based rate fixed
by People’s Bank of China ("PBOC Rate”) plus a
premium per annum (2020: HIBOR plus 2.5% or
LIBOR plus 3.5% or based rate fixed by PBOC Rate
plus a premium per annum).

the Group’s variable-rate

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's fixed-rate bank
borrowings of approximately HK$500,457,000
(2020: approximately HK$436,205,000) carries at a
fixed-rate ranged from 4.8% to 8.5% per annum
(2020: 8.5% per annum).

As at 31 March 2021, other borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$423,119,000 (2020:
approximately HK$401,887,000) is secured by
equity interest of certain Group’s wholly owned
subsidiaries. The borrowings carries at a fixed-rate
ranged from 9.0% to 20.0% per annum (2020:
a fixed-rate ranged from 9.0% to 20.0%) and is
repayable on 6 September 2021 and 14 August
2021.

As at 31 March 2021,
borrowings are unsecured, carries interest at a
fixed- rate ranged from 5.0% to 18.0% per annum
(2020: a fixed-rate ranged from 5.0% to 18.0% per
annum) and are repayable at maturity dates ranged
from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2023 (2020: 1 April
2020 to 31 December 2022).

the remaining other

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

36.

IRITREMBER (&

RTEXBFREBREBEENX (Z
TEF FEBREENER) HE-

R_EB2 - —H=ZHB=+—H8"’%&
EBECEEEFNEZRITERNS
155,158,000 B8 L (ZE2EZZEF |
188,127,000/ 7T) v B F & BIRT
ExRFE ((EABTRLFED M
25%HMHIRITEZERE (AR
TREKFE)) M3.5%HFEARR
ﬁ#mz% M= (THhEARRITH
E)mNaB (CEIEF . 5515
%ﬁﬁ BXEFENM2.5% 3 @R IT
BIXEFEM3I5%HFEARRTE
EZEEFEMRE) T8 -

RIEZ—F=B=+—H'&&H
Z B EMEIRITHERAS00,457,000
BT (ZE_-ZF : £436,205,000
BT BEEFEFENF48%E8.5%
TEIEF I FREZS%) TR

6:7_—5 B=+—H Eff&
#9423,119,0008 T (ZFE =4 .
,%7401,887,000%75)an21&$!
TENB AR Z REMEIKTR ZE
MIZEEFEH N F109.0%5220.0%
(ZEZEF  BEEEMNENTER
9.0%%E20.0%) stEBER - =—
FAARNERZZEZ—FN\A+IHHE

BiE o

N_E_—FE=A=+—H'&BTFH
MERAERF SEREEHEN
FR5.0%ZE18.0% (ZE_ZF . 5
FREEMENFR5.0%E18.0%)
FTEREAERBEZ “_—Emﬁ BE
TECCEFEZHA=+—R(ZEE
F I _E_EFNRE—HE_ZE__
F+ZHA=+—H) LB 2
AEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

As at 31 March 2021, unsecured other borrowings
included an amount of HK$157,963,000 (equivalent
to RMB133,510,000) (2020: HK$139,052,000
(equivalent to RMB127,510,000)) which represents
the capital injection in the form of registered
capital and capital reserve into Shaanxi Chinlink
Financial Guarantee Limited (“Chinlink Financial
Guarantee”) by EFMREEREBRBRL
5 (“Hanzhong Investment”) pursuant to a
cooperation agreement entered into between
Chinlink Financial Guarantee, Hanzhong Investment
and Chinlink Alpha on 17 May 2018. Chinlink
Financial Guarantee was wholly-owned by Chinlink
Alpha before the capital injection and was held as
to 65% by Chinlink Alpha and 35% by Hanzhong
Investment after the capital injection.

According to the cooperation agreement,
Chinlink Financial Guarantee shall distribute profit
to Hanzhong Investment equivalent to 5.0%
per annum of its capital injected. If the profit
distribution of the year is less than that return,
Chinlink Alpha or its nominated third party shall
compensate the difference in the form to be agreed
between the parties. Other than the 5.0% per
annum profit distribution to Hanzhong Investment,
all profit and reserves of Chinlink Financial
Guarantee shall belong to the Group.

36.

a0 W 5 2% B

BE-F-—FE=A=+—HLEE
IRITREMER (&

RZE-_—F=B=+—H>E8EHF
HtERBEEEThREERERS
RAE (MERKRE)) UEMEEAK
EXFEEZ A ARERAZSE+ S
MEEFRERQA ((BEEPEME
R EFRERERTEERE
—N\NEER+EtHITUZEERED
ZEAREMEEMREES7,963,000
Bt (HERARK133,510,0007T)
(ZZ =4 : 139,052,000 ¢ (18
ERARY127,510,0007T)) ° ZE
FEMEEFRNIEFHEHEES
EREA MR AIERHREHTEEFTS
65%m R EP R ERFA35% M o

RECEHZ SEPERERFREA
MERREDEME BEFRNHEEE
ZEF5.0% HRFEZ BN DE
DRtk EREEREERES
ZHAESINE A WEZHAMEE
B REEPRENEKEF5.0%H
o BETEMERRZIAEN R
HERBBLEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 36. IRITREMMER (&

(continued)

If there is a change in national policy or material
adverse change in the business, assets, prospects,
operation or financial condition in Chinlink Financial
Guarantee, or if there is a material breach of
the cooperation agreement which has not been
rectified within 14 working days after notification,
the cooperation agreement may be terminated
and Hanzhong Investment can demand repayment.
The total amount payable to Hanzhong Investment
shall not exceed the actual total capital contributed
by Hanzhong Investment, or Chinlink Alpha can
acquire the 35% shareholding of the Chinlink
Financial Guarantee held by Hanzhong Investment
based on the total capital contributed by Hanzhong
Investment.

Based on the above, the amount injected by
Hanzhong Investment is classified as other

borrowing under current liability.

As at 31 March 2021, the other borrowings of
approximately HK$152,483,000 is unsecured and
non-interest bearing. An adjustment on such
carrying amounts using the effective interest rate
of 14.0% per annum amounting to approximately
HK$3,092,000 was recognised in adjustment
on carrying amount of other borrowings under
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, and approximately
HK$15,947,000 are recognised in consolidated
statement of financial position. During the year, an
imputed interest of approximately HK$15,566,000
is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum
(which are also equal to contracted interest rates)

on the Group’s bank and other borrowings are as

IRITRHEMBER (&

AEBRITREMERZBRERN K
#BE (TEFNREHOEFN) WTF

follows:
2021 2020
—E”-F§ 1
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET
Effective interest rate: ELSE
Fixed-rate borrowings EhEiESEEN 4.80%-20.00%  5.00%-20.00%

FFBIEFI R MM

Variable-rate borrowings

3.58%-7.13% 4.64%-7.48%

As at 31 March 2021, the variable-rate bank
borrowings of approximately HK$144,345,000
(2020: approximately HK$188,127,000) are secured
by the Group’s property, plant and equipment with
carrying value of approximately HK$23,756,000
(2020: approximately HK$35,942,000) and
investment properties with fair value of
approximately HK$3,260,293,000 (2020:
approximately HK$2,986,151,000).

The Group has bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately HK$2,469,000 and
approximately HK$416,704,000 respectively that
contains a repayable on demand clause (2020:
approximately HK$16,416,000 and approximately
HK$395,119,000 respectively), which were included
in the current liabilities.

A —F=F=+—H &%
B L BREE4923,756,0008 75 (=
T T 1 $935,942,0008 1)
ME - BEAZLERATFEAN
3,260,293,0008 7T (ZE-ZTF |
2,986,151,0008 70) 2R EWE R
I EV 1§ 49144,345,00058 T (Z2Z
T 1 £9188,127,00087T) 2 IEEE
FIEBITIERR ©

AEBEFEEEREREBRERNIER
TREARRAEMERDRIE2,469,000
BT R#416,704,0008 7T (T2
TE I DR416,416,0008 T & A
395,119,000 70) » ZER Bt AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

36.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

The Group has defaulted in repayment of interest
of borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$12,637,000 during the year ended 31 March
2021 which outstanding amounts of borrowings
of approximately HK$395,301,000 as at 31 March
2021 remain outstanding. This had triggered
cross default of another borrowings, totalling
HK$21,404,000 as at 31 March 2021, which were
originally due for repayment in December 2021 and
will be subject to immediate repayment if requested
by the respective financial institutions.

The Group has fully settled defaulted in repayment
of interests of borrowings of approximately
HK$12,637,000 subsequent to the reporting
period. All the default borrowings and cross default
borrowings were subject to original contractual
repayment dates.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

COUPON BONDS
9.0% Coupon bonds

Pursuant to the placing agreements dated 30 June
2017 and 27 July 2017 respectively, 9.0% coupon
bonds with principal amount of HK$200,000,000,
HK$100,000,000 and HK$50,000,000 (collectively
referred as the “9.0% Coupon Bonds”) were issued
by the Company at par to the independent parties
on 25 July 2017 (the “Issue Date 1"), 4 August
2017 (the "Issue Date 2”) and 25 August 2017
(the “Issue Date 3") respectively.

The 9.0% Coupon Bonds are denominated in HK$
and carry interest at 9.0% per annum. Interest is

payable annually in arrears.

The 9.0% Coupon Bonds will mature on the second
anniversary of the Issue Date, which are 25 July
2019 (the "Maturity Date 1), 4 August 2019
(the “Maturity Date 2”) and 25 August 2019 (the
“Maturity Date 3") respectively. The Company
can redeem the 9.0% Coupon Bonds in whole or
in part, at par together with all accrued and unpaid
interest calculated at the rate of 9.0% per annum
accrued thereon from Issue Date 1, Issue Date 2
and Issue Date 3 respectively and up to the date of
redemption less any interest paid by the Company
on it by giving not less than 10 business days’
notice to the holder(s) of the 9.0% Coupon Bonds
at any time from the Issue Date 1 to the Maturity
Date 1 and Issue Date 2 to Maturity Date 2 and
Issue Date 3 to Maturity Date 3, respectively.

37.

a0 W 5 2% B

BE-EB-—E=A=t—HILEE
ZERESH
9.0%EZEEH
REQBANAE-SE—tESA=1+
AR E—tELtBE_+tHZE

EmE A R2B0RZE— t-’nT:
tBZ+AHH (T#T881) ~
—tHFN\AEB (METHE2)) =
Z—+ENBZ+ER (T#ETHAH
3)REBEABIALETASES
200,000,000 7t ~ 100,000,000 7T
250,000,000 7tHI9.0% R EEH
(#HTBII9.0%EEESH]) o

9.0%EBREFUBTHE LIRE
FIO0%F B -FEBEBFZN—

9.0%EEEFHORINETHBE

Z2HE_BEEH B _E2—HLELAH
“+aH(T2IHEE1)) ~ ﬁ—hfﬁ

NBImE (TfI#R2) xR =ZF—h&F
NBZ+HH (TEI#HHE3 1)) ?élJﬁﬂoEé
ETHEESHEAFETHE
FHH2URZETHRAIERHAEZE
BERE A AT BEREBRHI.0O%E
EBESFHFAEAZEHADLR10EEE
BBY@EHA  UEEERZI.0%FEH =
FEsTZ 2RI BT HE ~ EiTHERR2
KT HEEEEEEBRIBBIEZFR
BREFARANHEBREALATDMEME
2 AERME2E A2 EE.0%
SR

Annual Report 2021 £ | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ o 4 [0 B 42 i A5 B 2 vl

283



284

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

37.

HEZZ

COUPON BONDS (continued)
9.0% Coupon bonds (continued)

On 25 July 2019, the bondholders consented to roll
over part of the 9.0% Coupon Bonds with principal
amount of HK$100,000,000 to 25 July 2020 and
all remaining principal amount of HK$250,000,000
were repaid in August 2019. The effective interest
rate of the extended 9.0% Coupon Bonds is
11.90% per annum. The 9.0% Bonds were fully
settled during the year ended 31 March 2021.

March 2021,
interest charged on the 9.0% Coupon Bonds
of HK$3,625,000 (2020: HK$22,810,000) was

recognised in profit or loss.

During the year ended 31

12.0% Coupon bonds

Pursuant to the subscription agreement dated
1 December 2017, 12.0% coupon bonds with
principal amount of USD15,000,000 (the “12.0%
Coupon Bonds"”) were issued by the Company at
par to independent third parties on 1 December
2017 (the “Issue Date 4").

The 12.0% Coupon Bonds are denominated in USD
and carry interest at 12.0% per annum. Interest is

repayable semi-annually in arrears.

The 12.0% Coupon Bonds will mature on the
third anniversary of the Issue Date 4, which is 5
December 2020 (the “Maturity Date 4").

——HE=HA=F—HILEE
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

COUPON BONDS (continued)
12.0% Coupon bonds (#&

No early redemption of the 12.0% Coupon Bonds is
allowed by the Company or holder except upon the
occurrence of certain events or circumstances as set

out in the bonds instrument.

Transaction costs relating to the 12.0% Coupon
Bonds of HK$3,515,000 were included in the
carrying amount of the 12.0% Coupon Bonds. The
effective interest rate of the 12.0% Coupon Bonds

is 12.99% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, interest
charged on the 12.0 % Coupon Bonds of
HK$5,851,000 (2019: HK$15,486,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.

On 5 August 2019, the Company commenced an
exchange offer to exchange all of its outstanding
12.0% Coupon Bonds held by the eligible
bondholders for a new 13.0% coupon bonds with
principal amount of US$30,000,000 (the “13.0%
Coupon Bonds"”) which will mature on August
2021 ("Exchange Offer”).

The Exchange Offer was duly accepted by the
eligible bondholders and all outstanding existing
12.0% Coupon Bonds was cancelled on 16 August
2019 and the 13.0% Coupon Bonds have been
issued pursuant to the Exchange Offer on the same
date. The 13.0% Coupon Bonds are denominated
in USD and carry interest at 13.0% per annum.

Interest is payable annually in arrears.

37.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

37.

COUPON BONDS (continued)
13.0% Coupon bonds

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of USD30,000,000 were issued on
16 August 2019 (the “Issue Date 5”) pursuant to
the Exchange Offer.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds are denominated in USD
and carry interest at 13.0% per annum. Interest is

repayable semi-annually in arrears.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds will mature on 30
August 2021 (the “"Maturity Date 5").

The effective interest rate of the 13.0% Coupon

Bonds is 12.99% per annum.

No early redemption of the 13.0% Coupon Bonds
is allowed by the Company except upon the
occurrence of certain events or circumstances as set

out in the bonds instrument.

The 13.0% Coupon Bonds are secured by equity
interests of certain Group’s wholly owned
subsidiaries and guaranteed by certain shareholder.
During the year ended 31 March 2021, interest
charged on the 13.0 % Coupon Bonds of
HK$30,653,000 (2020: HK$19,516,000) was

recognised in profit or loss.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds

Pursuant to the placing agreement dated 30
July 2019, 6.5% coupon bonds with principal
amount of HK$82,500,000, HK$24,000,000,
HK$61,500,000 and HK$32,000,000 (collectively
referred as the “First 6.5% Coupon Bonds") were
issued by the Company at par to the independent
parties on 7 August 2019 (the “Issue Date 6"),
8 August 2019 (the "Issue Date 7"), 19 August
2019 (the “Issue Date 8") and 6 September 2019
(the "Issue Date 9") respectively.

The First 6.5% Coupon Bonds are denominated in
HK$ and carry interest at 6.5% per annum. Interest

is payable annually in arrears.

37.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

37.

HEZZ

COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds (continued)

The First 6.5% Coupon Bonds will mature on the
first anniversary of the issue dates, which are 7
August 2020 (the “Maturity Date 6"), 8 August
2020 (the “Maturity Date 7”), 19 August 2020
(the “Maturity Date 8"),
2020 (the
Company can redeem the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds

and 6 September
“Maturity Date 9”) respectively. The

in whole or in part, at par together with all accrued
and unpaid interest calculated at the rate of 6.5%
per annum accrued thereon from Issue Date 6, Issue
Date 7, Issue Date 8 and Issue Date 9 respectively
and up to the date of redemption less any interest
paid by the Company on it by giving not less than
10 business days’ notice to the holder(s) of the First
6.5% Coupon Bonds at any time from the Issue
Date 6 to the Maturity Date 6 and Issue Date 7 to
Maturity Date 7 and Issue Date 8 to Maturity Date
8 and Issue Date 9 to Maturity Date 9, respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, the First 6.5% Coupon
Bonds were matured, of which HK$41,500,000
were redeemed by the Company and the remaining
principal of HK$158,500,000 were extended for
one year pursuant to the deed of amendment dated
6 August 2020.

The First 6.5% Coupon Bonds are secured by
equity interests of certain Group’s wholly owned

subsidiaries and guaranteed by certain shareholder.

Transaction costs relating to the First 6.5% Coupon
Bonds of HK$6,080,000 are included in the carrying
amount of the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds. The
effective interest rate of the First 6.5% Coupon

Bonds is 9.49% per annum.
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

COUPON BONDS (continued)
6.5% Coupon bonds (continued)

On 23 July 2020, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with a placing agent to issue
6.5% coupon bonds (the “Second 6.5% Coupon
with the First 6.5% Coupon Bonds,
collectively the "6.5% Coupon Bonds”) with
principal amount of up to HK$100,000,000, under
best effort basis.

Bonds”,

The Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds are secured
by the equity interests of a subsidiary, repayable
on the day falling on the first anniversary of the
issue date, interest bearing at 6.5% per annum
and guaranteed by Mr. Li. As at 4 August 2020
(the “Issue Date 10”), the first tranche of the
Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds with principal of
HK$66,500,000 were issued and the proceeds were
used for refinancing the existing borrowings. The
Second 6.5% Coupon Bonds will mature on the
first anniversary of the issue dates, which are 4
August 2021.

Transaction costs relating to the Second 6.5%
Coupon Bonds of HK$1,995,000 are included in the
carrying amount of the 6.5% Coupon Bonds. The
effective interest rate of the Second 6.5% Coupon
Bonds is 9.49% per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, interest
charged on the 6.5 % Coupon Bonds of
HK$20,687,000 (2020: HK$11,983,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

38.

HEZZ

PUT OPTION DERIVATIVE

On 26 October 2017, two subsidiaries of the
Company, Chinlink Mega Limited (“Chinlink
Mega”) and Chinlink Finance Lease, entered into
a capital increase agreement with M RZE TR
BIR/AT)("Zhong Jinlv") in relation to the capital
injection by Zhong Jinlv into Chinlink Finance Lease
and the respective rights and obligations of Chinlink
Mega and Zhong Jinlv in Chinlink Finance Lease
after the capital increase. The maximum capital
injection by Zhong Jinlv is RMB120 million which
will be made in stages. At 31 March 2019, Zhong
Jinlv had injected RMB91.8 million.

On the same date, the parties also entered into a
put option agreement pursuant to which Zhong
Jinlv shall be granted a right to request Chinlink
Mega or its nominee to acquire its shareholding
interest in Chinlink Finance Lease during the period
of 30 days from the third anniversary of the date
of the first capital contribution by Zhong Jinlv
or upon the occurrence of certain events during
the period from the date of registration with the
relevant PRC industry and commerce authorities
of the first capital contribution by Zhong lJinlv to
the third anniversary of the date of the first capital
contribution by Zhong lJinlv. The consideration for
the repurchase of the relevant shareholding interest
shall be equal to the amount of capital contributed
by Zhong lJinlv in Chinlink Finance Lease, and
payable in cash by Chinlink Mega or its nominee
to Zhong Jinlv within 20 business days from the

receipt of the written notice from Zhong Jinlv.
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38.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

PUT OPTION DERIVATIVE
(continued)

Chinlink Finance Lease is wholly-owned by Chinlink
Mega. After capital injection,
shareholding of Chinlink Mega and Zhong Jinlv in
Chinlink Finance Lease became 62.5% and 37.5%
respectively.

the percentage

At initial recognition, the obligation arising from
the put option to the non-controlling shareholder
represents the present value of the obligation
to deliver the purchase consideration amount
using a discount rate of 14%. This amount of
HK$73,756,000 has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position with
a corresponding debit to the non-controlling
interests.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
option derivative was fully expired.

the put

During the year ended 31 March 2020, an
imputed interest expense of HK$8,122,000 was
recognised in profit and loss. The obligation
arising from a put option to non-controlling
shareholder was derecognised upon disposal
of subsidiary which was disclosed in note 42.
The carrying amount of obligation arising from
a put option to a non-controlling shareholder
amounting to HK$89,473,000 was derecognised
and adjusted against non-controlling interest for
an amount of HK$68,009,000 and remaining
amount of HK$21,464,000 was adjusted against
retained profits. The fair value of the put option
of HK$8,839,000 as at the date of disposal of the
subsidiary was recognised as a put option derivative
(See note 42) and is measured at fair values
through profit or loss at each of the reporting
period.

The fair value of put option derivative as at 31
March 2020 amounted to HK$4,064,000.

38.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

39. DEFERRED TAXATION 39. REMIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities R mEFERNAES 2 EXRLERE
recognised and movements thereon during both EEAEHEFHNT
years:

Tax allowance
Fair value on financing

gain on guarantee
investment contracts
properties recognised Total
REWMEZ HEREHZ
AT EYNE RUEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT FHET
At 1 April 2019 A _E-hEWB—H 294,734 411 295,145
Charge to profit or loss R EER 32,285 399 32,684
Exchange realignment ERAE (20,376) (37) (20,413)
At 31 March 2020 and N_EBTEFE
1 April 2020 =B=+—8k
“EZTHFMBE—H 306,643 773 307,416
Charge to profit or loss NkEER 11,739 56 11,795
Exchange realignment EREE 26,073 68 26,141
At 31 March 2021 RZZE——%F
—B=+—H 344,455 897 345,352
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39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had unused tax losses of HK$528,564,000 (2020:
HK$503,303,000) available for offsetting against
future profits which are subject to the confirmation
from Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department
and the PRC tax bureau. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to unpredictability of
As at 31 March 2021,
included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$242,729,000 which will expire in 5 years from
the year of origination which is ranged from 2022

future profit streams.

to 2026, the remaining balances of unrecognised
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely (2020:
HK$178,020,000 which will expire in 5 years from
the year of origination which is ranged from 2021
to 2025, the remaining balances of unrecognised
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned by the PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008
onwards. No deferred taxation has been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of certain PRC subsidiaries
amounting to HK$1,609,289,000 (2020:
HK$1,650,718,000) as the Company controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it is
probable that the profits will not be distributed in
the foreseeable future.

39.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

40. SHARE CAPITAL 40. BR7s
Number Nominal
of shares value
RiTEE EE
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares: B
Authorised ordinary shares AZZ—AFMA—H-
At 1 April 2019, “2IEF=A=+—8k
31 March 2020 and “ETEFMA—H
1 April 2020 of SREE0.31258 T2
HK$0.3125 each EEEBR 2,000,000,000 625,000
Increase in authorised EERRALE N (BYaH)
share capital (Note ) 60,500,000,000 -
At 31 March 2021 of HK$0.01 each R ZZT-—F=F=+—H"
FR0.015E T 62,500,000,000 625,000
Issued ordinary shares and fully paid RoE—hEME—H-
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and —E-EE-A=+-—0K
1 April 2020 of HK$0.3125 each —=-mEmE—A
SREE0.31258TZ
BEITREEEER 1,461,609,692 456,753
Share consolidation (Note /) 13 &6 (Hrati) (1,169,287,754) -
Capital reduction (Note /) RS HIR (B 52i) - (453,830)
Rights issue (Note i) R (H7atii) 876,965,814 8,770
At 31 March 2021 of HK$0.01 each N _E_—F=ZA=+—8"
&ERR0.018E7T 1,169,287,752 11,693
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

40. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Note i:

Note ii:

On 19 February 2021, the share consolidation on
the basis of every 5 issued and unissued ordinary
shares of HK$0.3125 each consolidated into 1
share of HK$1.5625 each was implemented.
After capital reduction whereby: (a) any fractional
consolidated shares in the issued share capital of
the Company arising from the share consolidation
were cancelled; and (b) the nominal value of all
the issued consolidated shares was reduced from
HK$1.5625 each to HK$0.01 each by canceling
the paid-up share capital of the Company to the
extent of HK$1.5525 on each of the consolidated
shares in issue. Immediately following the share
consolidation of issued share capital and the
capital reduction of the Company, the authorised
share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$625,000,000 divided into 62,500,000,000
ordinary shares by the creation of an additional
60,500,000,000 ordinary shares.

The structure of the Company’s authorised share
capital was changed from HK$625,000,000
divided into 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.3125 each, to HK$625,000,000 divided
into 62,500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each. The issued share capital of the Company
was changed from HK$456,753,029 divided into
1,461,609,692 ordinary shares, to HK$2,923,219
divided into 292,321,938 ordinary shares.

On 25 March 2021, rights Issue on the basis of
three rights shares for every one share at the
subscription price of HK$0.38 per rights shares
held was effected and a total of 876,965,814
ordinary shares were issued with an aggregate
par value of approximately HK$8,770,000.
Details of which are set out in the prospectus
of the Company dated 3 March 2021 (the
“Prospectus”) and the announcement of the
Company dated 24 March 2021.

40. Rg#
Kt

Kiazii:

a0 W 5 2% B
BE_Z-_F=H=1+—HILEE

(4

N2 —F_HB+AH ARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

41.

LR R ES S

HEZZ

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 21 September
2012 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors, eligible employee and

consultants (collectively, the “Grantees”).

On 24 April 2013, 93,100,000 share options
(the “Share Options 1”) were granted to the
Grantees who are entitled to subscribe for a
total of 93,100,000 new shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.58 per share with nominal value of
HK$0.0125 each in the capital of the Company
upon the exercise of the Share Options 1 in full.
Share Options 1 granted are exercisable from 24
April 2014 to 23 April 2023 and are vested in five
tranches given that the Grantees remain in service
with the Group at the beginning of each exercisable
period with (i) 20% shall become exercisable from
24 April 2014 to 23 April 2023; (ii) 20% shall
become exercisable from 24 April 2015 to 23 April
2023;(iii) 20% shall become exercisable from 24
April 2016 to 23 April 2023; (iv) 20% shall become
exercisable from 24 April 2017 to 23 April 2023;
and (v) 20% shall become exercisable from 24 April
2018 to 23 April 2023.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

41.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #H%E =%

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

On 29 November 2013, 15,000,000 share options
(the “Share Options 2") were granted to the
Grantees who are entitled to subscribe for a
total of 15,000,000 new shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.70 per share with nominal value of
HK$0.0125 each in the capital of the Company
upon the exercise of the Share Options 2 in full.
Share Options 2 granted are exercisable from 29
November 2014 to 28 November 2023 and are
vested in five tranches given that the Grantees
remain in service with the Group at the beginning
of each exercisable period with (i) 20% shall
become exercisable from 29 November 2014 to 28
November 2023; (ii) 20% shall become exercisable
from 29 November 2015 to 28 November 2023;
(iii) 20% shall become exercisable from 29
November 2016 to 28 November 2023; (iv) 20%
shall become exercisable from 29 November
2017 to 28 November 2023 and (v) 20% shall
become exercisable from 29 November 2018 to 28
November 2023.

41.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

41.

HEZZ

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

On 17 December 2013, 4,000,000 share options
(the “Share Options 3") were granted to the
Grantee who is entitled to subscribe for a total
of 4,000,000 new shares at an exercise price
of HK$0.68 per share with nominal value of
HK$0.0125 each in the capital of the Company
upon the exercise of the Share Options 3 in full.
Share Options 3 granted are exercisable from 17
December 2014 to 16 December 2023 and are
vested in five tranches given that the Grantees
remain in service with the Group at the beginning
of each exercisable period with (i) 20% shall
become exercisable from 17 December 2014 to
16 December 2023; (ii) 20% shall become exer-
cisable from 17 December 2015 to 16 December
2023; (iii) 20% shall become exercisable from
17 December 2016 to 16 December 2023; (iv)
20% shall become exercisable from 17 December
2017 to 16 December 2023; and (v) 20% shall
become exercisable from 17 December 2018 to 16
December 2023.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B
BE_Z-_F=H=1+—HILEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

a1. BERESE (8@

The table below discloses movement of the TREBRARNBDNFRNZBRESE
Company'’s share options during the year: EN
Number of share options
BREHE
Adjusted
exercise
price per Forfeited Adjustments Adjustments
adjusted  Outstanding during  upon share  upon rights Outstanding
Type of participants Option type share  at 1.4.2020 the year consolidation issue  at 31.3.2021
(Note i & ii) (Note iii) (Note i) (Note ii)
gl
TRERSR KR-Z-ZE ZZZ-%
A% mA—-H R HROAH itk =A=+-A
2HEER FRRREER T8 e R AT 2EK ETRE ETRE e K17
(MizEi &ii) (Pt 2ii) (PizEi) (Ht2Xii)
HK$
BT
Director Share Options 1 31.7390 2,225,496 (180,935)  (1,635,651) 4,004 412,914
Bz BB
Share Options 3 37.2227 361,869 - (289,496) 709 73,082
el 13
Employees Share Options 1 31.7390 2,894,952 - (2,315,965) 5,670 584,657
B8 BB
Share Options 2 38.3120 723,739 - (578,992) 1,416 146,163
Bl g2
Other eligible participants Share Options 1 31.7390 2,216,449 (36,541)  (1,773,161) 4,338 411,085
HEtedr2EE ERE
Total 8,422,505 (217,476)  (6,593,265) 16,137 1,627,901
st
Exercisable at end of the year 1,627,901

RERTTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

41.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

The table below discloses movement of the
Company'’s share options during the prior year:

41. BBRg

#EstE (&)

TERBEARBDNREFZERESZ

E2)

Number of share options

fEREHE
Forfeited  Reclassified
Exercise price  Outstanding during during  Outstanding
Type of participants Option type per share at 1.4.2019 the year the year  at 31.3.2020
(Note iii)
ﬁ’:‘:v_nﬁ EA—v —_= E
Sk mA—H FR FR =A=+-H
SEEER RS TEE HRITE 2Rl b HRITE
(Pt &)
HK$
B
Director Share Options 1 6.4100 2,768,300 - (542,804) 2,225,496
EE FERTRE
Share Options 3 7.5175 361,869 - - 361,869
FE R iE3
Employees Share Options 1 6.4100 2,352,148 - 542,804 2,894,952
B8 FER
Share Options 2 7.7375 723,739 - - 723,739
R

Other eligible participants Share Options 1 6.4100 2,442,618 (226,169) - 2,216,449

EmaEksEE Rl

Total 8,648,674 (226,169) - 8,422,505

st

Exercisable at end of the year 8,422,505

RERTTH

Note /- As a result of the share consolidation, adjustments Kizti: BRRH &4 A A BEIREEER
are required to be made to the Company’s st G EE RTEERRE
outstanding share options in accordance with TR AMERERZFIFH N K
the terms of the share option scheme. Details of NG HHA-_ZSE-_—_A++t
the adjustments are set out in the Company’s Bz R ffio
announcement dated 17 February 2021.

Note ii: As a result of the rights issue, adjustments are Fiatii: R EE ) ANA B BRI RS AR RE S
required to be made to the exercise prices and the B EH BT EEERETEE R
number of the ordinary shares falling to be issued THEREmETZEEREHE
upon exercise of the outstanding share options ETHEE AREEFEHNA
in accordance with the terms of the share option AT _—F=H_+MmWHZ
scheme. Details of the adjustments are set out in NGRS
the announcement dated 24 March 2021.

Note iii: Share options were forfeited due to the Miatii: AANEBEEFE TRIERBME

termination of service of certain staff during the
year.

t&ﬁ%ﬁy%?&"/ o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME 41. BERHESS (B)
(continued)
The following table discloses movements of and TRIREBERRB] ZPAIITERERE 2 &
weighted average exercise prices of the Company’s B R INHEFEHITHE !
exercisable share option:
2021 2020
—E--F “BIEEF
Weighted Number of Weighted Number of
average exercisable average exercisable
exercise price options  exercise price options
I AJfTfE MmETs a7
kB  BREKE TEE BREHE
HK$ HK$
per share per share
Sk#n SRET
Exercisable at the beginning  FAE# A 171
of the year 6.5717 8,422,505 6.5674 8,648,674
Adjustments upon share MERODEBHETRE
consolidation - (6,593,265) - -
Adjustments upon rights issue Fi{tARETHE - 16,137 - -
Share option forfeited RERE IRz B
during the year - (217,476) - (226,169)
Exercisable at the end RERATE
of the year 32.5753 1,627,901 6.5717 8,422,505

ZEEBEREERYARBEB R
MEERRBEZERZRG AR
RBEArERRERHEZRFBEELR

are similar as in nature to those rendered by Lo

The consultants provided services related to the
development of logistics services business and

financial guarantee services business. Such services

employees of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

42,

HEZZ

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 12 December 2019, Chinlink Mega, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Xi‘an Qujiang entered into the disposal agreement,
pursuant to which Chinlink Mega agreed to sell
and Xi'an Qujiang agreed to acquire 37.5% of
the equity interest in Chinlink Finance Lease for a
total cash consideration of about RMB93.2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$103.9 million)

Upon completion on 17 December 2019, Chinlink
Finance Lease was cease to be a subsidiary of
the Company and become an associate of the
Company. Details of which were set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 12
December 2019.

The loss for the period from the finance leases
business is set out below. The comparative figures
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and related notes have
been represented as discontinued operation.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

42.
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A ZE-AF+ZA+ZH ARE
ZHEEE2ERB AR SR I HETER
ST 8] 3 HE e kit > Rk
FEHEMAZHIREWESES
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

42. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 42, BERIEREER (8B)
(continued)
From 1 April
2019 to
17 December
2019
HIZ—NE
MmA—H=Z=
“Z—NEF
+ZBA+tH
HK$'000
FET
Loss for the period A& 1R (2,460)
Loss on disposal HEEE (9,370)
Loss for the period from EARIERE T 2 BEEIE
discontinued operation (11,830)
Attributable to: UTALREMY:
Owners of the Company KANBHEBA (10,908)
Non-controlling interests TR (922)
(11,830)
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIEE

42. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 42, BRIEREEE (B
(continued)
Loss for the period from discontinued operation ?E HE&IEREER 2 5 F'ﬁ E‘ﬁ?ﬂfﬁﬁ‘“
was arrived at after (crediting)/charging: GtA) /B TR ERE
From 1 April
2019 to
17 December
2019
H_ZT—hF
mA—H=E
“E-NF
+ZA+tH
HK$'000
FAT
Interest income FEUA (6)
Other gains Hhk (101)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERZGHITE
equipment 173
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBENE 134
Staff cost BTMA
Salaries and other benefits AR E @R 2,844
Retirement benefit scheme RIRRRA ST EIER
contributions 251
Operating lease rental paid in respect BREHAEYEZBERKE
of rented properties HEMRES -
Loss on termination of lease KRIFAEZ BB 112
The net cashflow incurred by the discontinued BRI EEFELE RS RETHE
operation are as follows: wr
From 1 April
2019 to
17 December
2019
H-ZE—h&E
mA—HZ
—Z-NF
+ZA+tH
HK$'000
FAT
Net cash inflow from operating REEBIMBZREMARE
activities 1,525
Net cash outflow from investing REEBIMEBZREMHFE
activities (6)
Net cash outflow from financing MBEBMEZRERHFE
activities (379)
Net cash inflow in cash generated from B& IS XKEEZRE
discontinued operation ZREMAZEE 1,140
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42,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

DISCONTINUED OPERATION 42,

(continued)

Analysis of the results of the discontinued operation

is set out below:

B 0 U 5 R B
BE-F-—FE=A=+—HLEE
ERILEEXRT (&

ERIEKEEBZEEDMEIIN
™

From 1 April
2019 to
17 December
2019
HIZ—NF
MmA—H=
—ZT—hEF
+ZRB+tH
HK$'000
FET
Revenue PN 28,213
Cost of sales HHE A -
Gross profit EH 28,213
Other income, gains and losses — ELftUg A ~ U K 518 107
Administrative expenses TER
— other administrative expenses —HiTERIX (28,736)
Finance costs MR A (613)
Loss before taxation MRIEAIESIE (1,029)
Income tax expenses PSR (1,431)
Loss for the period from BRIERE T HIREE
discontinued operation (2,460)
Other comprehensive expense Hith2EH %
Item that maybe subsequently  HBAEHDEEZBHIER @
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange difference arising FAMEBIIEBEFT ZER
on translation of foreign =RE
operations (4,461)
Total comprehensive expense S EMZAEEE (6,921)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

42. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 42, BRIEREEE (B
(continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities over which KREEFRZ T EEERBELE .

control was lost:

From 1 April
2019 to

17 December
2019

Mo —fE
mE—H=
—E-NEF
+ZRB+tH
HK$'000
FHT

Loss attributable to: T ATEGEIE .
Owners of the Company KABHEBA (1,538)
Non-controlling interest JEER R (922)

(2,460)

Total comprehensive expense MU TATEL2EEAS4E%E
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEEB AN (4,326)
Non-controlling interests R (2,595)

(6,921)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 R B AR

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

(continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities over which

control was lost: (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

42. BRIEE

(%)

x% (A8

KEENRZITEESERAERE

As at

17 December

2019

RIE-hE

+Z-B++tH

HK$'000

FHAT

Property, plant and equipment Y EN YL 454

Finance lease receivables FEW R E R ERIE 302,237
Other receivables, HiEWRIE s &FENRIE

deposits and prepayments 20

Bank balances and cash IRITEGERIRS 2,131

Other payables and accruals HthENRENRESER (14,862)

Tax payable FETIRIE (752)

Bank and other borrowings RITREMER (10,151)

Net assets disposed of BHEEETHE 279,147
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

42. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 42. BRERIEREER (&
(continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities over which KEEREZTEEERGEER !
control was lost: (continued) (#&)
As at
17 December
2019
RIE-hE
+Z-HB+tH
HK$'000
FHAT
Loss on disposal of HEZEPEMEHREZEIE:
Chinlink Finance Lease:
Consideration received BURE 103,939
Fair value of interest retained as REEA—HHERB 2R A TE
an associate 69,787
Non-controlling interest R R 103,125
Less: fair value of put option derivative B E B ERRRSR 2 SR h EA
recognised at disposal date TTETBEZRAFE (8,839)
268,012
Less: net assets disposed of W BEHEEEFRE (279,147)
Add: release of translation reserve A0 - FRPREE R A 1,765
(9,370)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HERELEZRETAZFE:
Consideration received BURE 103,939
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of & : BHERTEERIES (2,131)
101,808
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group disposed of its entire equity interests
in a subsidiary (“Disposal subsidiary”),
Blessing China Limited to an independent
third party. The disposed subsidiary is
incorporated in Hong Kong which is
engaged in property holding. The disposal
was completed on 22 May 2020.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of
Disposal Subsidiary were as follows:

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

43. HEMWEAT

(a)

HE_ £ _—F=-H=+—H
TEE AEBE—LBILE
ZHHEER KB ATS
EHRAR (THEMRBAE)
ZEHBRE-LEHBLT
REBEMBIL REFED
H DHENR_E_FEFHA
“+IHZEmRe

HEHENB AR ZZER M
LI

HK$'000
FHET
Cash received BUIRE 19,000
Analysis of assets and liabilities over SkEZHEZEER
which control was lost: BES:
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB REE 13,800
Net asset disposed of BHEEETHE 13,800
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—HMEBAR Z W :
Consideration received BUE 19,000
Less: net assets disposed of B BHEBEEFE (13,800)
Gain on disposal HE W am 5,200
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZHRERAFEE !
Cash consideration received BUREAE 19,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B : DHERS AR SHEIEH
disposed of AEHER -
19,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group disposed of its entire equity interests
in subsidiaries (“Disposal subsidiaries”),
Acelin Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries to an independent third party.
The disposed subsidiaries are incorporated
in BVI, Macau and Hong Kong which are
engaged in investment holding, trading of
furniture and fixtures and interior decoration
work. The disposal was completed on 30
November 2020.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

43. HEWBLQE (&)

by &®BEZZE-_—F=F=+—H
FEE AERR—RBIE
=FHHEEHRKEBABAcelin
Investments Limited & H i &
rE ((ZELERBREL) 2
EHRE-ZELERB LD
REABREZHEE -BPFIREE
MR WEREER R
MMEEEZ R ENEHT
BEBK - ZHER_ZZTF
+—B=+H=me

HEZFHEWBAR ZEE

Disposal subsidiaries were as follows: BEaun T
HK$'000
TET
Cash received BUWIRE —*
Analysis of assets and liabilities over SkEZHEZEER
which control was lost: BESH:
Property, plant and equipment Mz BB NRE 5
Deposit Paid BfEE 236
Other receivables Hih e iR I8 12
Cash and cash equivalents HEeMRREEEEE 238
Trade payables FEfS & 5 iR1E (194)
Other payables Hih e RIS (9,198)
Accrual fEst &R (1,698)
Provision for warranty REHE (70)
Net liabilities disposed of BHESREFE (10,669)

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

43. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

43. HLEMBRRE (&)

(continued)
(b)  (continued) (b) &)
HK$'000
TET
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBAT Z WA :
Consideration received BB —*
Add: net liabilities disposed of m:BREaREFE 10,699
Gain on disposal HE W 10,669
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEELZREFHHIFEE
Cash consideration received BUYERENE —*
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances B : DHERSRIBESSHEIEH
disposed of “EER (238)
(238)

The balance represents an amount less than
HK$1,000

*

AEERTSIEDN1,0008 0 2 £ 58

Annual Report 2021 £ | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ [ o 4 [0 B 42 i A5 B 2 vl

311



312

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

44, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 44. THABRE
Corporate guarantee REVER
2021 2020
g —F “ETE2HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Guarantee given to banks in A TAEFIREZMEER
respect of financial RBEMERITIEH 2R -
guarantee services provided to:
— Independent third parties —BIYFE= 366,919 477,971
— Related parties —FEAL - 5,453
366,919 483,424
Details about the management of credit risk by the AEENZEMERFREEEERAR
Group regarding these financial guarantees are set ZEIBEEE49 0
out in note 49.
As at 31 March 2021, financial guarantee RIE-_—F=-B=+—H fM&EE
contracts of approximately HK$5,644,000 (2020: REK45,644,0008 T (ZE_Z
HK$2,092,000) represent the fair values of the & 12,092,000 7T) 15V S HRME
financial guarantee contracts initially recognised BRENZATERIRSHAR R
less cumulative amortisation at the end of the S - MEERSOTRIBEE BN
reporting period. The financial guarantee contracts BHREEAFIRETNEBEREES
are measures at the amount of the loss allowance WertE - -THHEEBEF BTN

determined in accordance with HKFRS 9. Details of 490
the ECL amount are set out in note 49.

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



45.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant
payroll costs or capped at HK$1,500 (based on the
choice of employees) to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. The relevant PRC
subsidiaries were required to contribute certain
percentages of the monthly salaries of their current
employees to fund the benefits. The employees
were entitled to retirement pension calculated
with reference to their basic salaries on retirement
and their length of service in accordance with
the relevant government regulations. The PRC
government was responsible for the pension liability
to the retired staff.

The employer’s contributions to the retirement
benefit scheme charged to profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the continuing
operations amounted to HK$2,682,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$4,559,000).

45,

%o W55 e 2% B o

BE-B-—HF=A=+—HILEE
RAREREE
AEBZARGIMEATRED #FT
BEeERZZERAEEBZH -SHEEE
AARERBEESHER TUESH
ANHRFEABE - AEBRKARMFE
B Z5%8] 1,500 05 LR (3%
BEERE & BRFMATBEEE
SR BlE B R REER ©

KABFREMNBABSZE LT HE
BFFTEEN R RS ENRE B
FPERBE AR EBZIREEETI AR 2
ETAEPLHEI BEZRKREFTE
N REBRABNEG BTAIZAE
ZRARENERARKFEZEXHER
RFFEEBE - FEHBAHEKRET
AERAKENEE-

REEZE-_—F=HA=+—H1Lt
FE O BEREBRESE Z2HRAE
FEEmkEMEZERGT R 2R
BRERECEEH 2EAPHRKR IR
1H7%42,682,0008 T (ZCE -5 F .

4,559,000 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

46. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT 46. REHEZHE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group PSR REER T AT HHKE
had future minimum lease receivable under MEZ R RREEWHEEREZ B
noncancelable operating leases which fall due as HaTF :
follows:
As lessor ER A
2021 2020
—EZ—F === 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Within one year —FR 18,947 4,088
In the second to fifth year MEAF (BIEEEWMF)
inclusive 13,314 -
More than five year BiBhF 120,482 -
152,743 4,088
Operating lease income represents rental receivable KEHEWAEXAEENHEEHES
by the Group for its leasing of retail shop, offices EEfM -WAEREFEEAMENR 2
and car park. Eo
47. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 47. BRKIE
2021 2020
—®T-% T ETH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Capital expenditure contracted HERKEVEBHZBETL
for but not provided in Bl kR iFE R E
the consolidated financial EHEBHB 2 ERRE
statements in connection with
the investment properties
under construction 456,224 45,077
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts, which includes the amounts due to former
subsidiaries, amounts due to related companies
and directors, loan from staff, bank and other
borrowings and 6.5%/9.0%/13.0% coupon bonds’
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. The directors
of the Company monitor current and expected
liquidity requirement as well as the summary
compliance report on loan covenants regularly.
The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a continuous basis. As part of this
review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends and
issuance of new shares as well as raising of new
bank/other borrowings or advances from related
parties and the repayment of existing bank/other

borrowings or repayment to related companies.

48.

EXEBER

FEREEHES  UEFREEER
ZEBEREANUFEEETAEE
ERTEBENEHRERZBRE
ZFEmARRFEERAQR AE
B ERRBAXFRILLARITAE -

AEBZEAGEEOERER 25 B
R EIEFETATMY B A BRI ~ FE(T R
BENBIKRERRB B TER RT
BREMEHK6.5%/9.0%/13.0% =
BEEs (NRReERAEEEEERK
KRBHEEAEGEER (BE2 8T
AR EE)) A ABESEHER
BB THESCEEUNRETE
MELEER - AR BDESTHFELTE
KEE - AEARNZ— 89 AR FE
BEEEZEEAZHRAREEREREZ
A -BERNAABDEZZHEBREE
AEEFBEBZARERETHRG
M EBEMIRT  HMERI KB
B ZBERKRERRART HME
AHEEFAERDRBUFEHEER
BARMEEo
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. T H
49a  Categories of financial instruments 49a TRMIEDLE
2021 2020
T —F —EFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Financial assets THMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL B AFEFABRZ T/ EE 24,211 24,518
Financial assets at BEHERAINR SREE
amortised cost 601,554 511,240
625,765 535,758
Financial liabilities THEB
Amortised cost HEE A A 2,684,902 2,557,614
Financial guarantee MEEFREN
contracts 5,644 2,092
Put option derivative at AT EFFAEHEZ
FVTPL ShEARTAETA - 4,064
2,690,546 2,563,770

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade receivables, trade receivables
from related companies, loan receivables,
other receivables and deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL, factoring receivables,
amounts due to former subsidiaries,
amounts due to related companies, amounts
due to directors, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade payables,
construction cost accruals, other payables
and accruals, loans from staff, deposit
received from tenants and customers, bank
9.0%/6.5/13.0%

coupon bonds, put option derivative, lease

and other borrowings,

liabilities and financial guarantee contracts.
Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), other price risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

%o W55 e 2% B o

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

49. £EfMI A (&

49b

MERREIEERREBER

AEEZFESMTIAGRE
FEWE ZRIE - EWEAEAT
MNE SR EWRER &t
FEWERERES BAFE
FPABEZEREE B
7 2 R IR TR IE ~ FE T AT MY B
NREIREBENENRBEQRR
E-ENEERE  2KIFER
TEFR RTEERIBEEE
NEZREBE B BEME
HtENKREBERESER
ETEFR - MHEHERELI
WMz RITREMER
9.0%/6.5%/13.0% Z 8 &%5
REETETE AEaE
EKMBEFREN ZEETMT
BEHEERESNERE HZE
%ﬂlﬁﬁ%zﬂh 2EETE

% (B R EFMERR) &
ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂhxh = 2| B2 K2 7
BETEE - T XHTIEEZ
EREZHEX-EEBEER
BEEZERE URRLAEE
W IR EUE E 2 B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £ERMT A (&
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBREMEEK (&
policies (continued)
Market risk 5 R B
Currency risk J=g. o
Several subsidiaries of the Company have AT ETHEAB B UINE
foreign currency sales, which expose the STEZHE SAEEREERI
Group to foreign currency risk. In addition, BRI ETREKRES
certain trade receivables, bank balances and RIB-IRTTEFRENE SR
trade payables are denominated in foreign BEBHUENEBRERE ZINES
currencies other than the functional currency BELLIN 2 SMNEE SHE ©
of the respective group entities.
The Group currently does not have a 7 £ [ IR B A AN IS B R
foreign currency hedging policy. However, KoM EEESERIE
management monitors foreign exchange Rl EREREEL BEIE
exposure and will consider hedging KON @ g o
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign DONEStEZ AEBEKEE
currency denominated monetary assets and REBBERREHAZERR
monetary liabilities at the reporting date are BOTF
as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE aff
2021 2020 2021 2020
g EIZFE CEI-F CZIIZE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAT TET
usb ESI 26,620 19,996 606,865 612,873
RMB AR 202 200 - -
MOP BT - 283 - -
Japanese Yen ("JPY") HE (TBE)) = 12 - -
26,822 20,491 606,865 612,873
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

For certain group entities whose functional
currency is either HK$ or MOP, the change
in exchange rate of its functional currency
against MOP or USD or HK$ respectively
has not been considered in the sensitivity
analysis below as HK$ is pegged to USD and
MOP is always stabilised with unchanged
value to HK$. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group does not expect
any significant movements between the
exchange rate of relevant functional currency
against USD, MOP or HK$.

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the exposure to foreign currency
risk in relation to RMB is minimal taking into
account the insignificant carrying amounts of
the Group’s assets denominated in RMB at
the end of the reporting period. Accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis on foreign currency

risk is presented.
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

49. £EfMI A (&

49b

MHERBREEERRER (&

tﬁZFKW 7FFr
FLE T LA TEORPITAINEE
ERNEEERMS  EAT
METTHE MR TEESR
BATEERENE WEEE
ﬁ%'ﬁﬁ%‘mﬁﬁﬁiinﬁiﬁm
EXEHTEREBIUT
@&E&Eﬁ*ﬁm°$@ﬂ%$=~
Ao AEEBRRERNESR
BB ET RMATHATZE
NEXAEHEEREREF-

et RAEBRRBEHRUA
RESHEZEERBESREIL
FTERXERBDEFEIR A
BARBERINE RGN o
It w25 B RINERRZ
BRRE T
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to the impact of interest
rate changes on variable-rate bank and other
borrowings, variable-rate bank overdraft,

pledged bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to the impact
of interest rate changes on lease liabilities,
factoring receivables, fixed-rate loan
receivables, fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, fixed-rate loans from staff,
9.0%/6.5%/13.0% coupon bonds and put

option derivative.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on
financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity
risk management section in this note. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of the
HIBOR, LIBOR and PBOC Rate arising from
the Group’s HK$ and RMB denominated

borrowings.

The Group currently does not have interest
rate hedging policy. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate

exposure should the need arise.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49b

MPHERBREEERKRBE (&

5% ()

AEBMNEEHH T BIRT
REMER FRBBRTESR
BIEMIBETERRRITEEN
FEMEBRRERENXR

2
oo O
AR

NEBMITHRFELELHHBEE
BEE-EHREERERE
EEEBER TERITK
HtMER - EEEIMBEHR
9.0%/6.5%/13.0% Z B &%
R AT E T AN EM
EERAFEFERR

AEEFTEBNERRER/MNE
R BTN AW EREHE
TRBREE - - AEEIR
TREMNXRBEZEDERA
rEBUBTRARESE
NEREENEBIRITEER
B RBARTRAEREKRPE
ARBITH RS

7= 5= [ 3R By 00 4 A6 5T A R H o
B -AM  EEEERAX
R KB R ER ) FEEE
HIPBEBARHARRER
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £EMT A (&

(continued)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBREMEEK (&
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) 5 S (#E)
Interest rate risk (continued) FFE f ()
For the variable-rate bank balances at MR ZE—FRIZIEF
31 March 2021 and 2020, the directors =B=+—HBZFBRIT4HE
consider the Group's exposure to future cash =R B = E"]EF/J\
flow interest rate risk is minimal taking into BE EERRAEEZ KRR
account the minimal fluctuation on market fﬁim%ﬂ?ﬂ R e B
interest rate. Accordingly, no sensitivity W25 B EERRE 28
analysis on interest rate risk is presented. F»W‘ *Fr°
Total interest revenue/income from financial REHEmATECEMEEL
assets that are measured at amortised cost is FEWARALRZENT !
as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
8= BHE
—E-—5F TEF
=A=+—-B =A=+-8
IHEFE IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET
Interest revenue FE WA
Financial assets at BEMERASR SR EE
amortised cost 20,495 19,352
Other income Hug A
Financial assets at BER AT R EREE
amortised cost 4,757 4,700

Total interest income FE WA 42%E 25,252 24,052

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49b

FHERBEERRRBER (&

H5 R ()

Interest rate risk (continued) FZ R fz (#8)
Interest expense on financial liabilities not TIERAFEFABRTEZ
measured at fair value through profit or loss: THEEsMERT
2021 2020
T —F —EIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial liabilities at BRI AR TMAaE
amortised cost 249,971 228,130
Sensitivity analysis R E 7T

The sensitivity analyses below were
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for the variable-rate bank
and other borrowings, variable-rate bank
overdraft and pledged bank deposits at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis was
prepared assuming the amount of liability
and asset outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the
whole year. A 25 basis points (2020: 25 basis
points) increase or decrease represented
management’s assessment of the reasonably

possible change in interest rates.

THBREDNERENR RS
BRFERITREMBRZF
BRTEZ REIRFRITEMR
ZRIERR - Z DML BRER
HFHHRZHAEREABREE
SHENREEFEHREEMS
ST 25ARE (T -FHF 125
EER FAXTHRRAXRER
B EESEER MEZA

SEE .
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £EMT A (&

(continued)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 490 HUHBEREEBRKRBE &
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) 5 S (#E)
Sensitivity analysis (continued) R E T ()
If interest rates had been 25 basis points i F 2 EF T B251@ & B
(2020: 25 basis points) higher/lower and 2T F 1 25@EH M
all other variables were held constant, FTEEMEHHEFTIE KE
the Group's loss for the year ended 31 EgE_T_—F=A=+—
March 2021 would increase/decrease by HIEFEEZBEgEM B
HK$2,801,000 (2020: loss for the year 2,801,000 T (Z2 24 :
ended 31 March 2020 would increase/ BE_Z_ZEF=B=+—
decrease by HK$2,530,000). BIEFEEBETEM B

2,530,000 7T) ©

In the opinion of the directors of the KANBEERE LHHED
Company, the sensitivity analysis is atEE 2 F XA RSN
unrepresentative of the inherent interest =4 ABARRSPAREER
rate risk as the end of the reporting period BB A 2 BREE Ry 2 R LB o

exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

Other price risk BB A%

The Group is exposed to equity price risk FEBRBEUNZRTFESA
through its investments in unlisted equity BastEzF rmEaTAMm
instruments measured at FVTPL. The Group ARZRAEERER AEEE
currently does not have the risk hedging A R B R SR 0 AR
policy. However, management monitors the EEBERRRIENEE
risk exposure and will consider hedging REEEEAAEARBERER

significant price risk exposure should the

need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

HEZZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Other price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the exposure to equity price risk
in relation to unlisted equity instruments
measured at FVTPL is minimal taking into
account their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis on other price risk is

presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2021,

maximum exposure to credit risk which

the Group's

will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the
amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financial guarantees provided by the
Group as disclosed in note 44. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with factoring
receivables and financial guarantee contracts
is mitigated because they are secured over
the plant and equipment leased, trade
receivables of counterparties and upfront
deposit received in financial guarantee
contracts.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49b

MHERBREEERRER (&

HMEK R (&)

A = /\ nr

RABIEERA Btk U%
NEEFAB@RFTEZIFELT
R TARKRSHARZER
B B RAFES ABmt
EZFIITHEETAEBHEZE
B EBEE R FILL > I
S5 EAMER R BRE D
#7 o

EEARRAETE
Wo®-—£=A=+—8’
AEBELR RS RERTE
AMEEHBREZBBRES
AR HREGAHBRAE
FESEMERSSRER
B {8 e Y S 44F7 18 28 75 R
S BFT IR (0B R 2 A
EESH-FEELREFEE
1D 8 R 38 £ 9 5 LA
ERHSRARENZEEA
o B AU 7 R RIBRUB R
RERREHEWMZEEAR
Ty R R R 8 % T b
EREZEEREHE X5
FrERE R EBRRERR
BN ZBRFAN RS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model in
accordance with HKFRS 9 on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix. In
this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

49. £EfMI A (&

49b

MPHERBREEERKRBE (&

EE B R B EEF G (&

]

=0

5 A4 B s, 25 Iy & A =
EREHELZIENE ZRE

0

mEERAEERR ~&E
EEEBEZKEREEEER
EfRBEREESEH -HiEE
TS T DUBE 1L DUBE (R EREXER
EREU B REE I
FERRBEEEMBHRSER
FOREFARBBAERES
HoERETHRBEEER
BB TR ET G RIS
B ARABDESEDBR/ETERY
EERBRBEZRL -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Other receivables and deposits/loan
receivables/factoring receivables/bank
balances/pledged bank deposits/financial
guarantee contracts

In order to minimise the credit risks of the
loan receivables, only referral customers and
short term borrowing requests are accepted.
Besides, the credit department is responsible
for formulating appropriate credit policies.
It also conducts background and credit
searches and carries out credit assessment
and submits proposal to executive directors
of the Company for further consideration.
Then the executive directors of the Company
take reference of this information and
assess the financial position of each referral
customer to consider if the loan is approved.
Subsequently, the credit department
performs subsequent loan review regularly
to assess if any outstanding loan requires
attention to its collectability. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

49,

TMITA (&

PHERBREEERKRBE (&)

EE B R B EFF ()

7% %TEW%H&ZE\ M2 EERE
rEEERRENER A
HAfEREE R e It oh - EE B P

%EﬂE@A%%fH%’W
ETESRREEREUARMIT
EEFGREAEARBRNITES
REEBEZEURE—FTEE-R
BERARAMTEE2EZER
R EESAEN T LN HER
MoUNERBEHA Eﬁoﬁ
B EEXPITHETERE
BT LU 2 Eéﬁ&%&fﬂﬁj
HAREEZEBRZ B E -
RItFE > ARABEERABE
EENEERMBBERL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Other receivables and deposits/loan
receivables/factoring receivables/bank
balances/pledged bank deposits/financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

In relation to the Group's provision of
guarantees to secure obligations of
customers for repayment of their bank
borrowings, if there is a default in
repayment by these customers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding
bank borrowings together with any accrued
interests and penalties owed by the
customers to banks. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon the repayment of
the underlying loans. In order to minimise
the credit risks of these loans, only referral
customers are accepted and short term
guarantees are granted. Besides, the credit
department conduct background and credit
searches and submit to executive directors
of the Company for further consideration.
Then the executive directors of the Company
take reference of this information and
assess the financial position of each referral
customer before the guarantee is granted.
Upfront deposit will also be received at the
start of the financial guarantee contracts.
In addition, the credit department performs
site visit and loan review regularly to
ensure follow up action is taken to recover
overdue debts, if any. Further, certain
portion of these loans had been settled by
the customers to banks subsequently. In
this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk on such
guarantees is significantly reduced.

49,

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

TMITA (&

49b

MHERREEERKRBR (&)

15 B R 5% R B E AT G (#)

¥/ 54 )

MAEEAREZRBITEE
RITEMNBRHRHEEFRM
B NZRETERENEN &
EEAESEETR NIRRT
R ERRITERERERE
SR B R E R - ZFRAEEN

BERBEEMRBRITER-
mERZSFERNEERR
FERERSENER REHR
RHIER - ULSN S EBPIE
THEREERERAEAT
HITESREZUHE—T=Z
B RBERBAANITEESE
ZER RERBEERANES
LENERNYHARR AN
RETRIBEEFRGORE
AU ER ° 55 5h (S B B PIE HA
ETBEMERKREMES #
RIFEVIRETE R A PER
(WmA) i TERERHR
MIRTTEEZRFEMZE TE
DeEME > AREEER
R/EEENZEERNEGR
B RIBEFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Other receivables and deposits/loan
receivables/factoring receivables/bank
balances/pledged bank deposits/financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

For factoring receivables, it is secured by
the trade receivables of the counterparties.
Besides, the Group monitors financial
position of debtors of other receivables
closely and follow-up action will be taken
to recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on
pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore

no loss allowance was recognised.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49b

MPHERBREEERKRBE (&

EE B R B EEF G (&

ERSA ()

MENEEREREMS  H
U GHF R 2 ENE SR
MR LS REB R E
BIEMEWERE G A
B Wi REBETEIN
WelEmBE#H -sbmsE > &
NEIEERAEEEANEHAR
5B RAKPERE -

ARXZHFAREERTHN
RIT - TEEEERERTZ
SERFH HIL BIEIFR
TERKRTHEZEERR
BR -AEEHBIEFIRITE
MR IRITERER 2+ 18 B TR
EEBEETHE - REFS
BARX DHEFRITERKIRE
THREZ T _EAEREEES
BT B E > I I SRS
BERF-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Other receivables and deposits/loan
receivables/factoring receivables/bank
balances/pledged bank deposits/financial
guarantee contracts (continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical location is in Hong Kong and
Macau, which accounts for 67.8% (2020:
52.8%) of the trade receivables and 29.64%
(2020: 60.8%) of the loan receivables.

Other than the concentration of credit
risk on bank balances and pledged bank
deposits which are placed with several banks
of high credit ratings, the Group does not
have any other significant concentration of
credit risk except for the loan receivables.
As at 31 March 2021, 30.4% (2020:60.8%)
of the loan receivables are due from two
(2020: two) individual borrowers. The Group
has assigned a team to closely follow up
the debts due regularly. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company consider the risk

has been properly addressed.

49,

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

TMITA (&

MPHERBREEERKRBE (&

EE B R B EEF G (&

NEBMZEFREFEERKZM
BUBEDUNREBRE
F> BRAMEDIEERE S
IRIEZ67.8% (ZE T F !
52.8%) MIEWE R 229.64%
(ZEZEHF:60.8%)°

BREBRREEEEETR IR
TZRTEEFERBIRFIRTE
MZEREERRN AEMR
THEEAEMBEREFEFE
Rk (FEMERRIN) -R T
T—F=ZA=+—H>30.4%
(ZEZEF :60.8%) ERE
AR MG (ZEZEF
M) BAERAZER K
EEEEREXTHREIRE
FHaE At XABES
RE RREZAEIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading

49. £&fMI A (&

49b

FEE

4 75 LB

BEEARMER (&

i R B 1B 5T

o4 8 [ P9 B 15 8 AL IR STAR BT A5

assessment comprises the following AR TR ¢
categories:
Internal Other financial assets/
credit rating  Description Trade receivables other items
ABEETE  Hd e B 28R IE Htt&mEE HiMAR
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
LR REHFERRENRRKIETMAHR 2HRHEEESR EAEREESE
A - RHREEHE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
usually settle after due date - not credit-impaired
BERE EBALERYBRENBRENIBE 2HRBEERAE EAEREESE
BE - RHREEHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL - not credit-
credit risk since initial recognition through - not credit-impaired impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
R BBRUAEENINHERGHNENTE 2PRBEEHE FHEREERE
BUREERBREBSEM - RHREEHE - AHREERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL - credit-
credit impaired - credit-impaired impaired
= ARELZEEERREERE FEREERE FHEREERE
-HREERE —-HREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
62 BRBELEF A ARABREMHREAAE HE2H iHEE

330
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk

exposures of the Group’s loan receivables,

factoring receivables, pledged bank deposits,

bank balances, other receivables and

deposits, trade receivables, trade receivables

from related companies and financial

guarantee contracts, which are subject to

ECL assessment as at 31 March 2021:

49. £FT R (&)

4% WHEBREEERKER (&

EE B R B EFF ()

TRV B —F=A8
=t+t—H &xEERETEH
EEBRFLZEBRER E
W rE ERERIE  ERIFIRTT
R RTET  HMEUWER
BEki#E BREZRE
WRAEAREZREKRMERE
RENZEERR

Gross
Internal 12-month carrying
External credit or amounts at
Notes credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2021
RZIE_-F
REIEE  12ERZ2H =A=t+-HZ
2021 ZEZ-& iz SEEETR TR BHEEER BEREE
HK$'000
FET
Financial assets at BEHERSTRZEMEE
amortised cost
Loan receivables R E 23 N/A Low risk' 12-month ECL
B BRER IAEDEEEEE
EEER 180,650
Factoring receivables W A £ RIERE 24 N/A Low risk'  12-month ECL
ENl BER IAEIEEEEE
EEER 111,120
Pledged bank deposits BIEFRITER 26 AAA or AA+ N/A 12-month ECL
AAATIAAHR B 1218 AT
FEBE 207,626
Bank balances RITER 27 AAA or AA+ N/A 12-month ECL
APASIAAHR B 12 TEH
EEER 29,154
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. &M I RA (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEBEBIEBERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 5B RS EFT L ()
(continued)
Gross
Internal 12-month carrying
External credit or amounts at
Notes credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2021
RZIEZ—-F
WEEE  128B%2H =A=t+-HZ
2021 I Myt SNBEETR TR BHEERE EEREE
HK$'000
TERT
Other receivables and deposits ~ EL A U ERIE K 1% & 25 N/A Low risk'  12-month ECL
TER ‘AR 12188 8H
EEHH 44,039
Loss' Credit-impaired
E HREERA -
44,039
Trade receivables W8 ZER1E 25 N/A Low risk?  Lifetime ECL
- goods and services -ERRER% RER B R (provision matrix)
THRREERE
(BEER) 6,406
Low risk? Lifetime ECL
18R LHEHEESE 26,365
Loss' Credit-impaired
Sl HREERE -
32,771

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R

BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIEE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. ERIT A (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEBEBIEBERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
Gross
Internal 12-month carrying
External credit or amounts at
Notes credit rating  rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2021
RIEZ-F
REBEE  12ERH2E =A=+-HZ
2021 —ET-& Hizt SNBEETR TR BHEERE EEREE
HK$'000
TERT
Other items Hittg g
Trade receivables W8 ZER1E 25 N/A Low risk?  Lifetime ECL
- operating lease —REHE A R R (provision matrix)
2HBHEEFE
(BEER) 931
Trade receivables from EWHEABEZKE 25 N/A Low risk’ 12-month ECL
related companies TER BER 1218888
FERA 5,949
Trade receivables - financial W E 7 RE 25 N/A Low risk? 12-month ECL
guarantee contracts —REEREN TEA BER 1218 A FEH
FEFA 937
Financial liabilities - financial ~ £Ri&E 44 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL
guarantee contracts - MEEREN TEH BER 2HBEBEESE 366,919
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ%E =%

(continued)

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £&fMI A (&
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBREMEEK (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EER R BB (B
(continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk TRHFLANR - _ZEF=A
exposures of the Group’s loan receivables, =+ —BAEEBETRIE
factoring receivables, pledged bank deposits, EEETHZRERER E
bank balances, other receivables and W EMREBERIE - BRIFIRT
deposits, trade receivables, trade receivables FERIRITEE  HAEUWER
from related companies, financial guarantee EBHhZes EBWEZRIEE
contracts and amounts due from former WEEBEAA B SR REIE
subsidiaries, which are subject to ECL RE 4 B FEUW BTHT 8 A =) BRIE
assessment as at 31 March 2020: ZIEERE
Gross
12-month carrying
External Internal or amounts at
Notes credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2020
ZZIEE
ABEE NERIZH _FJ +—-Hz
2020 ETEE i3 SNEEETER R HEHEEHR MEREE
HKS'000
FET
Financial assets at BEERATRZERHEE
amortised cost
Loan receivables &R 23 N/A Low risk’ 12-month ECL
FER BERE 1218 5 7855
FEBRE 84,292
Factoring receivables EWEERENE 24 N/A Low risk' 12-month ECL
BB BER 12@EE B
EEBE 98,075
Pledged bank deposits BIEFRITEN 26 AAA or AA+  N/A 12-month ECL
AAFAAHR  AER 12188 8
EEF#R 248,938
Bank balances RITER 27 AAA or AA+  N/A 12-month ECL
AAATIAA+SR  TER 1218 A T
FEBE 25,370
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49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. &M T A (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEBEBIEBERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 5B RS EFT L ()
(continued)
Gross
12-month carrying
External Internal or amounts at
Notes credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2020
RZIEZEE
REEE  12ER%2H =A=t+-HZ
2020 Z2IER iE3 SEEETR TR BHEEER BEREE
HK$'000
FET
Other receivables and deposits ~ EL A U ERIE K % & 25 N/A Low risk'  12-months ECL
TEM RER NEAEHEE
SR 27,322
Loss' Credit-impaired
e ERESAE 1,415
28,737
Trade receivables B 5 8RB 25 N/A Low risk?  Lifetime ECL
- goods and services -ERKkR%E TER 16 & i (provision matrix)
2HBHEERE
(BHEER) 3,681
Low risk? Lifetime ECL
BER LHRREEERE 16,695
Loss' Credit-impaired
BE HREEAE 3,057
23,433

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,
(continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49. &I A (&)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEBEBIEBERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
Gross
12-month carrying
External Internal or amounts at
Notes credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL 31 March 2020
RZIE_EF
REBEE  12ERH2E =A=t+-HZ
2020 —EIEE Mzt SNBEETR TR BHEERE EEREE
HK$'000
TERT
Other items Hittg g
Trade receivables W8 ZER1E 25 N/A Low risk?  Lifetime ECL
- operating lease —REHE A R R (provision matrix)
2HBHEERE
(B 846
Trade receivables from EWHEABE RN 25 N/A Low risk’ 12-month ECL
related companies ~ER BER 1218888
EEHE 162
Trade receivables - financial EWEZiRE 25 N/A Low risk? Lifetime ECL
guarantee contracts —HMEERED TEH 183 2HBEBEESE 13,516
Amounts due from former FEW AT B AR BRE 21 N/A Loss Credit-impaired
subsidiaries TEA B8 HREERE 23,105
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Notes:

For the purposes of internal credit risk
management, the Group uses internal
credit rating information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition.

For trade receivables — goods and services,
trade receivables — operating lease, the
Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-
impaired, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items
by using a provision matrix, grouped by
aging.

For trade receivables — financial guarantee
contracts, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount
the Group has guaranteed under the
respective contracts.

49,

TMITA (&

49b

MPHERBREEERKRBE (&

EE B R B EEF G (&

mat

B P EF 15 B AL IR B IR 7
= A EERAREEE
SERE R T E AR E
NERBURREEEEE
#8100

MEWEZRE-SMk
AR~ BN E FERIE— K
HEMS ~&EHERSE
BB REERNBIRNG
R ZERE=MAREEES
BfERERER -RAE
AAEEEFALREE
WEZ FEWARIE SN A&
HABRPBEEERE E
ERREDENZSES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

HEZZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers
in relation to its trade customers because
these customers consist of a large number
of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms.
The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables — goods and services and trade
receivables — operating lease which are
assessed based on provision matrix as at
31 March 2021 within lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired). Debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit impaired with
gross carrying amounts of HK$26,365,000 as
at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$19,752,000)

were assessed individually.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49b

MHERREEERRER (&

SE R RBETE (&

T’Eﬁ%zﬁﬁlﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁz—
B3 NEBLUER ARE T
HESZERAAHEERRZ R
B LR ZERREES
YRLBRRFEAERZ /N
BERomzERBARELR
BENBERZ[NRERRARIE
ZHED-TRIEHBEANRZ-ZE
T —F=A=1+—HIREEE
BTG IATEREERER
GEHIREERE) 2B KE
ZRE-ERRRBE UK ER
BRREE-REHEZEER
BEMN N EZ—F=AH
=+ HESEAKXREESETR
HIREEREZBEBAZERR
826,365,000t (ZE_=F
££:19,752,00038 7T) Jh B i5 &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £RMTA (#B)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERAMEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = EE R R B (E
(continued)
Loan receivables EUR & 2h
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
wiE
HEREE TIREE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F
ZRA=+—-H T FAT
Low risk (29N 180,650 2.0% 3,548
Factoring receivables FE Uk 78 2% (R IR FR IR
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
AE
MEREE FHESIEE BERE
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2021 RZ-ZE_—&
=B=+—H FHT F#T
Low risk 29N 111,120 1.9% 2,103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

49. £FT R (&)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERAMEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = EE R R B (E
(continued)
Other receivables and deposits HEWEREERIRS
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
A
MBARMEE TIREE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2021 RZZT-—%
=B=+—H FHET FHET
Low risk K&z 44,039 3.4% 1,482
Trade receivables - goods and services FEWE ZRE— & R &R
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
BB
AR E FHESIEE BERE
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2021 RZE=-—%F
=R=+—H FET TERT
Low risk KRB 32,771 1.8% 594

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



49,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. £FTH (&)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Trade receivables - operating lease

HERBEEERREE (&

5B R E L (&

BKEZRE-KEHE

Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance

wiE
HEREE THESEE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—F
ZRA=+—-H T FAT
Low risk (29N 931 14.9% 139
Trade receivables from related EWRMEARZEZRE
companies

Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance

W{E
HEREE THEEE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ—f
=B=+—H FHET FHET
Low risk K&z 5,949 1.0% 61
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

49. £FT R (&)

(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERAMEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = EE R R B (E
(continued)
Trade receivables - financial guarantee B EEIE-RSERaY
contracts
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
BiE
MARMEE FHESIEE BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—%F
=RA=+—H FET TERT
Low risk K&z 937 9.1% 85
Financial liabilities - financial guarantee EMER- MERFEEH
contracts
Corporate Impairment
guarantee Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
»E BB
BEREHR FHESIEE BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2021 RZE=-—%F
=R=+—H FET TERT
Low risk 29N 366,919 1.1% 4,058
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49,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = EE R R B (E
(continued)
Loan receivables EUR & 2h
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
A
HEREE TIREE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZE-THF
=A=+-8 Fi# FiHT
Low risk (29N 84,292 3.6% 3,019
Factoring receivables FE Uk 7 2% (R B FR IR
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
AE
AR E FHESIEE BERE
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZTZTHF
=B=+—H FET TERT
Low risk 29N 98,075 2.2% 2,162

49. &I RA (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £ERMTIA (#B)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERAMEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = EE R R B (E
(continued)
Other receivables EHfthEULBRIE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
wiE
HEREE THESEE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZE-THF
ZRA=+—-H T FAT
Low risk (29N 27,322 0.8% 222
Loss &8 1,415 100.0% 1,415
28,737 5.7% 1,637
Trade receivables - goods and services FEY & 5 BR1E — & M M BR TS
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
wWiE
HEREE THESEE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZT-THF
ZRA=+—H T TAT
Low risk (29N 20,376 2.9% 590
Loss &8 3,057 100.0% 3,057
23,433 15.6% 3,647
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. EFTH (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment = EE R R B (E
(continued)
Trade receivables — operating lease FEWEEEE —KYHE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
A
MBARMEE TIREE BiaEHE
HK$000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZT-THF
=B=+—H FHET F#ET
Low risk e 846 4.7% 40
Trade receivables from related company EWRMEARZEZRE
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
BB
AR E FHESIEE BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2020 RZT-TH
=R=+—H FET TERT
Low risk (AR 162 0.6% 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49. £FT R (&)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBREMEEK (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
Trade receivables - financial guarantee BB SRE-RERESY
contracts
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
AE
MREREE TIREE BERE
HK$'000 HK$°000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZTZTHF
=B=+—H FHT FHT
Low risk (29N 13,516 0.7% 97
Amounts due from former subsidiaries P i B 2 B B R
Gross Impairment
carrying Average loss
amount loss rate allowance
1B
HEREE THESEE BiaEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2020 RZZEZFHF
=B=+—H FHET FHET
Low YN 23,105 100.0% 23,105
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are
adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information

about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
an allowance for expected credit losses of
HK$1,333,000 (2020: HK$1,167,000) was
made on trade receivables — goods and
services and HK$1,114,000 (2020: Nil) was

reversed.

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

49. £FT R (&)

49b

MHBEREEERKER (&

EE B R B EEF G (&

et BRI EREWRERER
FRAFARNZELHRENL
KEE > LIRBFBRATESL
BARB IR ER ZRIE
MERFLRAE -BEEEETE
HERIEFRAURREESR
BN Z BB BT LUE R o

BE_ZE_—F=B=+—
HIEFE fEWEZRE—
EREBRBELEHREES
FE8E151,333,00008 0 (CE
TE 1,167,000 7T) K #EE
1,114,000 7T (ZZ2 224 .

) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. &M I RA (&)

(continued)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBREMEEK (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
The following table shows the movements TRETRESLEMNEUWE
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for SREBE-BnkRBEDR 22
trade receivables — goods and services under HATEERAE ElBEE -

the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit- Total
impaired) impaired) amount
2HTRHY 2HITEE
FEF#E FEFEHE
(REH (3R
EERAE) EEHE) ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT
As at 1 April 2019 RZIE-hE
B—§ - 2,480 2,480
— Impairment losses —BRDAERE
recognised 590 577 1,167
As at 31 March 2020 and WZ_ZE_Ef
1 April 2020 =B=+—-8Bk
—E_ZFNA-H 590 3,057 3,647
—Impairment loss recognised —E R ERE 1,333 - 1,333
~Impairment loss reversal  —E AR EBEERE
for the year (1,114) - (1,114)
~Impairment loss written off —4F A5 (& 5 12 #34
for the year (215) (3,057) (3,272)
As at 31 March 2021 RIZ2Z-F
=ZA=+-H 594 - 594
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. &M T A (&)

(continued)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERABEEBREMEEK (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
The following table shows the movements TRETRESLEMNEUWE
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for SIRBE-KEHERI 228
trade receivables — operating lease under the TREAE B EEE -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL

(credit-

impaired)

2 HATEHA

EEEE

(HR

EERE)

HK$°000

FTERT

As at 1 April 2019 R-E—hEMA—H _

Impairment loss recognised ORI REER 40
As at 31 March 2020 and RoSE-—S&=B=+—HEK

1 April 2020 —E-—=&EmE—H 40

Impairment loss recognised BB EREE 99

As at 31 March 2021 R-E_—F=A=+—H 139
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. ERTI A (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEBEBIEBERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
The following table shows the movements TRETEIRE12E 8 EHE
of loss allowances that has been recognised EFBENEREBEZRE-—ME
for trade receivables — financial guarantee EReN - cHMEaE-—MER
contract, financial liabilities — financial RENREWEEATZEBS
guarantee contracts and trade receivables RIBMR  BIERE 28
from related companies under 12-month
ECL.
Trade Trade Financial
receivables receivables- liabilities-
from financial financial
related guarantee guarantee
companies contracts contracts Total
BEUREARz RKEBREE- SHEE-A
BRRIE RMERR BRREN it
HK$'000 & HK$'000 HK$"000
THT FHET FHET TR
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—-hEMNA—H - - - -
Impairment loss recognised ~ ERERRESE 1 97 - 98
Asat31March 2020and RZZZZHE
1 April 2020 =B=+—-Hk
—E-FEMAB—H 1 97 - 98
Impairment loss recognised ~ ERERRERE 61 81 3,934 4,076
Impairment loss reversal FENECRESE
for the year (1 (98) - (99)
Exchange realignment ERAE - 5 124 129
As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F
=A=+-H 61 85 4,058 4,204
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. &R T A (8)

(continued)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEBEBIEBERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EE R R EF S (B
(continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of TR E M EUARIE K FE
loss allowances that has been recognised WHIH B A S RIS 2 E5i8
for other receivables and amounts due from BEHR

former subsidiaries.

Other receivables HMEWARE
Lifetime
12-month ECL (credit-
ECL impaired) Total
2N
EEE#E
12{8 37848 (HREE
EEEB AE) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET TET
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-hENB—H - 1,400 1,400
— Impairment loss recognised —BRDAESE 222 15 237
As at 31 March 2020 and RZZEZEH£=A=+-HK
1 April 2020 —E-SEMA-A m 1,415 1,637
— Impairment loss recognised —BHEDAERE 1,932 - 1,932
- Impairment loss reversal for the year —F R B EBEED (672) - (672)
- Impairment loss written off —FRREBEHE
for the year - (1,415) (1,415)
As at 31 March 2021 RZBZ-£=A=+—-H 1,482 - 1,482
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o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. ERTI A (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEMEBIEBEFEREEE (&
policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 5B RS EFT L ()
(continued)
Amounts due from former subsidiaries FENS BT /8 2\ Bl AR B
Lifetime
ECL (credit-
impaired)
ZHATEHR
FEERBE
(HIREE
EE)
HK$'000
FET
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—AEEA—AH 23,105
— Impairment loss recognised — BB EEE -
As at 31 March 2020 and R-E-_E=F=H=+—HK
1 April 2020 —E-EFEMA—H 23,105
— Impairment loss written off — R (B S 1B B
for the year (23,105)
As at 31 March 2021 R-E-—#H=B=+—H -
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49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(continued)
Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERAMEEBRENEE (&

49b

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

The following table shows movements of
loss allowance that has been recognised for

loan receivables and factoring receivables

a3 W 5 3 B ik
For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. ERTIR (&

EE B R B EEF G (&

TREBTEREI12ERFELR
EEBEMERERREWRE
X RENERDBZEEREE

under 12-month ECL. gho
Loan Factoring
receivables receivables Total
FEWEE
REKER RIEMIE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTAET AT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—-hEMNA—H - - -
Impairment loss recognised BRZRESE 3,019 2,162 5,181
As at 31 March 2020 and RZBZEE
1 April 2020 =ZR=+-Bk
—E_ZFMA-H 3,019 2,162 5,181
Impairment loss recognised BRZNESE 1,180 6 1,186
Impairment loss reverse for the year S RBERF EED (681) (176) (857)
Exchange realignment ERAE 30 " 141
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—-%=H=+—H 3,548 2,103 5,651
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&0 W55 e 2 B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Loans receivables, factoring receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances

and trade receivables-financial guarantee
contracts

The Group has assessed the financial
position of the debtors of loan receivables
and factoring receivables at the end of
the reporting period using internal credit
rating and concluded that there has been
no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition during the year ended
31 March 2021. The Group also considered
the credit risk on pledged bank deposits
and bank balances is limited since they are
placed with banks with high credit ratings.
Accordingly, no loss allowance is made for
pledged bank deposits and bank balances
for the year ended 31 March 2021. As at 31
March 2021, an allowance of HK$3,548,000
(2020: HK$3,019,000) and HK$2,103,000
(2020: HK$2,162,000) was recognised on
loan receivables and factoring receivables

respectively.

49,

TMITA (&

HERBEEERREE (&

SE R RBETE (&

JEUEL R~ UK 7 3 (R
b awffﬁ RITHER  BRITHE
72 o U B 5 BT — S HE 1R

=i

REEHF AEBERAR
BEEIRHERERRE
KEERERBZEHEAZ
MBERRETTG BABEE
ABREHEE_ZT_—F=H
=+—BHIEFEYTEIU

B BRI 0 o AN EE B JR R
%> BIEFRITERRIRITHE
GZEERBBR REZEH
ENREFEERAESEETRZIE
ToAL #EZTZ—F=
AB=+—HILFE #EHRE
KIFIRTERRIETEEESR
EERBE R_ZTT—F=A
=+—B EnERERKE
W ERERIED B BB EE
3,548,000 (ZE T £ .
3,019,000 7t) %2,103,000
BT (ZEZZH 12,162,000
BIT) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(continued)

Loans receivables, factoring receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances

and trade receivables-financial guarantee
contracts (continued)

For trade receivables-financial guarantee
contracts, the Group has performed
impairment assessment at the end of
the reporting period and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts during the
year ended 31 March 2021. Accordingly,
the loss allowance for financial guarantee
contracts issued by the Group is measured
at an amount equal to 12m ECL and reversal
of allowance of HK$17,000 (2020: Nil)
was recognised in the profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2021. An allowance
of HK$85,000 (2020: HK$97,000) was
recognised on financial guarantee contract
as at 31 March 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of bank and other

borrowings.

The Group relied on bank and other
borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. The Group monitored and reviewed
periodically the conditions of loan covenants
of the existing banking facilities and tried all
efforts to comply with the loan covenants.
In case of any breach of the loan covenants
noted, the Group would communicate with
the respective bank to discuss the possibility
of revising the relevant loan covenants
and arranging for waiver of immediate

repayment.

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49b

MPHERBREEERKRBE (&

RBETER
CEERBETRRSE &
EEERREFRERREESE
EEEREEBGRAEASSE
EEZKEXBREES KM
HREREBRITEZ KT
EEERERRTRAMMBRZ
fERIBEMR

AEBABRTRAEMERS
TERBESRR-AEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
March 2021,

the Group incurred a net loss from

For the year ended 31

continuing operations of approximately
HK$162,179,000 and, as of 31 March
2021, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,233,643,000, while
its bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately HK$29,165,000 only as at
31 March 2021. In addition, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$942,461,000 which were due for
repayment or renewal in the next twelve
months after 31 March 2021. Further,
as described in Note 36, the Group has
defaulted in repayment of interest of
borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$12,637,000 during the year ended
31 March 2021
amounts of borrowings of approximately
HK$395,301,000 as at 31 March 2021

remain outstanding. This had triggered cross

which outstanding

default of another borrowings,
HK$21,404,000 as at 31 March 2021,
which were originally due for repayment

totalling

in December 2021 and will be subject to
immediate repayment if requested by the
respective financial institutions. Further
details are set out in Note 36. These
conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue

as a going concern.
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49,
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HEZZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The directors of the Company have

performed an assessment of the Group's

future liquidity and cash flows, taking into

account the following matters:

(i)

The Group will seek to accelerate the
pre-sales of the service apartments
of the Phase Two Development (as
defined below). Overall, the Group
expects to gradually launch pre-
sales of properties for the Phase Two
Development starting from the third
quarter of 2021. The Group expects
there will be proceeds from pre-sale
of properties from the third quarter of
2021 onwards. The proceeds arising
therefrom will be used for settling
the construction fees, repayment of
existing loan facilities and general

working capital;

the Group has fully settled
defaulted in repayment of interests
of borrowings of approximately
HK$12,637,000 subsequent to the
reporting period. All the default
borrowings and cross default
borrowings were subject to original

contractual repayment dates;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

(iii) ~ the Company has actively negotiated
with banks and financial institutions
to secure the renewals of the Group's
bonds and borrowings to meet its
liabilities when fall due;

(a) the 6.5% coupon bonds of
approximately HK$231,840,000
as at 31 March 2021 provided
by Placing Agent A

In June 2021, the Company
has active discussion of the
possibility of rollover and/
or issue of new bonds to
refinancing the maturing 6.5%
coupon bonds. Placing Agent
A confirmed that they are
now assessing the market and
investors sentiment and, on
behalf of the Company, liaising
with the existing bondholders

to extend the maturity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

49b  Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

(iii) (continued)

(b)

the other borrowing of
approximately HK$369,878,000
as at 31 March 2021 provided
by Lender A

In June 2021, the Company
has requested for extending
the repayment of the
outstanding loan facilities for
twelve months from maturity
date in August 2021. Despite
that the directors of the
Company are confidence in
further extend the repayment
of the principals of the other
borrowing, however, the
terms were not finalised as
at the date of approval of
these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the Group has received a written
confirmation dated 30 June 2021
from Mr. Li, the ultimate controlling
shareholder, that he will provide
continuing financial support to
the Group to enable the Group
to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future, and agreed not
to demand repayment of any of the
amounts due to him by the Group
in the next twelve months from the
date of approval for issue of these

consolidated financial statements;

the Group has taken measures to
tighten cost controls over production
costs and expenses with the aim of
attaining profitable and positive cash

flow operations;

the Group may consider to dispose
non-core business and/or financial
assets if required; and

the Group is currently soliciting
different source of funds, including
additional banking facilities to further
support the Group’s funding needs
should the aforesaid operating cash
inflows turned out to be less than

forecasted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The directors of the Company consider
that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the foreseeable future. On this basis,
the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.
However, should the above refinancing plans
not be able to be implemented successfully,
or the existing facilities provided by Mr. Li
are no longer available to the Group, the
Group may not have sufficient funds to
operate as a going concern, in which case
adjustments might have to be made to the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to reclassify the non-
current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively and to provide for any further

liabilities which might arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included
in the earliest time band regardless of the
probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate at the end of the

reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. FTH (&
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HHERAMEEBRENEE (&
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) FEEE (B
Liquidity tables BB T 57
Total
Weighted carrying
average  On demand 3 months Total  amounts at
effective  or less than to 1-2 Over undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months 1 year years 2 years cash flows 2021
RZBZ-F
MEFS REXY =faR *HRRE =A=t+-H
BRFIE  DR=@A E-F —ERE BBmE mERE  ZRREE
% per annum HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FFIE% T#w T T#w TR THw T#ET
31 March 2021 ZEI-EZR=+-H
Other payables and accruals HEtEAREREER - 99,807 - - - 99,807 99,807
Deposits received from tenants and  [ARRREE UM Z &
customers - 33,135 - - - 33,135 33,135
Lease liabilities BEAR 5.1 2,501 6,550 6,671 2,001 17,723 16,757
Construction costs accruals EsHEERA - 195,090 - 52,902 - 247,992 247,992
Amounts due to directors EEERE 11.00 m 2,300 43,914 - 46,986 39,690
Amounts due to related companies  FE{T B EAEIHRIE 14.00 - - 245,205 - 245,205 202,501
Loans from staff ETIER 12.50 - 29,802 - - 29,802 26,849
Other borrowing-fixed rate HitfER-E8 8.18 632,506 148,719 169,312 - 950,537 880,671
Bank borrowings - fixed rate RITER-EL 6.51 25,533 78,323 62,061 553,795 719,712 500,457
Bank borrowings - variable rate RITERZE 5.35 2,671 148,075 829 10,030 161,605 155,158
Bank overdraft - variable rate RIBEL-TE 5.25 13,229 - - - 13,229 13,058
6.5% coupon bonds - fixed rate 65%ZEEF-ER 9.59 17,932 220,706 - - 238,638 231,840
13.0% coupon bonds - fixed rate 13.00 244,652 21,702 2,333 - 268,687 236,987
1,267,828 656,177 583,227 565,826 3,073,058 2,684,902
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

-_— =
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £MITH (&)
(continued)
49b  Financial risk management objectives and 49b HIBEMBEBIEERERBE (&
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) FEEE (B
Liguidity tables (continued) FEEeLE (&)
Total
Weighted carrying
average On demand 3 months Total amounts at
effective o less than to 1-2 Over  undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months 1 year years 2 years cash flows 2020
RIZZZE
MEEH RERY, =f8a FERRE =A=t-H
BRAE  DRZEAR E-F —ERE BBRE TEAE  ZEREER
% per annum HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FFIE% TR TR TER TR TER FET
31 March 2020 ZEIFEZR=+-H
Trade payables ECES - 12 - - - 12 12
Other payables and accruals EfERBRESER - 92,493 - - - 92,493 92,493
Deposits received from tenants BRAREANERZ e
and customers - 26,431 - - - 26,431 26,431
Lease liabilities fEak 5.10-6.00 - 10,756 11,015 - 2,77 20,529
Construction costs accruals st BEMA - 154,522 - - - 154,522 154,522
Amounts due to directors EEZRE - 18,494 - - - 18,494 18,494
Amounts due to related companies  FE{} B E AT BRIE 14.00 - - 211,846 - 211,846 184,879
Amounts due to former subsidiaries FE{T AIFBARIRE - 9,164 - - - 9,164 9,164
Loans from staff BIER 12.50 28,103 25 - - 28,128 27,265
Other borrowing-fixed rate HifER-E8 1223 553,609 168,087 - 182,103 903,799 826,388
Bank borrowings - fixed rate RITER-ER 8.50 29,580 29,580 414,122 - 473,08 436,205
Bank borrowings - variable rate  $ETER T8 6.92 142,355 30473 18,570 11,320 202,718 188,127
Bank overdraft - variable rate RITBZZE 5.25 10,484 - - - 10,484 9,961
9.0% coupon bonds - fixed rate ~ 9.0%ZEEH-TE 11.89 - 109,025 - - 109,025 105,375
6.5% coupon bonds - fixed rate ~ 6.5%Z8FEH-TE 9.59 - 213,036 - - 213,036 205,903
13.0% coupon bonds - fixed rate ~ 13.0%ZEEH-TE 13.00 295,415 - - - 295,415 251,866
1,360,662 560,982 655,553 193,423 2,770,620 2,557,614
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amount included above for financial
guarantee contracts is the maximum amount
the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the directors of the Company
consider that it is more likely than not
that no amount will be payable under
the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are

guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)

49b

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2021,
has bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$2,469,000 and
approximately 416,704,000 respectively
(2020: approximately HK$16,416,000 and
approximately HK$395,119,000 respectively)

the Group

that contains a repayable on demand clause.
Taking into account the Group's financial
position, the directors of the Company did
not believe that it was probable that the
bank and the financial institutions would
exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such bank and
other borrowings would be repaid from
one years (2020: one to three years) after
the reporting date in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreement. As at 31 March 2021,
the aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows would amount to approximately
HK$442,303,000 (approximately
HK433,382,000 repayable within 1 year
and approximately HK$8,921,000 repayable
1 to 2 years). As at 31 March 2020, the
aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows would amount to approximately
HK$411,535,000 (approximately
HK$74,173,000 repayable within 1 year,
approximately HK$336,515,000 repayable 1
to 2 years, and approximately HK$847,000
repayable 2 to 3 years).
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

(continued)

49c¢

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

This note provides information about how
the Group determines fair value of various

financial assets and financial liabilities.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it
is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not
available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation committee works closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The accounting officer reports
the findings of the valuation to the board of
directors of the Company every half year to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair

value.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value

on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets
are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information
about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s)
and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into
which the fair value measurements
are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based
on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements is

observable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021
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BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. £EfMI A (&

(continued)

49c  Fair value measurements of financial 49¢ MIBZRFEF=Z (&
instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) IR EE F P A8 B A LY
assets that are measured at fair value N FPEFTEZTHEE
on a recurring basis (continued) NFE (#E)

Fair value as at
RUTRHZATE Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant
Financial assets 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs
ZEZ-F b el -3
SHEE =B=+-H =B=+-H ATEBSR RESERIZHAEG BEXRTHEHAR
Unlisted equity  Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 3 Income approach - in Long-term revenue growth

instruments at

instruments in Lending ~ instruments in Lending B

;55\\/%% 5 Home-HKSEI6000  Home - HKS1 060,000
i g 7 Lending HomeZ Lending Home2
BETR FrogsTA-  FLPEEIA-

ml= 816,000 £ 1,060,007 ¢
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this approach, the
discounted cash flow
method was used to
capture the present
value of the expected
future economic benefits
to be derived from the
ownership of these
investees.
WAE—R AT ER 5
BIRREREEGHA
BREZERRERZ
BEERIS ZAREE
HmzRE.

rates, taking into account
management’s experience
and knowledge of market
conditions of the specific
industries, steadily at 2.4 per
cent (2020: 2.3 per cent).
(Note 1)
RABAEREERE24%
(CEZZF123%)
SR RERE LR R
HURETEDTRZ TR
(My&t1)

Long-term pre-tax operating
margin taking into account
management's experience
and knowledge of market
conditions of the specific
industries, 20.2 per cent
(2020: 15.4 per cent). (Note 2)

RBMAICERBES20.2%
(C222F1154%)
B RERBZERE
HABETEDRZT B
G2

Weighted average cost of capital
("WACC"), 12.6 per cent
(2020:12.5 per cent). (Note 3)

MEFHERRA (T
THERMA)) 7512.6%

(CE2EZ2F:125%)
(Hat3)

Discount for lack of marketability,
determined by reference to the
share price of listed entities in
similar industries, 28.9 per cent
(2020: 25.1 per cent). (Note 4)

RZHEmEETEA28.9%

(C222F1251%)°
BBEZEMUTERLTE
BZREEE  (Hz4)

369
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o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. @I A (&
(continued)
49¢  Fair value measurements of financial 49c¢ EMIAZATESE (&
instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) IR EE F P A8 B A LY
assets that are measured at fair value NTFEFGTEZ ZHEE
on a recurring basis (continued) NFE (#E)

Fair value as at
RUTRHZATE Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant
Financial assets 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs
ZBC-% ZRIBE
SHEE =A=+-H =A=+-H ATERR RHEFEIRIEBAGE EXFABRRBAE
Unlisted equity  Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 2 Cost approach - based on ~ N/A
instruments at  instruments in a instruments in a BR the replacement cost of ~ NEH
FVTPL company engaged company engaged identical or similar asset
BATESA in financial in financial on the market.
Bz LT advisory services - advisory services - M E-ERT5LLER
EzIR HK$1,712,000 and HK$ 1,146,000 and. FELBEZRBRS
a company engaged a company engaged Be
in a premium global in a premium global
innovation hub for innovation hub for
startups. Corporation startups. Corporations
and individuals - and individuals -
HK$8,642,000 HK$8,070,000
—ERENBERRE —BAEMEERRS
ZARZE LT ZAEZ kLT
TE-1,712,00087T TE-1,146,0007T
R—B2E0atE.  R-B2ENHRE.
REREANEEZR REAREANEER
KA OB AT - IREIF OB AT -
8,642,000%7¢ 8,070,000%7¢
Unlisted equity  Unlisted equity Unlisted equity Level 2 Market approach — based ~ N/A
instruments at  instruments in a instruments in a B on similar assets sold B
FVTPL company engaged company engaged in market or similar
BATESTAE  inweb security in web security business operations as
@ZI LR software and related software and related comparable
#IA implementation and support (“Uniken") - M E-RERTS LY
support ("Uniken”) - HK$1,417,000 EZENBERENE
HK$ 1,431,000 —BitEREZER BEEFAELRE
—EREEEZ 20 HRIEEZRZA =]
RERRITRZRZ 7] (TUniken)) 7
A8 (TUniken ) Z FLEmEHEIA-
FLHERTIA- 1,417,000t
1,431,000 7
Payment fora  Asset-HK$11,610,000  Asset - Level 3 Discounted cash flow Discount rate ranging from
life insurance  EE—11,610,0007c HK$12,825,000 B method was used to 1.9 to0 4.2 per cent (2020:

policy EE—12,825,000%7C capture the present value 2.5 to 3.7 per cents). (Note
ANERBREZ of the expected future 9
e economic benefits that ~ BEIRENF1.9%%F4.2%
will flow into the Group. (ZEZEF 125%F
FRERERE RS 3.7%) o (Hfz#5)
BHRRALERZER
RIS ER G2 FE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
49c  Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(1)

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (continued)

Note 1:A slight decrease in the long-
term revenue growth rates used
in isolation would result in a
slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted
equity instruments, and vice versa.
A 2% (2020: 2%) decrease in the
long-term revenue growth rates
holding all other variables constant
would decrease the carrying
amount of shares of Lending
Home by HK$47,000 (2020:
HK$115,000).

Note 2: A slight decrease in the long-
term pre-tax operating margin
used in isolation would result in
a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted
equity instruments, and vice versa.
A 2% (2020:2%) decrease in
the long-term pre-tax operating
margin holding all other variables
constant would decrease the
carrying amount of the shares
of Lending Home by HK$14,000
(2020: HK$124,000).

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

TMITA (&

TMIAZAFESE B

()  FEERETERELX
RFEFEZZHE
R (&

Mz BESANE
AL E
KEMTRER
BRI LT
m LTRENAT
B E28MT
b > R ZIRFR o
B HME
ETENBER
o RBHKA
BREETE2%

—_E_E
FI2%) #FEE
Lending Home
B9 B& 17 BR E (&
H047,0007 7T

TR BE
115,000 7T) ©

Mz BEERANE
R KE
M EEEMT
P I
mHEETIAE®N
NREBEFER
MTRE Rz
MR LA
Hh & 8 1 &
HERTE
R AR A A2 A
BETHE2%

—_E2_=
F12%) BE
Lending Home
BB 15 R E B
JH414,0005 7T

—EHE

124,000 7T) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

HEZZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

49c¢

(1)

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (continued)

Note 3:

Note 4:

A slight increase in WACC used
in isolation would result in a
slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted
equity instruments, and vice versa.
A 2% (2020: 2%) increase in
WACC holding all other variables
constant would decrease the
carrying amount of the shares
of Lending Home by HK$71,000
(2020: HK$155,000).

A slight increase in the discount
for lack of marketability used
in isolation would result in a
slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted
equity instruments, and vice ver sa.
A 2% (2020: 2%) increase in the
discount for lack of marketability
holding all other variables constant
would decrease the carrying
amount of the shares of Lending
Home by HK$14,000 (2020:
HK$24,000).

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

49,

TMITA (&

49c EMIAZRTEFE &

(i)
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NFEFABZEMEE
NFE (#E)

Hfat3 -

Hfat4 -

BB AN
¥ HE XK
REM EFAF
B IF L
@w=TENAFE
B E28MT
> R2ZIRFRe
TEFFE H &
ERENIBER
ToomEFH
BAE AR LA
2% (ZZ2ZZ
F12%) BFE
Lending Home
B9 Bg 5 R E (B
71,0008 7T

TR CEE

—_—= ==

155,000 %) ©

B8 5 A BV ER
B RE N
e ey A
BERIELT
BEILENR
FEFEEM
P& R ZIR
RoEMEH
s REmN
BRTB®Z
™35 A AT
ELEF2% (=
TTZTF 2%
) #fELending
Home B B% 19
RmE AL
14,0005 7T (Z
==

24,000%7T) ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
49c  Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (continued)

(1)

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (continued)

Note 5: A slight increase in the discount
rate used in isolation would result
in a significant decrease in the
fair value measurement of the
payment for a life insurance policy
and vice versa. A 0.25% (2020:
0.25%) increase in the discount
rate holding all other variables
constant would decrease the
carrying amount of the payment
for a life insurance policy by
HK$809,000 (2020: HK$929,000).

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

49, EHEIE (II'E

49c ®MIEBEZAFESE (&

(i)

IR F pr A = EEAE LY

N FEFEZTHEE

WFE (B

HEEs:  BIEE AR
IRy
ARBERANE
REBREZ
MR FE s
2 KRKMETE>
RZINAR 1T
FrEHMES
rEWNER
oo REIRE E
F0.25% (=
T2 HF
0.25%) i fE A
EREFREZ
{30 ER @A R
/1>809,0007 7T
TEITFE

929,000 7T) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. ERTI A (&)
(continued)
49c  Fair value measurements of financial 49¢ ZFMIAZRFESE=ZE (&
instruments (continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group's financial (i)  AEEXUNFEFEZ
liabilities that are measured at fair THEELTFE
value

Fair value as at

Financial RUTHBEZATE Fairvalue  Valuation technique Significant
liabilities 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs
—B--f b et 23
tRaE =A=+-H =ZA=+—-H ATERS HEFERIEHAE EXFAHREAE
Put option - HK$4,604,000 Level 3 Binomial Option Pricing Stock price and historical
derivative Model in this model, volatility taking into

variables (stock price, account management
strike price, time to experience and
maturity, historical knowledge of the specific
volatility, interest rate industries (Note 6)

and dividend yield) were
used to capture the
theoretical value.

ERE L - 4,604,0007% 7T F3% “EAMEEERE- R ROERRELREZE
fTEIA ZERN EREB (R EEEHRETRZE
HERTHREDSEE  RBRANE (W)
il E LR MR R R
EREE) LG ERE
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 49. &R TR (&
(continued)
49c  Fair value measurements of financial 49¢ EMITHAZATFESE &)
instruments (continued)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial (i) FAEBEULFEFEZ
liabilities that are measured at fair THEELNTE &

value (continued)

Note 6:As at 31 March 2020, slight Mtite . KRBT H
decrease in historical volatility =R =+ -
used in isolation would result B BE®ER
in a slight decrease in the fair s S
value measurement of the put (L O ROY S
option derivative, and vice versa. omAETTE
A 2% decrease in the historical TENATE
volatility holding all other variables 52 K WMOR
constant would decrease the RN~y
carrying amount of the put option Ao EE KR
derivative by HK$639,000. 2% > P

ARMBER
S R
D 8B 5 A B 7

S TEMNERR
{£639,000%
7750
There were no transfers between PREFE > FEQF
different levels of fair value hierarchy B 4R = 8 I F 1 7] 45

in the both year. £o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49,

(continued)

49c¢

instruments (continued)

(iif)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value measurements of financial

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurements

BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIEE

49.

49c¢

(iif)

Financial assets

TR (&)

EMIAZAFENE (B)

FBZRAFEGEZ
AR

Financial liabilities

SHEE SHaf
Payment
Unlisted for a life
equity insurance Put option
investments policy Total  derivative Total
kLT ASHRHEE DikE
HnRE PAGEN s fTETA Mzt
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TET TAR TAR TR TR
At 1 April 2019 RIZ-NF
mA—H 2,333 12,254 14,587 - -
Fair value gain/(loss) RERRDZ
recognised in profitor loss AT ENE/ (58 ) 565 561 4,694 4,694
Addition HE - - - (8,839) (8.839)
Realised during the year FRER (1,319) - (1,319) - -
Exchange realignment ERAEE 50 6 56 81 81
At 31 March 2020 and RZB_EE
1 April 2020 ZB=+-8k
“ZTZENA-H 1,060 12,825 13,885 (4,064) (4,064)
Fair value loss recognised RERRDZ
in profit or loss ATESE (244) (1,219) (1,463) 4,064 4,064
Addition #E - - - - -
Exchange realignment ERAEE - 4 4 - -
At 31 March 2021 R_E_-F
ZA=+-H 816 11,610 12,426 - -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021

49. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
49c  Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

measurements (continued)

Of the total gains or losses for
the year included in profit or loss,
loss of HK$307,000 (2020: gain
of HK$19,000) relates to financial
assets at FVTPL held at the end of the
reporting period. Fair value gains or
losses on financial assets at FVTPL are
included in ‘other income, gains and

losses’.

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value (but fair

value disclosures are required)

The fair values of other financial
assets and financial liabilities have
been determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis, with the most
significant inputs being the discount
rate that reflects the credit risk of

counterparties.

The directors of the Company
consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements

approximate their fair values.

HEDZ

——HE=HA=F—HLEE

49. £EfMI A (&

49c EMIAZNTFEFE (8

(iif)

(iv)

B=RATFEAEZ
R (B)
FARAFABR Z R
WamEEEAF BB
307,000 T (ZE &
F R 19,0008 7T) 15
BRBRERRASER
REESFABTZZ M
EEBM -BAFE
ABmZETHEEZAR
FEWKENEERTEIA
FE MU A~ I K &S
8o

KEFIEIZ L FlEGZE
ZEMREERTHEE
W (E B E L F
18)
HttEMEEREMEA
Bz AT ERENAR
REREDMZARBE
BERIUET K¥nE
KBMABARBEZZH
FEERRZEIFZE-

KRB EEFDR AR
CREE SRS =10
EANRZEREERE
MEREZREAEZER
FERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

50.

BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIEE

=4 s s -
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 50. MEEEBELZEBEHER
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's TRHFMAEERMETELEZBE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including 2F (BERERIFREED) -ME
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising EHELZEBEAREREEARK
from financing activities are those for which cash HeERERNGRaRERERNES
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified METHELEZREREBZEBE
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
Financing
cash flows New
1 April other than Accrual Interest lease Exchange 31 March
2021 ZZ-f 2020 interest interest paid entered Others realignment 2021
HERERE
k- a2 Hth Z5z-f
mA-A (FEERE) RIS BfIfIS EHE Hh ER#HE =A=t+-A
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
ThET THx THET ThEx FHET T Thn ThEx
Bank and other borrowings FIREMER 1,460,681 (23,936) 172,595 (78,085) - (19,038)" 37,127 1,549,344
Loans from staff BTER 27,265 1,167 830 (3,408) - - 995 26,849
Amounts due to related EfEEATRE
companies 184,879 (28,045) 17,607 - - - 28,060 202,501
Amounts due to directors ERESKA 18,494 24,732 3,150 (1,690) - (4,996)) - 39,690
Amounts due to former subsidiaries  FEfT A1 BARKE 9,164 - - - - (9,164)0 - -
9.0% coupon bonds 9.0%EEES 105,375 (100,000) 3,625 (9,000) - - - -
6.5% coupon bonds 65%ZEMES 205,903 6,500 20,687 (61,250) - - - 231,80
13.0% coupon bonds 13.0%Z8E5 251,866 - 30,653 (46,273) - - 741 236,987
Lease labities BEEH 20529 (9,887) 824 (824) 7,236 (1,129)% 8 16,757
Put option derivative REERTETR 4,064 - - - - (4,064)% - -
Total s 2,288,220 (69,469) 29,971 200530) 7,236 (38391) 66,931 2,303,968

CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 3 [ 5 B B PE R A BR 24 F] | Annual Report 2021 53R



50.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Sh 3= 3 = =
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 50. MEFEBELZEEHIKR B
ACTIVITIES (continued)
Impact on Financing
initial cash flows New
1 April application other than Accrual Interest lease Exchange 31 March
2020 2019 of HKFRS 16 interest interest paid entered Others realignment 2020
BERER
BRHBRE
IB-hE EREIEZ  RERERE
mE—-A geE  (FeENS) RIS BfiFIS EHEA it EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RE TEn FEn T RE TEn TEn T Tn
Bank and other borrowings FIRAMER 1,460,171 - (16,475) 134,338 (94,826) - (10,151)0 (12,376) 1,460,681
Loans from staff EIEX 23,801 - 3374 - - - - - 27,265
Amounts due to related EfBEATRE
companies 441,024 - (266,473) 33,561 - - - (23,233) 184,879
Amounts due to directors EESRE 7,182 - 28,241 - - - (16,929)"" - 18,494
Amounts due to former ERANBATRE
subsidiaries 9,164 - - - - - - - 9,164
9.0% coupon bonds 90%ZEEH 366,656 - (281,500) 22810 - - (2,592) 1 105,375
12.0% coupon bonds 120%28E% 120321 - (117,360) 5852 (9971) - 1,533 (375) -
6.5% coupon bonds & - - 193,920 11,983 - - - - 205,903
13.0% coupon bonds 1BO%ZEES - - 234720 19,516 (127) - - (2,243) 251,866
Lease liabilities HEER - 7,339 (7,280) 683 - 20,736 @877 (72) 20,529
Obligations under finance leases  FAEM &A% 144 (144) - - - - - - -
Obligation arising fromaput ~ MFERRER
option to a non-controlling DEAREEZ AR
shareholder 87,089 - - 8,122 - - (89,473)" (5,738) -
Put option derivative DEARTEIR - - - - - - 4,145 (81) 4,064
Total b 2,515,642 7,195 (228,833) 236,865 (104,924) 20,736 (114,344) (44,117) 2,288,220
. N . (i) ZE2BEENLERBRR (242
(i) The amount represents the liabilities over which " e
P , o R43) R A B
control was lost upon the disposal of subsidiaries
(note 42 and 43).
. . ) i A EIEE AT N4l 3£
(ii) The amount represents the deem contribution (i ;i%jﬁﬁ?‘%k BEREDRR
o
from controlling interests shareholder.
(iii) The amount represents gain on non-substantial (iii)

modification of financial liabilities measured at

amortised cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (continued)

(iv) The amount represents loss on extinguishment of
coupon bond.

(v) The amount represents the loss on termination of
lease.

(vi) HK$89,473,000 was derecognised and adjusted
against non-controlling interest for an amount
of HK$68,009,000 and remaining amount of
HK$21,464,000 was adjusted against retained
profits.

(vii) The amount represents the fair value of the put
option derivative of HK$8,839,000 as at the date
of disposal of a subsidiary net of the fair value
change of HK$4,694,000 recognised through
profit or loss at the reporting period.

(viii)  The amounts represents the adjustment on
carrying amount of amounts due to directors and
carrying amount of other borrowings.

(ix) The amount represents the lease modification.

(x) The amount represents the expired of the put
option derivative.

50.

MEZHEEZEEHEK (&

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

ZEREEBRERFZHIR-

RERRIERIEAEZ iR

89,473,000/ 7T B 42 IEFERD > I #
#68,009,0008 7t Z JE IR R 1F
L §7%821,464,0008 T EHE
RERFERE

ZEBEERHENBAREBH
ZRERBTETLRZAFE
8,839,000 L HIFRNESE
HERRERAZAFTHEHEY
4,694,000 7T °

ZEREHBNESFRRAZRERE
BEREMERZEEEFELZH

%o

ZLEEEHEEN

ZL R AL AT ET R
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51.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 51.

Transactions with related parties

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
provided financial guarantee services, rental services
and property management services to the related
companies which also constituted as continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules and
the amounts as listed in the table below:

REALRS
HEEALZRS

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

RBEE_ZE_—F=A=+—HLF
ER AEEBBREARRHMERE
RERH HERBRDEEERE
miRE L HRA - AR AR TS 7R A8 A Fr
BRAER S M TRPIR:

Revenue from financial
guarantee services

AMEEAREBRA

2021
T
HK$’000
FTET

2020
bt 32
HK$'000
THT

8 (H13F)

P

Related Companies (Note) RAE

158

341

Rental
income

HEWA
2021
- —&
HK$’000
FHET

8] (f1z2)

D>

Related Companies (Note) 8 72/

2,130

Property
management
services
income
and other
utilities
income
MEEIRE
BR 75 WA B
Htt~H
HEWA
2021
B
HK$'000
FAT

Related Companies (Note) fE AT B5E)

3,440
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

51.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

HEALRSZ (&)

BREANLTZR S (B)

\

Rental expenses

HERX
2021 2020
—eT-F T EH
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Related Companies (Note) RAE N B (KaE) 723 1,082

Note: Companies in which the controlling shareholder
of the Company (who is also a director of the
Company) or the relatives of this controlling
shareholder has significant influence to these
companies (“Related Companies”).

Apart from the transactions as listed in the
table above, financial guarantee provided to
the Related Companies for the year ended 31
March 2021 was RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,916,000) (2020: RMB5,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$5,453,000)). Details of the guarantee
amount are set out in note 44.

Balances with Related Companies

Details of the balance with Related Companies
which is trade in nature and non-trade in nature as
at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are set out in note 25

and note 35, respectively.

HtaF . AABERRE (RIAKATE
) NZERBRZBBHATE
BAEEHhzzERE ((MEA
B) e

BrEMRBEATZRZ 9 BHE
T —F=A8 :‘f’—Elﬂ:Eg’ﬁ
FAEADIRMHZBEERAARRE
5,000,0007T (8 & #25,916,0007% 7T)
—ETZ24H . AR¥5,000,0007T
(FHE 525,453,000 7))  #EFS
B BE N 440

RZIEBEZ—FR-IZEZZF=A
=t+—H HEAEABZEER (95
REBEZMERIIFEZHE) F1BE2H
M 5E25 K MfsE35 ¢
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 51.

(continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

HEALRSZ (&)

TEBEABZME

2021 2020

—E—F === 5

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Salaries and other benefits e REMBET 25,531 23,930
Post-employment benefits RIEBET 180 211
25,711 24,141

All the directors are considered as key management
of the Group. During both years, certain managerial
employee have been authorised to plan, direct
and control activities of the Group. Accordingly,
compensation to those managerial employee has
been included as part of compensation of key

management personnel.

The remuneration of key management is
determined by the Company’s nomination and
remuneration committee having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends.

PREEFHAFERZETEERE
KMEFERETEEERE
EERESE ETRREERAERY
KEZH AL - ZFEEEREZ
MEEFRaETEEEBABZME 2 —
B AfRe

TEEEANBZHINBARBZIES
RiMEZEEERAEBAXRERTEE
BEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE
M B AT F15
UTAFATR B —ER_F
“EFEZA=+-AZWEARZ
B
Proportion of
ownership interest

52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 52.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March
2021 and 2020 are as follows:
Issued

share capital/
paid up registered

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Name of companies and operations _capital held by the Company Principle activities
AR/ BRI K BRIKE/ FAEMER
SR sEM% BRHMES BRERDZLILA TEER
2021 2020
ZEZ-F “RCEE
Acelin Investments Limited BV 4 shares of USD1 each = 100%  Investment holding
HEEFAREE ARROEREE REER
(ES
Acme Power Holdings Limited Bvi 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
ZRERERAR HBEMREE WHQH%}HQELE RErR
1X7T
Alpha Yield Limited Bvie 100 shares of USD1 51% 51%  Investment holding
BREERAR HEETMREE each REER
1008 B EREE
(ES
Alphamount Limited Bvi 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEBRRAE HBEMREE 1RRNEREE SERR
127t
Blessing China Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of - 100%  Property holding
HEBRAS A HK$1 each WERE
REERER
AETET
Balance Pursue Limited Bvi 1 Share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEBRAF HBEMREE 1RRNEREE SERR
127t
Brave Plan Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERAA A HK$1 each REER
REERER
AETET
Beyond Success Global Limited BV 1 Share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRIRKERAR HBEMREE 1RRNEREE SERR
127t
Chinlink Alpha Limited (Note 1) Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 51% 51%  Investment holding
EhERERAR (M) A HK$1 each REER
R EERER
AETET
Chinlink C_apital Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% Investment holding
EEFEERBRAT Bl HK$1 each SERR
REBRSR
EEIAT
Chinlink Makerspace Management ~ PRC 100% 100%  Electronic Commerce

Nil

(Xian) Company Limited HE z BEFES

(Formerly known as Chinlink

E-commerce (Xi'an) Company

Limited) (Note 2)
EEFERAEHER

(A% ERAE (FifEA

BETREETHER (BER)

BIRAR) (Wat2)
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52.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued
share capital/
paid up registered

BE_ZE

gy

Proportion of
ownership interest

#15 (&

——HE=HA=F—HLEE

Name of companies and operations capital held by the Company Principle activities
SERBIL IR BETRE/ FREMEH
RERHE EEM EHGERESR ERERGZIA FEEH
2021 2020
“BC-F k223
Chinlink Forever Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of 51% 51%  Inactive
Rich Company Limited ) HK$ 1 each HEEE
EHEEERAS 100k EBRER
EETET
Chinlink Glory Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
EREEERAR Bl share of HK$1 each REZR
1,000,000 £ &
SREEVET
Chinlink Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Inactive
EETPEERERERAT A HK$1 each HEEx
1REBR
SREAEIET
Chlnlmk Hanzhong Logistics Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Bl HKS 1 each BREER
i[q]%/im@mﬁﬁﬁﬁj 1REER
SREEVET
Chinlink International Trade PRC RMB277,800,000 100% 100% Property investment
Centre (Hanzhong) FE AR 1277,800,0007¢ E$4
Company L\mited (Note 2)
BERLEBZ BRI
(£F) BRAT (Hf522)
Chinlink Hong Kong Company Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited BE HK$1 each REZR
LERE (B8) BRAF 1REER
SREEVET
Chinlink Management PRC Nil 100% 100%  Consulting
Consulting (Xi'an) FE g B
Company Limited (Note 2)
LERSERAH
(AR BERAR (Ha22)
Chinlink Mega Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERKEERAR A HK$1 each REER
1REBR
SREAEIET
Chinlink Property Management PRC Nil 100% 100%  Inactive
(Shaanxi) Company Limited HhE z LEE¥

(Note 2)
EERSMEER
(Bk78) BIRAT (HizE2)

Annual Report 2021 %8 | CHINLINK INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ¥ FE H 45 [ B 2 1t A5 PR 23 ]

385



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE
52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 52. MIBREIFHE (&
(continued)

Place of Issued

incorporation/ share capital/
establishment paid up registered

Proportion of
ownership interest
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Name of companies and operations capital held by the Company Principle activities
SR, PRI K BETRE/ KREAHE
RERHE EEM EHGERESR ERERG LA FEEH
2021 2020
—E--F ZZ2IERE
Chinlink Supreme Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
LEFE=HAERAT Bl HK$1 each BRERR
R BB
SREEVET
Chinlink Supply Chain Financial PRC UsD4,000,000 100% 100% Provision of logistics
Management (Shaanxi) T 4,000,000% 7T services
Company Limited (Formerly RAEMRR
known as Chinlink Supply Chain
Services (Shaanxi) Company
Limited) (Note 2)
EERSHERSMER (A
ARAR FEAEERE
HREEEIE (K7 BRAS)
(Hz2)
Chinlink Strategic Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
EETPEREFRAT A HK$1 each REER
1REBER
SkEGEVET
Chinlink Tian Hui Company Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Trading of electronic
EhXEBRAE ) HK$1 each products
1R EERE EFEREBSR
SREEVET
CLI Design (HK) Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of - 100%  Trading of furniture and
EERE (BB BRAE BE HK$1 each fixtures
R EER BRNEEES
SREMEIET
CLI Design (Macau) Limited Macau 2 ordinary shares of - 100% Interior decoration work
E@ER s (RFT) BIRAA BP9 MOP 15,000 each EREMHTRE
JREBRER
E{815,00082 7T
CLI Design Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of - 100% Interior decoration work
EERTBRAT &% HK$1 each FREHIE
2REER
SREEVET
Dawn Brightness Global Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERRKERAE HEEMREE RROHEREE REZR
(ES
E-Innovation Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
1BRIBERRAE HBEMREE 1RRAEREE BRERR

3



52.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued
share capital/
paid up registered

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

MBRBFE (&

Proportion of
ownership interest

Name of companies and operations _capital held by the Company Principle activities
SERBIL IR BRITRE,/ FREMEH
RERHE EEM EHGERESR ERERGZIA FEEH
2021 2020
8% ZZ2IERE
Esteemed Zone Limited Bvi 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
LEBRAR REBYN EBERRES 1RRAEREE RELRK
IERRGERARIZAHE 1%7
ETES
Fair Fortune Group Limited Bvi 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
RMEEERAR HEEMREE 1RRNEREE REER
(ES
Galactic Power Limited Bvi 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Financial services
EUSRERAT (REBU EBUERRES 1RRAEREE SRRY
TBESRERERARIZ A 1%7
ETES
Giant Success International Limited  BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERERERAR HEEMREE Wﬁﬁ%}%gﬁ REER
%70
Glorious Harvest Limited Bvi 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
RWEBRAF EBUERRES 1RRAEREE RELRK
(ES
Goal Achiever Investments Limited BV L 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
SEREERAA HEETAREE RN EREE REER
(ES
ﬁigh Express International Limited  Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
EHEARBRAT Bl HK$1 each REER
1REER
SREEVET
HZ Tiannong Green Agriculture PRC RMB20,000,000 66% 66%  Trading of chinese
_International Limited (Note 2) HE HK$1 each medicine
ERXEEEEXHRARAT AR #20,000,00075 BEEDE
(Hz22) SkEEET
MCM Asia Limited Hong Kong 66,000,000 ordinary 51% 51%  Financial advisory
Bl shares of HK$1 each services
66,000,000 E& & MR RS
SREEIET
MCM Holdings Limited Cayman Islands UsD4,000,000 51% 51%  Investment holding
e 4,000,000% 7% REZR
MCM Investment Partners Limited 16,000,000 ordinary 51% 50%  Asset management

(Note 1) (1)

Hong Kong
&E

shares of HK$1 each
16,000,000 &8k
SREEVET

BEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 52. MBARHIE (&

(continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued
share capital/
paid up registered

Proportion of
ownership interest

Name of companies and operations capital held by the Company Principle activities
SR, PRI K BETRE/ KREAHE
RERHE EEM EHGERESR ERERG LA FEEH
2021 2020
8% _EIER

MCM Enterprise Operations PRC RMB2,110,000 51% 50%  Financial advisory
Management (Xi'an) Company ~ H1E AER2,110,0007T services
Limited (Notes 1 and 3) B ERRY

ARERELEECEERRAA
(Mst1k3)

MCM Asset Management (Shaanxi) PRC RMB1,908,000 51% 50%  Financial advisory
Company Limited HE AR 1,908,0007T services
(Notes 1 and 3) F B ER RS

RAEEHEEEEERARAR
(Mst1k3)

MCM Latam Holdings Limited Cayman Islands 100 Shares of 31% 31%  Inactive
(Note 1) (H1z£1) HEHE USD0.01 each HEEE

10085 13
SREBE0IET
MCM Partners Europe Limited United Kingdom GBP9,000 51% 51%  Financial advisory
(Note 1) (Hf7£1) ) 9,000 % services
TR RRT
Mega Zone Investments Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
KEREERAT HEEARES RRHEREE RELRK
3

Real King International (Xi'an) PRC RMB132,016,768 100% 100% Property investment
Information Technology FE AR132,016,7687C MERE
Company Limited (Note 2)

ERER (AR EERE
BIRAF (H#2)

Shaanxi Chinlink Financial PRC USD30,000,000 33% 33% Provision of financial
Guarantee Limited HE 30,000,000 75 guarantee services
(Notes 1 and 2) RERERRRY

MALEREHERFERAR
Wzt182)

Shaanxi Chinlink Factoring PRC RMB90,000,000 33% 33% Factoring services
Company Limited FE AR #90,000,0007¢ EERIERT
(Notes 1 and 2)

MALEREHEREGRAR
Wzt182)

Chinlink Business Operation PRC Nil 100% 100%  Property investment
Management (Xi'an) HE = MERE
Company Limited (Note 2)

EENSHEEEER (FR)

BIRAF (Hz2)
Sino Yield Enterprise Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
FREEERAR HEEFAREE RRHEREE REER
E3

Tender Corporation Limited HK 100 ordinary shares 51% - Inactive

(Note 1) g of HK§1 each EEEE

RETRRAE W1)

100R & B
SREEET
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52.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o W55 e 2% B o

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 52. MIBREIHE (&
(continued)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Proportion of
establishment paid up registered ownership interest
Name of companies and operations capital held by the Company Principle activities
SEMRBRIL, IR BETRE/ KREAFE
RERHE EEM EHGERESR ERERGZIA FEEH
2021 2020
—E--F ZZ2IERE

Tian Hui Global Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
KERKBRAE HBEMREE RRHEREE BRERR
3
Trillion Up Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
LRERRA HEETAREE RRHEREE REER
E3
Xi'an Chinlink Commercial PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Operation Management HE AE%1,000,00075 REZR
Company Limited (Note 2)
BLENHEEEER
BIRAT (fz2)
Xi'an Da Ming Gong Ba Qiao PRC RMB80,000,000 100% 100% Property investment
Furniture and Fixture Limited HE AE#80,000,0007% MERE
(“Ba Qiao") (Note 2)
BEABRZTBEENK
EARRAE (NER)) Hz22)
Xi'an Tang Rong Real Estate PRC RMB320,000,000 100% 100%  Property investment
Limited ("Tang Rong") (Note 2) B AR 1320,000,0007¢ MERSE
FEEEREXERAE (EH)
(Hzt2)
Zhong Hui Global Limited BVI 1 share of USD1 each 100% 100%  Investment holding
FERNERAT HEETAREE 1kRHE Hygfﬁ REER
1%7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

52.

HEZZ

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
Note:

m These companies are indirectly held and controlled
by a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

@ These companies are domestic enterprise with
limited liabilities established in the PRC.

@ These companies are wholly foreign owned
enterprise in the PRC.

All the subsidiaries are owned indirectly by the
Company except for Acelin Investments Limited,
Trillion Up Limited, Chinlink Hong Kong Company
Limited, Sino Yield Enterprise Limited, Goal
Achiever Investments Limited, Esteemed Zone
Limited, Dawn Brightness Global Limited and
Glorious Harvest Limited which are owned directly
by the Company.

All PRC subsidiaries are legal entities with limited
liability.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities during the year or at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

——HE=HA=F—HILEE

52.

MEARFE (&

g2

o ZERDHAEEFZENEBER
BIEIER A K IEH -

@ ZENDARPERIINERE
FERERE-

® ZERB/NPREZIIBEED
%0

BRAcelin Investments Limited s Ef&H
RABEEFRE (58 BRAF
FREPEBRAB-SERERBRA
BRI ARARERIRKERA
BRHMEBRASEANATEEER
ShoPRBEM BRI HAAR R MEE
75 o

FETENEATEAS EEREE
=
RAEERRN B —ER B

TEZRA=+—H WEBARILE%
TREREBES-
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52.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non—
controlling interests:

Proportion of
ownership interests and

52. MBATBFE (&

TRIWTEEBMZEBEERIFERE
mZIFEEMBABZFIB

voting rights held by Profit attributable to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries Place of business  non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FEREZREZ
WA= B SR BERRERREEZLH FFERIEG R 2 B I ERA T 5
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“®--f CZBCZf CZB--f C"T_TE "B C"E°Ef
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Alpha Yield and its subsidiaries ~ Hong Kong
BEREREAT i 49.00% 49.00% 18,279 247 46,914 15,801
Individually immaterial ERFEERERY
subsidiaries with ENFER
non-controlling interests KEAE 10,038 10,778
56,952 26,579

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material
non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

BERAEEZ S HEAERFERED
ZHBARZMBER B Z &5 U
T U THBENBIZEERERAT
A 2 &80
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIEE

52. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 52. MIBABEE (8
(continued)
Alpha Yield and its subsidiaries BEEEKE AT
2021 2020
B —F —ECEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current assets MENEE 265,340 183,187
Non-current assets ERBEE 42,332 40,159
Current liabilities mEas (202,494) (180,800)
Non-current liabilities FErReaE (5,232) (1,552)
Equity attributable to owners RATIEB ARG #m
of the Company 53,032 25,193
Non-controlling interests FEERER 46,914 15,801
Revenue WA 119,346 54,134
Expenses X (84,574) (71,010)
Profit/(loss) for the year REERRN (E518) 34,772 (16,876)

392
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52.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 52.

(continued)

Alpha Yield and its subsidiaries (continued)

MEAaRFE (&

BErENBAS (&)

2021 2020
—E-—f —Z-Zi
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) attributable to KABERE ANELZ
owners of the Company HR L (E518) 16,493 (17,123)
Profit attributable to JEVERER RS 2 m A
the non-controlling interests 18,279 247
Profit/(loss) for the year EEEF, (FBB) 34,772 (16,876)
Other comprehensive income/  ZAFEB ARG HM
(expense) attributable to 2EWA B%)
owners of the Company 11,203 (8,860)
Other comprehensive income/  JE¥ERRER FE(L 2 H M
(expense) attributable to the 2EWBA S (FD)
non-controlling interests 12,931 (10,474)
Other comprehensive income/  ZmEEHME2EWA, FIx)
(expense) for the year 24,134 (19,334)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

52.
(continued)

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HIEE

52.

Alpha Yield and its subsidiaries (continued)

MEARFE (&

2021 2020
—E--—& —T-TH
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total comprehensive income/ NATIEB AEEHZ
(expense) attributable to ZEWA (B%) 4238
owners of the Company 27,696 (25,983)
Total comprehensive income/ EERERELZ2E
(expense) attributable to the WA (FAx) 48%8
non-controlling interests 31,210 (10,227)
Total comprehensive income/ AEEZEBA (X)) #%8
(expense) for the year 58,906 (36,210)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from &EEFEREZIRS (RL)
operating activities TMAEEE (65,925) 19,958
Net cash inflow from investing & EEHAEZIRERA
activities R 64,519 28,179
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BIBEBAEZIRERTA
financing activities CRH) F%8 2,476 (27,891)
Net cash inflow BERAFE 1,070 20,246
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53.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E T - —HF=H=1—HILFEE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

53.

ERBZMBRARRKRHE

2021 2020
—E-—5 C—T-TE
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in subsidiaries BB ABZRE 25,718 371,375
Property, plant and equipment ¥ B E R & E 60 121
Right-of-use assets FREEE 9,445 15,112
Rental deposits Hegs 1,706 1,706
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEW I B A 5 ERIE 2,343 2,274,065
39,272 2,662,379
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables, deposits HiEWRE - 2E K
and prepayments TEfTRIR 615 457
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUW B A 5 BRIE 777,314 263,462
Bank balances and cash RITHEERIRE 724 279
778,653 264,198
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #E_ZT - —H=H=1—HILFEE

53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 53. AT ZMBIRAKRKRGER
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE (#)
COMPANY (continued)
2021 2020
—E-—F —EIERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Current liabilities mEaE
Amounts due to directors FEfTEERE - 18,399
Other payables and accruals HihfE IRIBE R ESTE R 14,742 17,196
Lease liabilities GEN === 5,759 5,472
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 416,704 395,119
9.0% coupon bonds 0.0%EEESH - 105,375
6.5% coupon bonds 6.5%REES 231,840 205,903
13.0% coupon bonds 13.0%EEES 236,987 251,866
Amounts due to former FETRIFY /& A B BRIE
subsidiaries - 9,164
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT I B A B BR 18 1,106,231 737,111
Deferred income IEIEUWT A 1,665 -
2,013,928 1,745,605
Net current liabilities mEAEFEE (1,235,275) (1,481,407)
Total assets less current liabilities 42& E R MBI &R (1,196,003) 1,180,972
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53.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a0 W 5 2% B

BME_Z_—F=H=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

ERBZMBRARRKRHE

2021 2020
—E-—& —Z-TH
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current liabilities FERHERE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 4,007 9,766
Amount due to directors FENEERE 39,690 -
Deferred income R WA 1,665 -
45,362 9,766
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE) BEEFHE (1,241,365) 1,171,206
Capital and reserves BARKHEE
Share capital [N 11,693 456,753
Reserves EfE (1,253,058) 714,453
Equity attributable to owners of AABHEE AL ZERE
the Company (1,241,365) 1,171,206
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 24% B

For the year ended 31 March 2021

BME_Z-_F=H=F+—HILEE

53. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 53. AT ZHMBRRARREE
POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE (48)
COMPANY (continued)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AT EEEE
Share
Share options  Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses reserves
i
G E fkfE Bt ffaRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHET THET THET
At 1 April 2019 RZZE—-NFNE—H 1,472,264 35,505 (624,941) 882,828
Loss for the year KEEER - - (168,375) (168,375)
Forfeiture of share options R UtEBRR#E - (907) 907 -
At 31 March 2020 RIZZZE
=B=+—H 1,472,264 34,598 (792,409) 714,453
Loss for the year AEEHAE - - (2,740,028)  (2,740,028)
Forfeiture of share option BB - (1,452) 1,452 -
Capital reduction R AEIE 453,830 - - 453,830
Issue of shares upon HREETRD
right issue 324,477 - - 324,477
Transaction costs R T ERER
attributable to issue of RHMA
new ordinary shares upon
right issue (5,790) - - (5,790)
At 31 March 2021 RIEZ-F
—A=+—H 2,244,781 33,146 (3,530,985) (1,253,058)
54. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 54. FEFRERS

During the year, the Group entered into new lease
agreements for the use of leased properties and
motor vehicles for 2 to 4 years (2020: 2 to 3 years).
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
approximately HK$7,270,000 right-of-use assets
and approximately HK$7,236,000 lease liabilities
(2020: approximately HK$20,736,000 right-of-use
assets and approximately HK$20,736,000 lease
liabilities).

FRCAEERERBEEMERA
B UAEMENEZFHEER S
(ZZ2-FBF WME=ZF) - ¥
ERGBRH AEERIDERAESE
E#7,270,0008 Tt RHEEABEYN
7,236,000 (Z2 22 F [ FA%E
HE#920,736,0008 T R EEEEL
20,736,000 7T) °
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55.

56.

57.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

After the outbreak of Covid-19 infection in
early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be
implemented across many countries/regions. The
Group will pay close attention to the development
of Covid-19 infection and evaluate its impact on
the financial position and operating results of the
Group. Pending development of such subsequent
non-adjusting event, the Group's financial and
operating performance may be affected, the extent
to which cannot be estimated as at the date of this

annual report.

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant
subsequent events after the year end date of 31
March 2020.

COMPARATIVE FIGURE

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform to the current year’s presentation.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 30 June 2021.
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Group Properties

15 1 P 5

MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR BFEREZETEME
INVESTMENT
Location Lot number Existing use Term of lease
& 3 ES 4R 5% RERR THHA
Junction of Jinger Road and 61070200900G— Under development for Medium
Weiyi Road, Baohe S00285 commercial use
Logistic Park, Hantai District,
Hanzhong City,
Shaanxi Province, The PRC
FEMRABEERTEEEREAYR  61070200900G- EREA TR HR
H@AE TR RE— K ER S00285 EEEEERES
Junction of Jinger Road and 61070200900G- Under development for Long
Weiyi Road, Baohe S00286 residential use
Logistic Park, Hantai District,
Hanzhong City,
Shaanxi Province, The PRC
FEMRABEERTEEEREAYR  61070200900G- EREA =2
H@A& TR RE— K ER S00286 FEERR
The eastern side of Ban Yin Road, BQ3-4-11 Commercial Complex Medium
Ba Qiao District, Xi'an City, held for rental purpose
Shaanxi Province, The PRC
REPRAAALmEBE S EREMR BQ3-4-11 FELHERARZ A
EEPN
Junction of Fengcheng Tenth Road WY12-42-9 Under development for Medium
and Wenjing Road, commercial use
Weiyang District, Xi'an City,
Shaanxi Province, The PRC
REPRAEALEmARGE B HEE WY12-42-9 EERPFEERR FRHA

MR E R
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